
 

For information relating to this meeting or to request a copy in another format or 
language please contact: 

Kate Spencer, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  
01803 207014 

Email: scrutiny@torbay.gov.uk  

(i) 

 

 

Friday, 28 June 2013 
 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
 

A meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Board will be held on 
 

Wednesday, 10 July 2013 
 

commencing at 5.30 pm 
 

The meeting will be held in the Meadfoot Room, Town Hall, Castle Circus, 
Torquay, TQ1 3DR 

 
 
 

Members of the Board 

Councillor Thomas (J) (Chairman) 

Councillor Bent 

Councillor Darling (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Davies 

Councillor Hytche 

Councillor Kingscote 

 

Councillor McPhail 

Councillor Pentney 

Councillor Richards 

Councillor Stockman 

 

Co-opted Members of the Board 

Penny Burnside, Diocese of Exeter 

 

 

 

Working for a healthy, prosperous and happy Bay 



 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies  
 To receive apologies for absence, including notifications of any 

changes to the membership of the Committee. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 1 - 4) 
 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 

Board held on 19 June 2013. 
 

3.   Declarations of Interest  
 a) To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect 

of items on this agenda 
 

For reference:  Having declared their non pecuniary interest 
members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on the 
matter in question.  A completed disclosure of interests form 
should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the 
meeting. 

 
b) To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in 

respect of items on this agenda 
 

For reference:  Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the 
item.  However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public 
have a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then 
immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not 
improperly seek to influence the outcome of the matter.  A 
completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the 
Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 
(Please Note:  If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on 
any potential interests they may have, they should contact 
Governance Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.) 

 
4.   Urgent Items  
 To consider any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 
5.   Home to School Transport Policy (Pages 5 - 18) 
 To consider the proposed changes to the Home to School Transport 

Policy and to make any recommendations to the Council. 
 

6.   Community Safety Service Plan (Commercial Team) (Pages 19 - 94) 
 To consider the draft Community Safety – Commercial Services 

Service Plan and to make any comments and recommendations to 
the Council. 
 

7.   Meadfoot Beach Chalets Development (To Follow) 
 To consider the proposals to renew the beach chalets at Meadfoot 

Beach and to make any comments or recommendations to the 
Council. 
 



 

8.   Acquisition of Torbay and Southern Devon Health and Care 
NHS Trust 

(To Follow) 

 To consider the Executive Summary of the Business Case for the 
proposed acquisition of Torbay and Southern Devon Health and 
Care NHS Trust and the implications for the commissioning of adult 
social care in Torbay. 
 
To make any comments and recommendations to the Council. 
 

9.   Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme (To Follow) 
 To agree the Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme for 

2013/2014. 
 



 
 

Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Board 
 

19 June 2013 
 

-: Present :- 
 

Councillors Addis, Bent, Darling, Davies, Hytche, Pentney, Stockman and Thomas (J) 
 

(Also in attendance: Councillors Cowell, Hill, James, Morey, Pritchard and Thomas (D)) 

 

 
57. Election of the Chairman  

 
Councillor Thomas (J) was elected Chairman of the Board for the 2013/2014 
Municipal Year. 
 

Councillor Thomas (J) in the Chair 
 

58. Apologies  
 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor McPhail and it was reported 
that, in accordance with the wishes of the Conservative Group, the membership of 
the Board had been amended to include Councillor Addis in place of Councillor 
Kingscote. 
 

59. Appointment of Vice Chairman  
 

Resolved:  that Councillor Darling be appointed Vice-chairman of the 
Board the ensuing Municipal Year. 

 
60. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting of the Board held on 30 April 2013 were confirmed as 
a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

61. Urgent Items  
 
The Board considered the item in Minute 62 and not included on the agenda, the 
Chairman being of the opinion that it was urgent by reason of special 
circumstances i.e. the matter having arisen since the agenda was prepared and it 
was unreasonable to delay a decision until the next meeting. 
 

62. Freedom of Information Requests  
 
The Board heard a representation from a member of the public requesting that the 
Overview and Scrutiny Board consider the effectiveness of the Freedom of 
Information processes undertaken by the Council. 
 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Overview and Scrutiny Board   Wednesday, 19 June 2013 
 

Resolved: that a briefing note on the issues raised be prepared for 
consideration by members of the Board. 

 
63. Petition - Uncontrolled Pedestrian Crossing - Dartmouth Road/Fisher Street, 

Paignton  
 
The Board considered a request for a review from a petitioner who had previously 
submitted a petition regarding the visibility at the uncontrolled pedestrian crossing 
at the junction of Dartmouth Road and Fisher Street in Paignton.  The petition 
raised concerns that the tree at the junction reduced the visibility for pedestrians 
crossing the road. 
 
Following a presentation to the Transport Working Party in April 2013, the petition 
had been considered by the Service Manager (Streetscene and Place) in May 
2013.  As a result, the bottom branches of the tree had been removed to improve 
visibility and the tree would be reviewed again in a year’s time. 
 

Resolved:  (i)  that the petition was dealt with in accordance with the 
Council’s Petition Scheme and appropriate action had been taken; and 
 
(ii) that no further action be taken. 

 
64. South Devon Link Road - Use of Local Labour - Update  

 
Following its meeting in September 2012, the Board had requested an update on 
the use of local labour within the contract to construct the South Devon Link Road.   
 
Whilst the contract did not include specific clauses that required the contractor to 
use a set percentage of local labour or sub-contractors, it was noted that 62% of 
the 37 full time staff on site were recruited locally (with it envisaged that, when the 
full team of 45 staff were in place, 54% would be recruited locally).  In addition, 
53% of the 30 sub-contractors were either based locally or had a local regional 
office. 
 
During the course of the debate members highlighted the effective 
communications strategy being employed by Galliford Try (the contractor) and 
asked questions in relation to the archaeological implications of the construction of 
the road. 
 

Resolved:  (i)  that the Board welcomes the encouraging progress being 
made in the construction of the South Devon Link Road and is pleased with 
the levels of local labour being utilised; and 
 
(ii) that a full update on the progress of the construction of the road be 
received in six months time. 

 
65. Revenue Budget 2012/2013 - Outturn  

 
The Board received a report which provided a summary of the Council’s 
expenditure throughout the 2012/2013 financial year and made recommendations 
in relation to the Council’s uncommitted reserves.  The Deputy Mayor (on behalf of 

Page 2



Overview and Scrutiny Board   Wednesday, 19 June 2013 
 

the Mayor as Executive Lead for Finance) attended the meeting to present the 
report and answer the Board’s questions. 
 
It was noted that the Council would have declared an overspend of £2.375 million 
at the end of the year however the use of reserves and unallocated grants meant 
that a balanced budget was being reported.  Further there was a total of £1.292 
million of uncommitted budget at the year end.  It was proposed that this be 
allocated to the General Fund, the recently approved Community Development 
Trust and the Growth Fund. 
 
In applying £700,000 to the Growth Fund, the Council would be able to make the 
equivalent sum of money within the Council’s capital resources (which had 
previously been earmarked for the Fund) available to support the existing Capital 
Plan. 
 

Resolved:  that it be recommended to the Council that the £700,000 now 
being made available to support the existing Capital Plan be allocated to 
highways maintenance.  

 
(Note:  During consideration of the item in Minute 65 the press and public were 
formally excluded from the meeting on the grounds that the discussion involved the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).) 
 

66. Capital Plan Budget - Outturn  
 
The Board considered a report which had been prepared which provided high level 
information on the Council’s capital expenditure and income for the 2012/2013 
financial year, compared with the budget position which had been reported for 
Quarter 3 in February 2013. 
 
It was reported that the Council had applied for grant aid from the Environment 
Agency to cover the additional costs for the works at Livermead Sea Wall following 
the collapse of the wall earlier in the year. 
 

Resolved:  that, if the Council is not successful in securing grant aid from 
the Environment Agency for the increased costs of the works at Livermead 
Sea Wall, the Council explore the opportunity for approaching South West 
Water for funding and report back to the Overview and Scrutiny Board. 

 
67. Review of Youth Unemployment  

 
The Board considered the final draft report on Youth Unemployment in Torbay 
which had been prepared by the review panel chaired by Councillor Pentney. 
 

Resolved:  that the report be adopted, published and forwarded to the 
Mayor for his consideration and response. 

 

Page 3



Overview and Scrutiny Board   Wednesday, 19 June 2013 
 

68. Appointment of Health Scrutiny Board  
 

Resolved:  that the Health Scrutiny Board be appointed with terms of 
reference:  
 
“To consider all matters and issues arising from the Council’s power of 
scrutinising local health services in accordance with the Health and Social 
Care Act 2001, the National Health Service Act 2006 and the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012” 
  
and with the membership: 
 
Five members of the Conservative Group (Councillors Bent, Hernandez, 
Hytche, McPhail and Thomas (J)); 
 
Two members of the Liberal Democrat Group (Councillors Davies and 
Doggett); and  
 
One member of the Non-Coalition Group (Councillor Ellery). 

 
69. Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme  

 
The Board considered a report which explained the need for the Board to agree a 
robust, realistic and flexible Work Programme which would help to ensure that 
overview and scrutiny was driving service improvement and playing a role in the 
policy development process. 
 
As part of the discussion, members expressed a desire to utilise different formats 
to encourage greater engagement with the community in undertaking its work. 
 
It was suggested that an analysis of the complaints received by the Council be 
undertaken to identify issues of concern to the community.  It was also suggested 
that the way in which the Council communicated with the public was one of the 
recurring issues which was raised with ward councillors. 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 4



 

Meeting:   Overview and Scrutiny Board  Date:  10 July 2013 

Wards Affected:   All 

Report Title:   Home to School Transport 

Executive Lead Contact Details:   Ken Pritchard; Richard Williams, Director of Children’s 

Services: 01803 20840, 

richard.williams@torbay.gov.uk 

Supporting Officer Contact Details:  Matt Redwood, Head of Schools Commissioning: 

01803 208238 matthew.redwood@torbay.gov.uk  

 

1. Purpose and Introduction 

 

1.1 This report seeks a decision on proposals to phase out concessionary home to 

school/college transport assistance.  Initial proposals to remove all concessionary 

transport support from September 2013 have been replaced with a proposal to phase 

their removal over three years.  A consultation has been undertaken on these revised 

proposals. 

 

2. Proposed Decision to be considered by Council 

 

2.1 Recommendation: To phase out all discretionary home to school/college transport 

assistance over a period of three years as detailed in section 5.2 a) - f).  

 

2.2 Reason for Decision 

To reduce expenditure on home to school/college transport by removing non-statutory 

elements of support.  The present home to school transport spend is not sustainable. 

The main impact of these changes will be an increase in the cost of transport for 

parents of some post-16 students, also for parents of a small number of pupils 

attending faith or selective schools. 

 

Supporting Information 

4. Position 

 

4.1 The Council is reviewing its policy as it currently spends approximately £113k per year in 

providing discretionary travel support to pupils across Torbay. This funding could be 

saved if the Council were only to provide statutory home to school/college transport. The 

current policy only provides discretionary help to pupils for transport to some secondary 

Agenda Item 5

Page 5



schools and not others so removing this discretionary transport would provide a ‘level 

playing field’ for home to school/college transport across schools. 

 

4.2 Discretionary transport assistance is currently provided by the council as follows: 

a)  support towards the cost of a bus pass for pupils attending St Cuthbert Mayne on 

grounds of faith, where they live further than 3 miles away and do not qualify for 

statutory assistance. 

b) support towards the cost of a bus pass for pupils attending a selective school who live 

more than 3 miles away, are not entitled to statutory transport assistance and live 

within the designated transport area for the school. 

c) The provision of a free bus pass to pupils from low income families to any secondary 

school between 2 and 6 miles away, even if it is not one of the three nearest suitable 

schools.   

d) A financial contribution to the cost of a bus pass for post-16 students studying in 

school sixth forms, where they live further than three miles away.   

e) A block contribution to South Devon College to fund the current scheme for 

subsidised travel to South Devon College. 

5. Possibilities and Options 

 

5.1 Members first considered changes to discretionary home to school transport 

assistance at the Priorities and Resources 2013/2014 Review Panel on 15 January 

2013 http://democratic-

svr1:9070/documents/g4496/Public%20reports%20pack%20Tuesday%2015-Jan-

2013%2009.30%20Priorities%20and%20Resources%2020132014%20Review%20Pa

nel.pdf?T=10   Maximum savings could be made by removing all discretionary 

assistance from September 2013; however, feedback from Panel Members indicated 

that this would be too drastic a change to make at one time.   

 

5.2 An alternative set of proposals has therefore been drawn up to phase out all 

discretionary transport assistance over a three year period.  Specifically, this would 

involve: 

a) ceasing discretionary support towards the costs of transport for pupils attending St 

Cuthbert Mayne because of parental preference. The proposal is to phase this in by 

removing sibling subsidies for both existing and new pupils in September 2014 and 

ceasing all subsidies in September 2015. The subsidy for 2014-15 will continue to be 

at the same level as 2012/13 - £25. Estimated savings would be in the region of 

£4,000 per year. 

b) ceasing discretionary support towards the costs of transport for pupils attending 

selective schools. The proposal is to phase this in by removing sibling subsidies for 

both existing and new pupils in September 2014 and ceasing all subsidies in 

September 2015. The subsidy for 2014-15 will continue to be at the same level as 

2012/13 - £25. Estimated savings would be in the region of £2,500 per year. 

c) from September 2014, supporting all new low income applicants to the nearest 3 

suitable secondary schools between 2-6 miles. From September 2015 Torbay’s policy 

Page 6



to come into line with the legal requirements so that all support for pupils attending a 

secondary school that is not one of the three nearest suitable secondary schools 

ceases. Estimated savings would be in the region of £15,000 per year. 

d) ceasing discretionary support towards the costs of transport for post-16 students 

attending school sixth forms . The proposal is to phase this in by removing sibling 

subsidies for both existing and new pupils in September 2014 and ceasing all 

subsidies in September 2015. The subsidy for 2014-15 will continue to be at the same 

level as 2012/13 - £25. Estimated savings would be in the region of £22,000 per year. 

e) increasing the contribution that parents of post-16 students from low income 

households pay towards a bus pass (currently £100) to £250 in September 2013, 

£400 in September 2014 and ceasing this subsidy in September 2015.  

f) reducing the Council’s contribution to the joint scheme run with South Devon 

College by £30,000 in September 2013 and by a further £20,000 in September 2014. 

The Council will cease its funding completely for this scheme in September 2015. 

Whilst the Council is reducing its contribution the scheme will still be available for 

students in the 2013/14 and 2014/15 academic years. Savings in total will be £70,000 

per year. 

5.3 Because the proposal is to phase in these changes, savings will not be fully realised 

until 2015-16 financial year. Projected savings are £26,000 for 2013-4, £44,000 for 

2014-5 are and £43,000 for 2015-16. 

5.3 The alternative of continuing to fund discretionary transport at current levels is not 

sustainable, as the transport budget is insufficient to meet the current need and 

increasing demands are being made on it for statutory transport assistance for pupils 

with Special Educational Needs. 

6. Fair Decision Making 

 

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been undertaken and is attached as an 

appendix to this report.  Key findings from the EIA are that a small number of families 

will be affected whose children attend denominational schools on faith grounds; also 

post-16 students including those from low income households will be affected.  

However, there will be an appeals process in place so that families experiencing 

exceptional circumstances or extreme hardship can continue to request discretionary 

assistance.  Post-16 bursaries are available directly from schools and colleges to 

assist students from families on low incomes, also students in care or leaving care.  

Entitlement to statutory transport assistance is not affected by these proposals. 

 

7. Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 

 

7.1 These proposals will not involve additional procurement or provision of services. 

 

  

Page 7



8. Consultation 

 

8.1 A public consultation was undertaken for a period of 4 weeks in April and May.  The 

consultation was posted on the council’s web site.  All schools and academies were 

contacted, also South Devon College, and asked to alert parents, pupils and 

governors to the consultation. The consultation was sent to other key stakeholders 

including the Dioceses of Exeter and Plymouth and a press release was issued. 

 

8.2 Three drop-in sessions were held where officers were available to answer questions.  

These were held in Brixham, Paignton and Torquay.  A total of six people attended 

these sessions.  Seven phone enquiries were received.  All those making enquiries 

were directed to or given a response sheet to complete; however, only one response 

was actually submitted.  The person responding disagreed with the proposals and 

stated that education cuts should be ‘a long way down the list of proposed cuts’.  

Representations had previously been made by South Devon College and Stagecoach 

to the Review Panel in January 2013. 

 

9. Risks 

 

9.1 If the decision is not implemented, the school transport budget will be further 

overspent; this will impact on other, essential services to be provided by the council. If 

the decision is implemented, some families and students will face increased travel 

costs in future years. The biggest impact will be on post-16 students. However, school 

students can access financial support towards travel costs by applying to the Bursary 

funds that are now allocated by the DfE to all secondary schools with sixth forms to 

help students from low income households. South Devon College students from low 

income households are able to apply to the South Devon College bursary fund 

allocated by the DfE for a contribution towards travel costs. 

 

Appendix 

 

Equality Impact Assessment. 

 

Additional Information 

 

None. 

 

Page 8



 

E
q

u
a

li
ty

 I
m

p
a

c
t 

A
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

(E
IA

):
  

  S
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 A
c
t 
2
0
1
0
 c
a
m
e
 i
n
to
 f
o
rc
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
h
a
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 w
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
m
e
e
t 
th
e
 d
iv
e
rs
e
 

n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
o
u
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 e
n
s
u
re
 w
e
 a
re
 a
n
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
is
 s
e
n
s
it
iv
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 w
it
h
in
 o
u
r 
w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
. 
T
h
is
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 

Im
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
(E
IA
) 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
s
 a
 t
o
o
l 
to
 e
n
a
b
le
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 u
n
it
s
 t
o
 f
u
lly
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
. 
  

 T
h
is
 E
IA
 w
ill
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
y
o
u
 h
a
v
e
 f
u
lly
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
/ 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 k
e
y
 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
. 
T
h
e
 E
IA
 w
ill
 a
llo
w
 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 a
n
d
 S
e
n
io
r 
O
ff
ic
e
rs
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 i
n
fo
rm
e
d
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 d
e
c
is
io
n
-m
a
k
in
g
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
. 
 

   R
e
le

v
a
n

c
e
 T

e
s
t 

–
 ‘
A

 P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
a
te

 A
p

p
ro

a
c
h

’ 
 N
o
t 
a
ll 
o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 o
r 
s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 w
e
 p
u
t 
fo
rw
a
rd
 w
ill
 b
e
 ‘
re
le
v
a
n
t’
 i
n
 t
e
rm
s
 o
f 
th
e
 a
c
tu
a
l 
o
r 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 g
ro
u
p
s
. 
F
o
r 
in
s
ta
n
c
e
, 
a
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 c
h
a
n
g
in
g
 a
 s
u
p
p
lie
r 
o
f 
c
o
p
ie
r 
p
a
p
e
r 
m
a
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
 a
n
 E
IA
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 w
h
e
re
a
s
 a
 

re
p
o
rt
 o
u
tl
in
in
g
 a
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
fo
r 
a
 n
e
w
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
w
im
m
in
g
 p
o
o
l 
o
r 
a
 r
e
p
o
rt
 p
ro
p
o
s
in
g
 a
 c
lo
s
u
re
 o
f 
a
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 w
o
u
ld
. 
 

 T
h
e
re
fo
re
 b
e
fo
re
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 E
IA
 p
le
a
s
e
 a
n
s
w
e
r 
th
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
. 
If
 y
o
u
 a
n
s
w
e
r 
‘y
e
s
’ 
to
 a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 b
e
lo
w
 y
o
u
 m
u
s
t 
c
o
m
p
le
te
 a
 

fu
ll 
E
IA
. 

 

1
)  

D
o
e
s
 t
h
is
 r
e
p
o
rt
 r
e
la
te
 t
o
 a
 k
e
y
 d
e
c
is
io
n
?
  

Y
 
N

 

2
) 

W
il
l 
th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
(i
.e
. 
a
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 o
r 
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 e
ff
e
c
t/
c
h
a
n
g
e
) 
o
n
 a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
 

fo
ll
o
w
in
g
: 

•
 
T
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 u
p
o
n
 t
h
e
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 o
r 
e
q
u
a
li
ty
 g
ro
u
p
s
) 

•
 
O
u
r 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

•
 
T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 o
u
r 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
, 
‘k
n
o
c
k
-o
n
’ 
e
ff
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
o
th
e
r 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 u
n
it
s
, 
o
u
r 

re
p
u
ta
ti
o
n
, 
fi
n
a
n
c
e
s
, 
le
g
a
l 
o
b
li
g
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
) 

  Y
 

Y
 

Y
 

 

  N
 

N
 

N
 

 

  N
a
m
e
 o
f 
R
e
p
o
rt
/P
ro
p
o
s
a
l/
S
tr
a
te
g
y
: 

H
o
m
e
 t
o
 S
c
h
o
o
l 
T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 

N
a
m
e
 (
K
e
y
 O
ff
ic
e
r/
A
u
th
o
r)
: 

T
ri
c
ia
 H
a
rw
o
o
d
 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 U
n
it
: 

S
c
h
o
o
ls
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

P
o
s
it
io
n
: 

A
d
m
is
s
io
n
s
, 
T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 &
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

T
e
l:
 

0
1
8
0
3
 2
0
8
2
4
5
 

D
a
te
: 

2
9
-0
5
-1
3
 

E
m
a
il
: 

T
ri
c
ia
.h
a
rw
o
o
d
@
to
rb
a
y
.g
o
v
.u
k
 

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1

Page 9



 

 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
: 
P
u
rp
o
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l/
s
tr
a
te
g
y
/d
e
c
is
io
n
 

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

1
. 

C
le
a
rl
y
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
th
e
 

p
u
rp
o
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 

T
o
 p

h
a
s
e
 o

u
t 
d
is

c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 a

s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
h
o
m

e
 t
o
 s

c
h
o
o
l/
c
o
lle

g
e
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
. 
C

h
ild

re
n
’s

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 w

ill
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 

p
ro

v
id

e
 t
h
e
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 i
n
 r
e
la

ti
o
n
 t
o
 h

o
m

e
 t
o
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
/ 
c
o
lle

g
e
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
. 
 

 A
ll 

lo
c
a
l 
a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 a

 s
ta

tu
to

ry
 d

u
ty

 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 f
o
r 
th

e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 o

f 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 a

s
 t
h
e
y
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

 t
o
 

fa
c
ili
ta

te
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
. 
 T

h
is

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
s
: 

•
 

P
ro

v
id

in
g
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 a

s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 t
o
 p

u
p
ils

 o
f 
s
ta

tu
to

ry
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
a
g
e
 t
ra

v
e
lli
n
g
 t
o
 a

n
d
 f
ro

m
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
if
 t
h
e
y
 l
iv

e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
th

a
n
 

th
e
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 w
a
lk

in
g
 d

is
ta

n
c
e
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
ir
 n

e
a
re

s
t 
s
c
h
o
o
l 
(t
h
is

 i
s
 t
w

o
 m

ile
s
 f
o
r 
p
u
p
ils

 a
g
e
d
 7

 a
n
d
 u

n
d
e
r 
a
n
d
 t
h
re

e
 

m
ile

s
 f
o
r 
p
u
p
ils

 a
g
e
d
 8

 a
n
d
 o

v
e
r)

. 

•
 

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 p
u
p
ils

 f
ro

m
 l
o
w

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
 a

re
 e

n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 f
re

e
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 t
o
 a

n
y
 o

f 
th

e
 t
h
re

e
 n

e
a
re

s
t 
s
u
it
a
b
le

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

 
th

a
t 
a
re

 m
o
re

 t
h
a
n
 t
w

o
 a

n
d
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 s

ix
 m

ile
s
 a

w
a
y
, 
a
n
d
 t
o
 a

 d
e
n
o
m

in
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
c
h
o
o
l 
u
p
 t
o
 1

5
 m

ile
s
 a

w
a
y
. 

•
 

N
o
rm

a
lly

 a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 i
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
o
rm

 o
f 
a
 f
re

e
 b

u
s
 p

a
s
s
. 

 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 a

 d
u
ty

 t
o
 h

a
v
e
 r
e
g
a
rd

 t
o
 p

a
re

n
ta

l 
w

is
h
e
s
 f
o
r 
a
 f
a
it
h
/d

e
n
o
m

in
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
c
h
o
o
l.
  
T
h
e
y
 a

ls
o
 h

a
v
e
 a

 d
u
ty

 t
o
 

ra
is

e
 t
h
e
 p

a
rt
ic

ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 P

o
s
t 
1
6
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 t
ra

in
in

g
. 

 
C

u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 
T
o
rb

a
y
 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

p
ro

v
id

e
s
 
a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

n
o
n
-s

ta
tu

to
ry

 
(d

is
c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

) 
a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 
in

 
a
 
ra

n
g
e
 
o
f 

c
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
, 

a
s
 

fo
llo

w
s
: 

i.
 

A
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
c
o
n
tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c

o
s
t 
o
f 
a
 b

u
s
 p

a
s
s
 f
o
r 
p
u
p
ils

 a
tt
e
n
d
in

g
 S

t 
C

u
th

b
e
rt
 M

a
y
n
e
 o

n
 g

ro
u
n
d
s
 o

f 
fa

it
h
, 
w

h
e
re

 
th

e
y
 l
iv

e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
th

a
n
 3

 m
ile

s
 a

w
a
y
 a

n
d
 d

o
 n

o
t 
q
u
a
lif

y
 f
o
r 
s
ta

tu
to

ry
 a

s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
. 
 I
n
 2

0
1
2
-1

3
 t
h
e
 c

o
s
t 
o
f 
a
 b

u
s
 p

a
s
s
 t
o
 

th
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

is
 £

5
1
5
 a

n
d
 w

e
 c

h
a
rg

e
 p

a
re

n
ta

l 
c
o
n
tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
s
 a

t 
£
4
9
0
 s

o
 t
h
e
 n

e
t 
c
o
s
t 
to

 t
h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

p
e
r 
p
a
y
in

g
 p

u
p
il 

is
 

£
2
5
. 
 T

h
e
re

 i
s
 a

n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
s
u
b
s
id

y
 o

f 
£
2
4
5
 p

e
r 
s
e
c
o
n
d
 c

h
ild

 a
n
d
 £

4
9
0
 p

e
r 
th

ir
d
 a

n
d
 s

u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
c
h
ild

 i
n
 a

 s
in

g
le

 
fa

m
ily

. 
 T

h
e
 t
o
ta

l 
a
n
n
u
a
l 
c
o
s
t 
to

 t
h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

o
f 
th

is
 s

u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 6

2
 p

u
p
ils

 i
s
 a

p
p
ro

x
im

a
te

ly
 £

4
,0

0
0
. 
T
h
e
 c

o
s
t 
o
f 

p
u
rc

h
a
s
in

g
 a

n
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
b
u
s
 p

a
s
s
 f
ro

m
 S

ta
g
e
c
o
a
c
h
 b

y
 a

 p
a
re

n
t 
is

 £
5
7
5
. 

ii.
 

A
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
c
o
n
tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c

o
s
t 
o
f 
a
 b

u
s
 p

a
s
s
 f
o
r 
p
u
p
ils

 a
tt
e
n
d
in

g
 a

 s
e
le

c
ti
v
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
w

h
o
 l
iv

e
 m

o
re

 t
h
a
n
 t
h
re

e
 

m
ile

s
 a

w
a
y
, 
a
re

 n
o
t 
e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 a

s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 l
iv

e
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 d

e
s
ig

n
a
te

d
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 a

re
a
 f
o
r 
th

e
 

s
c
h
o
o
l.
  
T
h
e
 n

e
t 
c
o
s
t 
a
n
d
 s

u
b
s
id

y
 a

re
 a

s
 i
n
 (
i)
 a

b
o
v
e
. 
 T

h
e
 t
o
ta

l 
a
n
n
u
a
l 
c
o
s
t 
o
f 
th

is
 s

u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 4

2
 p

u
p
ils

 i
s
 

a
p
p
ro

x
im

a
te

ly
 £

2
,5

2
0
. 

iii
. 

T
h
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 o

f 
a
 f
re

e
 b

u
s
 p

a
s
s
 t
o
 p

u
p
ils

 f
ro

m
 l
o
w

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
 t
o
 a

n
y
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 
b
e
tw

e
e
n
 2

 a
n
d
 6

 m
ile

s
 

a
w

a
y
, 
e
v
e
n
 i
f 
it
 i
s
 n

o
t 
o
n
e
 o

f 
th

e
 t
h
re

e
 n

e
a
re

s
t 
s
u
it
a
b
le

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

. 
 T

h
is

 c
o
s
ts

 t
h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

a
ro

u
n
d
 £

1
5
,0

0
0
 a

 y
e
a
r.
 

iv
. 

A
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
c
o
n
tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c

o
s
t 
o
f 
a
 b

u
s
 p

a
s
s
 f
o
r 
1
4
4
 p

o
s
t-
1
6
 s

tu
d
e
n
ts

 s
tu

d
y
in

g
 i
n
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
s
ix

th
 f
o
rm

s
, 
w

h
e
re

 t
h
e
y
 

liv
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
th

a
n
 t
h
re

e
 m

ile
s
 a

w
a
y
. 
 T

h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

m
a
k
e
s
 a

 n
e
t 
c
o
n
tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 o

f 
£
2
5
 p

e
r 
s
tu

d
e
n
t,
 o

r 
£
4
1
5
 p

e
r 
s
tu

d
e
n
t 
fo

r 
lo

w
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
. 
 T

h
e
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
c
o
s
t 
to

 t
h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

is
 a

p
p
ro

x
im

a
te

ly
 £

2
2
,3

2
0
. 

A
 b

lo
c
k
 c

o
n
tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 S

o
u
th

 D
e
v
o
n
 C

o
lle

g
e
 f
o
r 
a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 o

f 
£
7
0
,0

0
0
 p

e
r 
y
e
a
r.
 

Page 10



 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

  

2
. 

W
h
o
 i
s
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 

/ 
w
h
o
 w
il
l 
b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
?
 

 F
a
m

ili
e
s
 w

h
o
 c

u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 h

a
v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 f
re

e
 o

r 
s
u
b
s
id

is
e
d
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 o

n
 a

 s
ta

tu
to

ry
 b

a
s
is

 w
ill
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 r
e
c
e
iv

e
 t
h
e
 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
. 

 F
a
m

ili
e
s
 w

h
o
 c

u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 h

a
v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 f
re

e
 o

r 
s
u
b
s
id

is
e
d
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 o

n
 a

 d
is

c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 b
a
s
is

 w
ill
 b

e
 i
m

p
a
c
te

d
 b

y
 t
h
is

 
d
e
c
is

io
n
. 
 

 T
h
e
re

 m
a
y
 a

ls
o
 b

e
 a

n
 a

d
v
e
rs

e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 d

e
n
o
m

in
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
(i
.e

. 
C

h
u
rc

h
 o

f 
E
n
g
la

n
d
 /
 R

o
m

a
n
 C

a
th

o
lic

) 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

 a
n
d
 s

e
le

c
ti
v
e
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

 (
i.
e
. 
G

ra
m

m
a
r 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

) 
in

 T
o
rb

a
y
 a

n
d
 o

n
 S

o
u
th

 D
e
v
o
n
 C

o
lle

g
e
. 

 T
h
e
 k

e
y
 s

ta
k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

 i
n
 r
e
la

ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
is

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
a
re

: 

•
 

S
c
h
o
o
ls
 

•
 

S
o
u
th

 D
e
v
o
n
 C

o
lle

g
e
 

•
 

F
a
m

ili
e
s
  

 

3
. 

W
h
a
t 
is
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
?
 

T
o
 r
e
v
ie

w
 t
h
e
 p

o
lic

y
 a

n
d
 c

ri
te

ri
a
 i
n
 r
e
la

ti
o
n
 t
o
 d

is
c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 a

s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
h
o
m

e
 t
o
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
. 

  

 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 2
: 
E
q
u
a
li
ti
e
s
, 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

 

T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
h
a
s
 a
 m
o
ra
l 
o
b
lig
a
ti
o
n
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 a
 d
u
ty
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 A
c
t 
2
0
1
0
 t
o
 e
lim

in
a
te
 d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
, 
p
ro
m
o
te
 g
o
o
d
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 a
d
v
a
n
c
e
 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 s
h
a
re
 a
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
 a
n
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 d
o
 n
o
t.
  

 T
h
e
 E
q
u
a
li
ti
e
s
, 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
e
c
ti
o
n
 e
n
s
u
re
s
 t
h
a
t,
 a
s
 a
 c
o
u
n
c
il,
 w
e
 t
a
k
e
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
th
e
 P
u
b
lic
 S
e
c
to
r 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 D
u
ty
 a
t 
a
n
 e
a
rl
y
 

s
ta
g
e
 a
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
w
e
 f
u
lly
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
o
u
r 
d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 /
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 o
n
 t
h
e
 T
o
rb
a
y
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
. 

 
 

 

Page 11



 

E
v
id
e
n
c
e
, 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

  

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

4
. 

H
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
e
 

a
v
a
il
a
b
le
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
?
  

P
u
p
ils

 l
iv

in
g
 m

o
re

 t
h
a
n
 2

 m
ile

s
 f
ro

m
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
(u

n
d
e
r 
8
) 
o
r 
3
 m

ile
s
 (
o
v
e
r 
8
) 
a
re

 l
e
g
a
lly

 e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 f
re

e
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 a

n
d
 a

re
 

p
ro

v
id

e
d
 w

it
h
 a

 b
u
s
 p

a
s
s
. 
  

•
 

T
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 
o
f 
p
u
p
ils

 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 e

lig
ib

le
 f
o
r 
d
is

c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 o

n
 f
a
it
h
 g

ro
u
n
d
s
 a

n
d
 p

a
y
in

g
 a

 c
o
n
tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 

to
w

a
rd

s
 t
h
e
 c

o
s
t 
o
f 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 i
s
 6

2
. 
  

•
 

T
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 
o
f 
p
u
p
ils

 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 e

lig
ib

le
 f
o
r 
d
is

c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 t
o
 a

 s
e
le

c
ti
v
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
a
n
d
 p

a
y
in

g
 a

 c
o
n
tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 

to
w

a
rd

s
 t
h
e
 c

o
s
t 
o
f 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 i
s
 4

2
. 
  

•
 

P
a
re

n
ts

 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 p

a
y
 £

4
9
0
; 
th

e
 f
u
ll 

c
o
s
t 
o
f 
a
n
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
S
ta

g
e
c
o
a
c
h
 b

u
s
 p

a
s
s
 i
s
 c

u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 £

5
7
5
. 
  

•
 

A
t 
th

e
 m

o
m

e
n
t,
 p

a
re

n
ts

 w
it
h
 a

 s
e
c
o
n
d
 c

h
ild

 r
e
c
e
iv

in
g
 t
h
is

 d
is

c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 g

e
t 
a
 5

0
%

 d
is

c
o
u
n
t 
in

 t
h
e
ir
 

c
o
n
tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 t
h
ir
d
 c

h
ild

re
n
 w

it
h
in

 a
 f
a
m

ily
 t
ra

v
e
l 
fr
e
e
. 
 T

h
is

 d
is

c
o
u
n
te

d
 t
ra

v
e
l 
a
ff
e
c
ts

 v
e
ry

 f
e
w

 p
u
p
ils

. 
  

 T
h
e
 g

re
a
te

s
t 
im

p
a
c
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 o

n
 p

o
s
t-
1
6
 s

tu
d
e
n
ts

. 
  

•
 

4
8
 s

tu
d
e
n
ts

 a
tt
e
n
d
in

g
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
s
ix

th
 f
o
rm

s
 f
ro

m
 l
o
w

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
 c

u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 r
e
c
e
iv

e
 a

 s
u
b
s
ta

n
ti
a
l 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 

s
u
b
s
id

y
, 
p
a
y
in

g
 £

1
0
0
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 t
h
e
 c

o
s
t 
o
f 
a
n
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
b
u
s
 p

a
s
s
. 
 

•
 

A
p
p
ro

x
im

a
te

ly
 9

0
 s

tu
d
e
n
ts

 p
u
rc

h
a
s
e
 d

is
c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 p
a
s
s
e
s
 a

t 
a
 c

o
s
t 
o
f 
£
4
9
0
 p

e
r 
y
e
a
r.
  
 

•
 

1
0
2
6
 s

tu
d
e
n
ts

 o
n
 l
o
w

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 a

tt
e
n
d
in

g
 S

o
u
th

 D
e
v
o
n
 C

o
lle

g
e
 r
e
c
e
iv

e
 f
re

e
 p

a
s
s
e
s
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 e

n
ti
re

ly
 b

y
 t
h
e
 C

o
lle

g
e
 

s
o
 t
h
e
s
e
 s

tu
d
e
n
ts

 w
ill
 n

o
t 
b
e
 a

ff
e
c
te

d
 b

y
 t
h
is

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
l.
  
 

•
 

A
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
3
5
6
 s

tu
d
e
n
ts

 a
tt
e
n
d
in

g
 S

o
u
th

 D
e
v
o
n
 C

o
lle

g
e
 r
e
c
e
iv

e
 a

 d
is

c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 s

u
b
s
id

y
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 i
n
 p

a
rt
 

b
y
 T

o
rb

a
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 p

a
rt
ly

 b
y
 t
h
e
 C

o
lle

g
e
. 
 T

h
e
y
 p

a
y
 a

n
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
c
o
n
tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
v
a
ri
e
s
 a

c
c
o
rd

in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
d
a
y
s
 t
h
e
y
 a

tt
e
n
d
. 

 B
u
rs

a
ri
e
s
 a

re
 n

o
w

 a
v
a
ila

b
le

 f
o
r 
p
o
s
t-
1
6
 s

tu
d
e
n
ts

 i
n
 c

a
re

, 
le

a
v
in

g
 c

a
re

 o
r 
in

 r
e
c
e
ip

t 
o
f 
s
o
m

e
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt
. 
 D

is
c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 
b
u
rs

a
ri
e
s
 a

re
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 f
o
r 
o
th

e
r 
s
tu

d
e
n
ts

 t
o
 h

e
lp

 w
it
h
 c

o
s
ts

 s
u
c
h
 a

s
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
. 
 T

h
e
s
e
 a

re
 d

is
tr
ib

u
te

d
 d

ir
e
c
tl
y
 b

y
 p

o
s
t-
1
6
 

in
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
. 

 F
ro

m
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
3
, 
a
ll 

s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

 a
c
ro

s
s
 T

o
rb

a
y
 w

ill
 o

ff
e
r 
p
o
s
t-
1
6
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
. 
 S

tu
d
e
n
ts

 w
ill
 t
h
e
re

fo
re

 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
 

o
p
ti
o
n
 o

f 
s
tu

d
y
in

g
 l
o
c
a
lly

. 
  T
h
e
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 o
f 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 t
o
 f
u
n
d
 d
is
c
re
ti
o
n
a
ry
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 a
t 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
le
v
e
ls
 i
s
 n
o
t 
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
, 
a
s
 t
h
e
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 

b
u
d
g
e
t 
is
 i
n
s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
to
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
n
e
e
d
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
 d
e
m
a
n
d
s
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 m
a
d
e
 o
n
 i
t 
fo
r 
s
ta
tu
to
ry
 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 a
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
p
u
p
ils
 w
it
h
 S
p
e
c
ia
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
N
e
e
d
s
. 

 

Page 12



 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

5
. 

H
o
w
 h
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l?
 

T
h
is

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
w

a
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 O

v
e
rv

ie
w

 a
n
d
 S

c
ru

ti
n
y
 P

ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 P

a
n
e
l 
o
n
 t
h
e
 1

5
th
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
1
3
. 
 

T
h
e
 p

a
n
e
l 
in

v
it
e
d
 m

e
m

b
e
rs

 o
f 
th

e
 p

u
b
lic

 a
n
d
 s

ta
k
e
h
o
ld

e
r 
o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 a

tt
e
n
d
 a

n
d
 m

a
k
e
 r
e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
s
 i
f 
th

e
y
 w

is
h
e
d
 

to
 d

o
 s

o
. 
R

e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
s
 w

e
re

 r
e
c
e
iv

e
d
 f
ro

m
 S

o
u
th

 D
e
v
o
n
 C

o
lle

g
e
, 
S
ta

g
e
c
o
a
c
h
 D

e
v
o
n
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 H

e
a
d
te

a
c
h
e
r 
a
n
d
 

p
a
re

n
ts

 o
f 
p
u
p
ils

 o
f 
S
t 
C

u
th

b
e
rt
 M

a
y
n
e
 S

c
h
o
o
l 
a
b
o
u
t 
th

e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 t
o
 n

o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
p
ro

v
id

e
 d

is
c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 

a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
. 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
to

 r
e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
s
 m

a
d
e
 r
e
g
a
rd

in
g
 t
h
is

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
it
 w

a
s
 a

g
re

e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
re

 w
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

/M
a
rc

h
 o

n
 p

h
a
s
in

g
 t
h
e
s
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 o
v
e
r 
3
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a
rs

 (
tw

o
 a

c
a
d
e
m

ic
 y

e
a
rs

) 
to

 e
n
a
b
le

 p
a
re

n
ts

 a
n
d
 s

tu
d
e
n
ts

 
to

 p
la

n
 f
o
r 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 p

h
a
s
e
d
 o

v
e
r 
a
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
p
e
ri
o
d
. 
T
h
is

 w
ill
 m

e
a
n
 s

o
m

e
 p

u
p
ils

/s
tu

d
e
n
ts

 w
ill
 h

a
v
e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 t
h
e
ir
 c

o
u
rs

e
s
 

a
n
d
 o

th
e
rs

 w
ill
 h

a
v
e
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
to

 p
la

n
 f
o
r 
th

e
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 f
o
r 
tr
a
v
e
l 
to

 s
c
h
o
o
l/
c
o
lle

g
e
 t
o
 f
in

is
h
 t
h
e
ir
 

c
o
u
rs

e
s
 i
f 
c
o
n
c
e
s
s
io

n
a
ry

 t
ra

v
e
l 
is

 r
e
m

o
v
e
d
. 
P
a
re

n
ts

 o
f 
c
h
ild

re
n
 m

o
v
in

g
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
w

ill
 b

e
 a

b
le

 t
o
 c

h
o
o
s
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
p
la

c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

k
n
o
w

le
d
g
e
 o

f 
th

e
 n

e
w

 p
o
lic

y
. 
 

 A
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w

a
s
 h

e
ld

 f
o
r 
4
 w

e
e
k
s
 f
ro

m
 2

9
th
 A

p
ri
l 
to

 2
4

th
 M

a
y
 2

0
1
3
. 
C

o
n
s
u
lt
e
e
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 a

ll 
p
a
re

n
ts

 a
n
d
 p

u
p
ils

 i
n
 

T
o
rb

a
y
, 
s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
ta

ff
 a

n
d
 g

o
v
e
rn

o
rs

, 
S
o
u
th

 D
e
v
o
n
 C

o
lle

g
e
, 
A
n
g
lic

a
n
 &

 C
a
th

o
lic

 d
io

c
e
s
e
s
 a

n
d
 D

e
v
o
n
 C

o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il.

  
T
h
e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w

a
s
 p

o
s
te

d
 o

n
 t
h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il’
s
 w

e
b
 s

it
e
. 
A
ll 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

 a
n
d
 a

c
a
d
e
m

ie
s
 w

e
re

 c
o
n
ta

c
te

d
, 
a
ls

o
 S

o
u
th

 D
e
v
o
n
 C

o
lle

g
e
, 

a
n
d
 a

s
k
e
d
 t
o
 a

le
rt
 p

a
re

n
ts

, 
p
u
p
ils

 a
n
d
 g

o
v
e
rn

o
rs

 t
o
 t
h
e
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 v

ia
 a

 p
re

s
s
 r
e
le

a
s
e
. 
T
h
re

e
 d

ro
p
-i
n
 s

e
s
s
io

n
s
 w

e
re

 
h
e
ld

 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 p

e
ri
o
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 d

if
fe

re
n
t 
to

w
n
s
 w

it
h
in

 T
o
rb

a
y
. 

 

6
. 

O
u
tl
in
e
 t
h
e
 k
e
y
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 

  

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
: 
 

 R
e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
s
 m

a
d
e
 a

t 
th

e
 P

ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 &

 R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 (
O

v
e
rv

ie
w

 &
 S

c
ru

ti
n
y
) 
P
a
n
e
l:
  

•
 
“T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 i
s
 a
 k
e
y
 b
a
rr
ie
r 
to
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
” 

•
 
“…

.t
h
e
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 f
u
n
d
s
 i
s
 i
n
e
v
it
a
b
ly
 g
o
in
g
 t
o
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 s
o
m
e
 l
o
s
s
 o
f 
p
a
tr
o
n
a
g
e
 o
n
 b
u
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
s
 p
a
re
n
ts
 a
n
d
 

s
tu
d
e
n
ts
 d
e
c
id
e
 t
o
 e
it
h
e
r 
re
lo
c
a
te
 o
r 
fi
n
d
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 m
e
a
n
s
 o
f 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 t
h
e
 c
a
r”
 

•
 
“…
S
e
v
e
ra
l 
o
f 
th
e
 r
o
u
te
s
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 f
o
r 
S
o
u
th
 D
e
v
o
n
 C
o
lle
g
e
, 
o
n
ly
 r
u
n
 a
t 
th
e
 s
ta
rt
 a
n
d
 e
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
 d
a
y
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
 

s
c
o
p
e
 f
o
r 
m
in
o
r 
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
. 
W
it
h
d
ra
w
in
g
 a
 r
o
u
te
 w
o
u
ld
 o
f 
c
o
u
rs
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 a
ll 
s
tu
d
e
n
ts
, 
n
o
t 
ju
s
t 
th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

re
c
e
iv
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
” 

•
 
“S
h
o
rt
-s
ig
h
te
d
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 t
h
a
t 
m
a
y
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
c
a
rs
, 
o
r 
re
m
o
v
e
 c
h
ild
re
n
 f
ro
m
 s
c
h
o
o
l”
 

 P
le

a
s
e
 N

o
te

: 
T
h
e
 c

o
m

m
e
n
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 O

v
e
rv

ie
w

 a
n
d
 S

c
ru

ti
n
y
 B

o
a
rd

 a
re

 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
in

 p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 4

.2
1
-4

.2
4
 o

f 
it
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
 “
R

e
v
ie

w
 

o
f 
P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 2

0
1
3
/2

0
1
4
” 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

Page 13



 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

T
h
e
re
 w
a
s
 a
 v
e
ry
 l
o
w
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
in
te
re
s
t 
s
h
o
w
n
. 
 T
h
e
 d
ro
p
-i
n
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 a
tt
ra
c
te
d
 a
 t
o
ta
l 
o
f 
s
ix
 p
e
o
p
le
 1
 f
a
m
ily
 a
n
d
 

2
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 y
o
u
th
 p
a
rl
ia
m
e
n
t,
 w
h
o
 a
s
k
e
d
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 w
e
re
 i
n
v
it
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
le
te
 a
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 s
h
e
e
t.
  
7
 

c
a
lls
 w
e
re
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 w
it
h
 q
u
e
ri
e
s
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
. 
 O
n
ly
 o
n
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 w
a
s
 a
c
tu
a
lly
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
. 
 T
h
e
 

re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
t 
d
is
a
g
re
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
. 
  

  

7
. 

W
h
a
t 
a
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
y
 

b
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 

th
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
?
 

 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 w
e
re
 m
a
d
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 e
a
rl
ie
r 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 a
t 
S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
. 
 O
ri
g
in
a
l 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 w
e
re
 t
o
 c
u
t 

a
ll 
c
o
n
c
e
s
s
io
n
a
ry
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 f
ro
m
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
3
. 
 A
m
e
n
d
e
d
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 h
a
v
e
 n
o
w
 b
e
e
n
 p
u
t 
fo
rw
a
rd
 t
o
 p
h
a
s
e
 

o
u
t 
o
v
e
r 
th
re
e
 y
e
a
rs
. 
 N
o
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
. 

A
t 
th
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 o
f 
th
e
 O

v
e
rv
ie
w
 a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 o
n
 2
4
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
1
3
, 
th
e
 M

a
y
o
r 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 L
e
a
d
 f
o
r 

C
h
ild
re
n
, 
S
c
h
o
o
ls
 a
n
d
 F
a
m
ili
e
s
 a
n
n
o
u
n
c
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 w

o
u
ld
 b
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
in
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
s
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 

w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 p
h
a
s
e
d
 i
n
 a
n
d
 n
o
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 d
is
c
re
ti
o
n
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 w

o
u
ld
 m

a
d
e
 u
n
ti
l 
2
0
1
4
/2
0
1
5
. 
 

 
 

P
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
n
d
 N
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
ts
  

 
 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

8
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
n
d
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 

im
p
a
c
ts
 o
n
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 

It
 i
s
 n
o
t 
e
n
o
u
g
h
 t
o
 s
ta
te
 t
h
a
t 
a
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
w
ill
 a
ff
e
c
t 
e
v
e
ry
o
n
e
 e
q
u
a
lly
. 
T
h
e
re
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 m
o
re
 i
n
-d
e
p
th
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 t
o
 s
e
e
 i
f 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
g
ro
u
p
s
 a
re
 m
o
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 t
h
a
n
 o
th
e
rs
 –
 u
s
e
 t
h
e
 t
a
b
le
 b
e
lo
w
. 
Y
o
u
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

a
ls
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 
If
 y
o
u
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
re
 t
o
 b
e
 n
o
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 o
r 
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 u
s
e
 t
h
e
 ‘
n
e
u
tr
a
l’ 
c
o
lu
m
n
 t
o
 e
x
p
la
in
 

w
h
y
. 

 

 
P
o
s
it
iv
e
 I
m
p
a
c
t 

N
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 I
m
p
a
c
t 

N
e
u
tr
a
l 
Im
p
a
c
t 

A
ll 

g
ro

u
p
s
 i
n
 s

o
c
ie

ty
 

g
e
n
e
ra

lly
 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 w
ill
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 

p
ro
v
id
e
 t
h
e
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 

re
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 h
o
m
e
 t
o
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
/ 
c
o
lle
g
e
 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
. 
  

•
 
C
h
ild
re
n
 /
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
n
 l
o
w
 

in
c
o
m
e
s
 a
tt
e
n
d
in
g
 S
o
u
th
 D
e
v
o
n
 

C
o
lle
g
e
 w
ill
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 

fr
e
e
 p
a
s
s
e
s
. 
 

•
 
Y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 a
re
 p
o
s
t-
1
6
 

c
a
re
rs
 a
re
 e
lig
ib
le
 f
o
r 
b
u
rs
a
ri
e
s
 –
 

b
u
rs
a
ri
e
s
 a
re
 a
d
m
in
is
te
re
d
 

P
o
lic
y
 o
n
ly
 a
p
p
lie
s
 t
o
 c
h
ild
re
n
 /
 

y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
tt
e
n
d
in
g
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
o
r 

fu
rt
h
e
r 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
. 
T
h
is
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m
a
y
 

c
a
u
s
e
 s
o
m
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
h
a
rd
s
h
ip
 

a
n
d
/o
r 
lim

it
 t
h
e
 c
h
o
ic
e
 o
f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 
s
o
m
e
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 t
o
 

c
h
o
o
s
e
 f
ro
m
. 

T
o
 m

it
ig

a
te

 a
g
a
in

s
t 
th

e
 n

e
g
a
ti
v
e
 

im
p
a
c
ts

 o
n
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
 o

f 
in

c
re

a
s
e
d
 c

o
s
ts

, 
th

e
re

 w
ill
 b

e
 a

n
 a

p
p
e
a
ls

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
 w

h
e
re

 
p
a
re

n
ts

 w
ill
 b

e
 a

b
le

 t
o
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t 

d
is

c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
n
 e

x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
a
l 

c
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
 a

n
d
 c

a
s
e
s
 o

f 
g
e
n
u
in

e
 

h
a
rd

s
h
ip

. 
 T

h
is

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
 i
s
 o

p
e
n
 t
o
 a

ll 
fa

m
ili
e
s
. 
 

  

Page 14



 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 b
y
 p
o
s
t-
1
6
 i
n
s
ti
tu
ti
o
n
s
 

a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
re
 a
d
v
is
e
d
 t
o
 

ta
lk
 t
o
 t
h
e
ir
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
/ 
c
o
lle
g
e
 f
o
r 

a
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
. 
 T
h
o
s
e
 c
h
ild
re
n
 /
 

y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 a
re
 c
a
re
rs
 

a
n
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 a
g
e
 o
f 
1
6
 a
re
 

e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
a
m
e
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
s
 a
ll 
o
th
e
r 
y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
. 

O
ld

e
r 
o
r 
y
o
u
n
g
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

 

  
Y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
re
 t
h
e
 o
n
e
s
 w
h
o
 

tr
a
v
e
l 
fr
o
m
 h
o
m
e
 t
o
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
a
n
d
 w
ill
 

th
e
re
fo
re
 b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 c
u
ts
 i
n
 

d
is
c
re
ti
o
n
a
ry
 f
u
n
d
in
g
. 
T
h
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 

w
ill
 a
ff
e
c
t 
a
p
p
ro
x
im
a
te
ly
 1
0
0
0
 

c
h
ild
re
n
 /
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
. 
T
h
is
 

d
e
c
is
io
n
 m
a
y
 c
a
u
s
e
 s
o
m
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

h
a
rd
s
h
ip
 a
n
d
/o
r 
lim

it
 t
h
e
 c
h
o
ic
e
 o
f 

s
c
h
o
o
ls
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 
s
o
m
e
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 

to
 c
h
o
o
s
e
 f
ro
m
. 

1
0
2
6
 s

tu
d
e
n
ts

 o
n
 l
o
w

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 a

tt
e
n
d
in

g
 

S
o
u
th

 D
e
v
o
n
 C

o
lle

g
e
 r
e
c
e
iv

e
 f
re

e
 

p
a
s
s
e
s
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 e

n
ti
re

ly
 b

y
 t
h
e
 C

o
lle

g
e
 

s
o
 t
h
e
s
e
 s

tu
d
e
n
ts

 w
ill
 n

o
t 
b
e
 a

ff
e
c
te

d
 b

y
 

th
is

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
l.
  

  

P
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 c

a
ri
n
g
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib

ili
ti
e
s
 

  
P
re
-1
6
 c
a
re
rs
 a
re
 e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

s
a
m
e
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
s
 a
ll 
o
th
e
r 

y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
. 

P
o
s
t-
1
6
 c
a
re
rs
 a
re
 e
lig
ib
le
 f
o
r 

b
u
rs
a
ri
e
s
. 
 

P
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 a

 d
is

a
b
ili
ty
 

 

  
 

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 

d
is
c
re
ti
o
n
a
ry
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
a
ff
e
c
t 

e
n
ti
tl
e
m
e
n
t 
to
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 o
n
 t
h
e
 b
a
s
is
 

o
f 
in
a
b
ili
ty
 t
o
 w
a
lk
 t
o
 s
c
h
o
o
l/
u
s
e
 

p
u
b
lic
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 t
o
 t
ra
v
e
l 
to
 s
c
h
o
o
l.
 

 

W
o
m

e
n
 o

r 
m

e
n
 

 

  
 

T
h
e
 p
o
lic
y
 w
ill
 a
ff
e
c
t 
a
ll 
y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
 e
lig
ib
le
 f
o
r 
d
is
c
re
ti
o
n
a
ry
 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 a
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
, 
n
o
t 
ju
s
t 
o
n
e
 

g
e
n
d
e
r.
 

 

P
e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 a

re
 b

la
c
k
 o

r 
 

 
T
h
is
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
d
if
fe
re
n
ti
a
lly
 

Page 15



 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

fr
o
m

 a
 m

in
o
ri
ty

 e
th

n
ic

 
b
a
c
k
g
ro

u
n
d
 (
B
M

E
) 
 

im
p
a
c
t 
u
p
o
n
 t
h
o
s
e
 o
f 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 

e
th
n
ic
it
y
 o
v
e
r 
a
n
d
 a
b
o
v
e
 t
h
a
t 

d
e
ta
ile
d
 a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
a
ll 

g
ro
u
p
s
 g
e
n
e
ra
lly
. 

R
e
lig

io
n
 o

r 
b
e
lie

f 
(i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 

la
c
k
 o

f 
b
e
lie

f)
 

  
T
h
e
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 a
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
fa
m
ili
e
s
 w
h
o
 c
h
o
o
s
e
 t
o
 

s
e
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 c
h
ild
 t
o
 a
 f
a
it
h
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
a
n
d
 

w
h
o
 d
o
 n
o
t 
q
u
a
lif
y
 f
o
r 
lo
w
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
. 
T
h
is
 w
ill
 a
ff
e
c
t 
a
ro
u
n
d
 6
0
 

p
u
p
ils
. 

 

P
e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 a

re
 l
e
s
b
ia

n
, 
g
a
y
 

o
r 
b
is

e
x
u
a
l 

 
 

T
h
is

 d
e
c
is

io
n
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
d
if
fe

re
n
ti
a
lly

 
im

p
a
c
t 
u
p
o
n
 a

 p
e
rs

o
n
’s

 s
e
x
u
a
lit

y
 o

v
e
r 

a
n
d
 a

b
o
v
e
 t
h
a
t 
d
e
ta

ile
d
 a

b
o
v
e
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
a
ll 

g
ro

u
p
s
 g

e
n
e
ra

lly
. 

P
e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 a

re
 

tr
a
n
s
g
e
n
d
e
re

d
 

 
 

T
h
is

 d
e
c
is

io
n
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
d
if
fe

re
n
ti
a
lly

 
im

p
a
c
t 
u
p
o
n
 t
h
o
s
e
 w

h
o
 a

re
 

tr
a
n
s
g
e
n
d
e
re

d
 o

v
e
r 
a
n
d
 a

b
o
v
e
 t
h
a
t 

d
e
ta

ile
d
 a

b
o
v
e
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
a
ll 

g
ro

u
p
s
 

g
e
n
e
ra

lly
. 

P
e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 a

re
 i
n
 a

 
m

a
rr
ia

g
e
 o

r 
c
iv

il 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs

h
ip
 

 
 

T
h
is

 d
e
c
is

io
n
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
d
if
fe

re
n
ti
a
lly

 
im

p
a
c
t 
u
p
o
n
 t
h
o
s
e
 w

h
o
 a

re
 m

a
rr
ie

d
 o

r 
in

 a
 c

iv
il 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs

h
ip

 o
v
e
r 
a
n
d
 a

b
o
v
e
 

th
a
t 
d
e
ta

ile
d
 a

b
o
v
e
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
a
ll 

g
ro

u
p
s
 g

e
n
e
ra

lly
. 

W
o
m

e
n
 w

h
o
 a

re
 p

re
g
n
a
n
t 
/ 

o
n
 m

a
te

rn
it
y
 l
e
a
v
e
 

 
 

T
h
is

 d
e
c
is

io
n
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
d
if
fe

re
n
ti
a
lly

 
im

p
a
c
t 
u
p
o
n
 t
h
o
s
e
 w

h
o
 a

re
 p

re
g
n
a
n
t 
o
r 

o
n
 m

a
te

rn
it
y
 l
e
a
v
e
 o

v
e
r 
a
n
d
 a

b
o
v
e
 t
h
a
t 

d
e
ta

ile
d
 a

b
o
v
e
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
a
ll 

g
ro

u
p
s
 

g
e
n
e
ra

lly
. 

S
o
c
io

-e
c
o
n
o
m

ic
 i
m

p
a
c
ts

 
(i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 c

h
ild

 
p
o
v
e
rt
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a

n
d
 

d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
) 

 

C
h
ild

re
n
’s

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 w

ill
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 

p
ro

v
id

e
 t
h
e
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 i
n
 r
e
la

ti
o
n
 

to
 h

o
m

e
 t
o
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
/ 
c
o
lle

g
e
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
. 
  

•
 

C
h
ild

re
n
 /
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 o
n
 l
o
w

 
in

c
o
m

e
s
 a

tt
e
n
d
in

g
 S

o
u
th

 D
e
v
o
n
 

C
o
lle

g
e
 w

ill
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 r
e
c
e
iv

e
 f
re

e
 

P
o
lic

y
 o

n
ly

 a
p
p
lie

s
 t
o
 c

h
ild

re
n
 /
 y

o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le

 a
tt
e
n
d
in

g
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
o
r 
fu

rt
h
e
r 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
. 
T
h
is

 d
e
c
is

io
n
 m

a
y
 c

a
u
s
e
 

s
o
m

e
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
h
a
rd

s
h
ip

 a
n
d
/o

r 
lim

it
 t
h
e
 

c
h
o
ic

e
 o

f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

 a
v
a
ila

b
le

 f
o
r 
s
o
m

e
 

fa
m

ili
e
s
 t
o
 c

h
o
o
s
e
 f
ro

m
. 

 

Page 16



 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

p
a
s
s
e
s
. 
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 a

re
 p

o
s
t-
1
6
 c

a
re

rs
 

a
re

 e
lig

ib
le

 f
o
r 
b
u
rs

a
ri
e
s
 –

 b
u
rs

a
ri
e
s
 a

re
 

a
d
m

in
is

te
re

d
 d

ir
e
c
tl
y
 b

y
 p

o
s
t-
1
6
 

in
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 a
re

 
a
d
v
is

e
d
 t
o
 t
a
lk

 t
o
 t
h
e
ir
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
/ 
c
o
lle

g
e
 

fo
r 
a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
. 
 T

h
o
s
e
 c

h
ild

re
n
 /
 y

o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 a

re
 c

a
re

rs
 a

n
d
 u

n
d
e
r 
th

e
 

a
g
e
 o

f 
1
6
 a

re
 e

n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s

a
m

e
 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 a

s
 a

ll 
o
th

e
r 
y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le

. 

9
. 

Is
 t
h
e
re
 s
c
o
p
e
 f
o
r 
y
o
u
r 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
to
 e
li
m
in
a
te
 

d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
, 
p
ro
m
o
te
 

e
q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 

/ 
o
r 
fo
s
te
r 
g
o
o
d
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s
?
 

A
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 t
o
 a

n
d
 f
ro

m
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
is

 p
ro

v
id

e
d
 f
o
r 
a
n
y
o
n
e
 l
iv

in
g
 m

o
re

 t
h
a
n
 t
h
e
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 d
is

ta
n
c
e
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
ir
 n

e
a
re

s
t 

s
c
h
o
o
l.
  
T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
le

g
a
l 
e
n
ti
tl
e
m

e
n
t 
to

 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
p
u
p
ils

 o
f 
s
ta

tu
to

ry
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
a
g
e
 f
ro

m
 l
o
w

-i
n
c
o
m

e
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
 t
o
 g

iv
e
 

th
e
m

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 a

 w
id

e
r 
c
h
o
ic

e
 o

f 
le

a
rn

in
g
 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
. 
 T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 a

s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 i
s
 a

ls
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 f
o
r 
y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 

d
is

a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 w

h
o
 a

re
 u

n
a
b
le

 t
o
 w

a
lk

 t
o
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
o
r 
u
s
e
 p

u
b
lic

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 o

n
 m

e
d
ic

a
l 
g
ro

u
n
d
s
. 
 

 T
o
 m

it
ig

a
te

 a
g
a
in

s
t 
th

e
 n

e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m

p
a
c
ts

 o
n
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
 o

f 
in

c
re

a
s
e
d
 c

o
s
ts

, 
th

e
re

 w
ill
 b

e
 a

n
 a

p
p
e
a
ls

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
 w

h
e
re

 p
a
re

n
ts

 w
ill

 
b
e
 a

b
le

 t
o
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t 
d
is

c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
n
 e

x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
a
l 
c
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
 a

n
d
 c

a
s
e
s
 o

f 
g
e
n
u
in

e
 h

a
rd

s
h
ip

. 
 T

h
is

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
 i
s
 o

p
e
n
 

to
 a

ll 
fa

m
ili
e
s
. 
 

 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 3
: 
S
te
p
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
im
p
a
c
ts
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

 

N
o
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

1
0
. 

S
u
m
m
a
ri
s
e
 a
n
y
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 

im
p
a
c
ts
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
y
 w
il
l 

b
e
 r
e
a
li
s
e
d
 m
o
s
t 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
?
 

 

C
h
ild

re
n
’s

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 w

ill
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 t
h
e
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 i
n
 r
e
la

ti
o
n
 t
o
 h

o
m

e
 t
o
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
/ 
c
o
lle

g
e
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
. 
  

C
h
ild

re
n
 /
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 o
n
 l
o
w

 i
n
c
o
m

e
s
 a

tt
e
n
d
in

g
 S

o
u
th

 D
e
v
o
n
 C

o
lle

g
e
 w

ill
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 r
e
c
e
iv

e
 f
re

e
 p

a
s
s
e
s
. 
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 a

re
 p

o
s
t-
1
6
 c

a
re

rs
 a

re
 e

lig
ib

le
 f
o
r 
b
u
rs

a
ri
e
s
 –

 b
u
rs

a
ri
e
s
 a

re
 a

d
m

in
is

te
re

d
 d

ir
e
c
tl
y
 b

y
 p

o
s
t-
1
6
 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

a
n
d
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 a
re

 a
d
v
is

e
d
 t
o
 t
a
lk

 t
o
 t
h
e
ir
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
/ 
c
o
lle

g
e
 f
o
r 
a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
. 
 T

h
o
s
e
 c

h
ild

re
n
 /
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 a

re
 c

a
re

rs
 

a
n
d
 u

n
d
e
r 
th

e
 a

g
e
 o

f 
1
6
 a

re
 e

n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s

a
m

e
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 a

s
 a

ll 
o
th

e
r 
y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

. 
 

1
1
. 

S
u
m
m
a
ri
s
e
 a
n
y
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 

im
p
a
c
ts
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
s
e
 

w
il
l 
b
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
d
?
 

 

T
h
e
 n

e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 a

n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
c
o
s
t 
fo

r 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 t
o
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
o
r 
c
o
lle

g
e
 f
o
r 
a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o

f 
p
u
p
ils

 a
n
d
 s

tu
d
e
n
ts

. 
 S

ta
tu

to
ry

 
a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 w

ill
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 b

e
 g

iv
e
n
 t
o
 t
h
o
s
e
 w

h
o
 a

re
 e

n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 i
t.
  
T
h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

w
ill
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 p

o
s
t-
1
6
 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 w

h
e
re

 
p
o
s
s
ib

le
 t
o
 e

n
c
o
u
ra

g
e
 a

n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 t
ra

in
in

g
 f
o
r 
a
ll 

y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 u
p
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a

g
e
 o

f 
1
8
. 
  

T
h
e
re

 w
ill
 b

e
 a

n
 a

p
p
e
a
ls

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
 w

h
e
re

 p
a
re

n
ts

 w
ill
 b

e
 a

b
le

 t
o
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t 
d
is

c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
n
 e

x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
a
l 
c
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
 

a
n
d
 c

a
s
e
s
 o

f 
g
e
n
u
in

e
 h

a
rd

s
h
ip

. 
 

 

Page 17



 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 4
: 
C
o
u
rs
e
 o
f 
A
c
ti
o
n
 

 

N
o
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

1
2
. 

S
ta
te
 a
 c
o
u
rs
e
 o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 

 [p
le
a
s
e
 r
e
fe
r 
to
 a
c
ti
o
n
 

a
ft
e
r 
s
e
c
ti
o
n
 5
] 

 O
u

tc
o

m
e
 3
: 
C

o
n

ti
n

u
e
 w

it
h

 p
ro

p
o

s
a
l 
- 
D
e
s
p
it
e
 h
a
v
in
g
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 s
o
m
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
fo
r 
a
d
v
e
rs
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
/ 
m
is
s
e
d
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 

re
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 o
r 
to
 p
ro
m
o
te
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
. 
F
u
ll 
ju
s
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
, 
e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
, 
in
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 d
u
ty
 

to
 h
a
v
e
 ‘
d
u
e
 r
e
g
a
rd
’.
  

 A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 a

 d
u
ty

 t
o
 h

a
v
e
 r
e
g
a
rd

 t
o
 p

a
re

n
ts

’ 
w

is
h
e
s
 f
o
r 
th

e
ir
 c

h
ild

 t
o
 a

tt
e
n
d
 a

 f
a
it
h
 s

c
h
o
o
l,
 t
h
is

 d
o
e
s
 n

o
t 
m

e
a
n
 

th
a
t 
th

e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

is
 o

b
lig

e
d
 t
o
 o

ff
e
r 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 a

s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 b

y
 d

e
fa

u
lt
. 
 A

n
 a

p
p
e
a
ls

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 f
o
r 
p
a
re

n
ts

 t
o
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t 

d
is

c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt
 a

s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 i
n
 e

x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
a
l 
c
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
. 
 N

e
w

 g
u
id

e
lin

e
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 d

ra
w

n
 u

p
 f
o
r 
th

e
 p

a
n
e
l.
 T

h
e
 o

p
e
n
in

g
 

o
f 
s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
ix

th
 f
o
rm

s
 i
n
 f
o
rm

e
r 
1
1
-1

6
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 w
ill
 m

e
a
n
 t
h
a
t 
m

o
s
t 
y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
ill
 b

e
 a

b
le

 t
o
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 p

o
s
t-
1
6
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 

lo
c
a
lly

. 
 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 5
: 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 

 

N
o
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

1
3
. 

O
u
tl
in
e
 p
la
n
s
 t
o
 

m
o
n
it
o
r 
th
e
 a
c
tu
a
l 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
y
o
u
r 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 

 

T
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 
o
f 
a
p
p
e
a
ls

 f
o
r 
d
is

c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 w

ill
 b

e
 m

o
n
it
o
re

d
.  

  

 P
le

a
s
e
 u

s
e
 t

h
e
 a

c
ti

o
n

 p
la

n
 b

e
lo

w
 t

o
 s

u
m

m
a
ri

s
e
 a

ll
 o

f 
th

e
 k

e
y
 a

c
ti

o
n

s
, 
re

s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 a
n

d
 t

im
e
s
c
a
le

s
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u

lt
 o

f 
th

is
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t 
 

 A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
  

 P
le
a
s
e
 d
e
ta
il 
b
e
lo
w
 a
n
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 y
o
u
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
: 
 

 N
o
. 
A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
a
s
o
n
 f
o
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 /
 

c
o
n
ti
n
g
e
n
c
y
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
il
it
y
 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 d
a
te
 

1
 

D
ra
w
 u
p
 n
e
w
 g
u
id
e
lin
e
s
 f
o
r 
a
p
p
e
a
l 

p
a
n
e
l 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 

T
o
 
e
n
s
u
re
 
c
o
n
s
is
te
n
c
y
, 

c
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 
w
it
h
 
th
e
 
la
w
 

e
tc
. 

 
T
o
n
y
 
H
e
le
/ 
T
ri
c
ia
 

H
a
rw
o
o
d
 

3
1
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
1
3
 

2
 

M
o
n
it
o
r 
th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
p
p
e
a
ls
 m
a
d
e
 

a
n
d
 a
llo
w
e
d
 f
o
r 
d
is
c
re
ti
o
n
a
ry
 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 a
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
 

T
o
 
a
s
s
e
s
s
 
th
e
 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
f 

th
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 p
o
lic
y
 

 
T
o
n
y
 
H
e
le
/ 
T
ri
c
ia
 

H
a
rw
o
o
d
 

O
n
g
o
in
g
, 
te
rm
ly
 

 

Page 18



 

Meeting:   Overview and Scrutiny Board Date:  10 July 2013 

Wards Affected:  All 

Report Title:   Commercial Team Service Plan. Community Safety (incorporating the 

statutory service plans for Food Safety and the Councils Under Age Sales 

Policy for Tobacco Products and other age restricted goods.) 

Executive Lead Contact Details:   Councillor Excell, Executive Lead for Safer 

Communities, 01803 207579, 

robert.excell@torbay.gov.uk 

Supporting Officer Contact Details:  Steve Cox, Environmental Health Manager 

(Commercial), 01803 208025, 

steve.cox@torbay.gov.uk  

This is the draft report to the Council (including draft appendices).  The 

Overview and Scrutiny Board are requested to review the documents and make 

any comments and/or recommendations to the Council. 

 

1. Purpose and Introduction 

 

1.1 For Members to note the overall contents of the Commercial Team Service Plan (part 

of the  Community Safety Business Unit)  and to specifically agree the Food Safety 

Service Plan, and the Policy on the Protection of Children in relation to Tobacco Sales 

and Other Age Restricted Good. The Commercial Team Service Plan includes the 

current work plan of the Commercial Team within Community Safety which comprises 

of the functions of Food Safety, Trading Standards, Licensing, Health and Safety and 

Emergency Planning which are managed together as part of key front line services 

protecting the public 

 

1.2 By approving the Statutory Food Safety Service Plan, and the Policy on the Protection 

of Children in relation to Tobacco Sales and Other Age Restricted Goods, Members 

will ensure that businesses, residents, employees and the wider community of Torbay 

are protected and the resources allocated to the service are deployed to areas of 

highest risk.   

 

2. Proposed Decision for the Council 

 

2.1 (i) To approve the Statutory Food Safety Service Plan as set out in Appendix A 

of Appendix One. 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 19



(ii) To approve the Policy on the Protection of Children in relation to Tobacco 

Sales and Other Age Restricted Goods as set out in Appendix C of Appendix 

One. 

 

(iii) To note the overall workplan of the Commercial Team for 2013/14. 

 

2.2 Reason for Decision 

  

The Commercial Team Service Plan covers the work undertaken by the Commercial 

Team within Community Safety, all of which are statutory functions of the Council. 

Contained within this Service Plan is the Food Safety Service Plan which is a statutory 

plan required by the Food Standards Agency.  

 

Within the Service Plan is also the Policy on the Protection of Children in relation to 

Tobacco Sales and Other Age Restricted Goods. Torbay Council has a statutory 

obligation to review annually its Under Age Sales Policy with regards to enforcement 

action on tobacco and tobacco products in relation to the protection of children and 

young persons.  

 

Supporting Information 

4. Position 

 

4.1 The Commercial Team Service Plan covers the work undertaken by the Commercial 

Team, Community Safety, all of which are statutory functions of the Council. The 

resources allocated to this team have reduced year on year , as highlighted within the 

Service Plan. The plan outlines the risks associated with reduced resources in fulfilling 

its statutory obligations especially with regard to the level of food hygiene inspections 

which are undertaken  and the overall resilience of the service. 

 

4.2 As highlighted in previous reports to  the Community Safety Business Units now 

prioritises its workload based on risk and will always target first, those businesses, 

activities, emergencies and disease outbreaks considered to be of the highest risk.  

However its resilience to continue to deliver its full range of statutory duties and meet 

customer expectations, within the resources allocated  is now under significant strain.  

 

 Food Safety Service Plan 

 

4.2 Food Standards Agency guidance entitled Framework Agreement for Local Authority 

Food Law Enforcement details many requirements for Local Authorities, which had to 

be implemented from April 2001. These requirements include the production and 

implementation of an annual Food Safety Service Plan and a Food Sampling Policy.  

The guidance provides information on how enforcement services plans should be 

structured and what information they contain. Service plans developed under these 

arrangements will provide the basis on which Local Authorities are monitored and 

audited by the Food Standards Agency. 

Page 20



4.3 The document shown in Appendix A of the Commercial Team Service Plan is the 

Food Safety Service Plan. It includes food standards and food hygiene requirements 

in accordance with the Food Standards Agency prescribed format. It details matters 

such as achievements in service delivery, a review of last years implementation and 

this years work plan for 2013/14, this may alter during the year as the service is very 

reactive and responds to changes in legislation as and when is necessary.  

4.4 In November 2011 the Food Standards Agency audited Torbay Council. The key 

issues highlighted in their report were: 

• the large volume of seasonal businesses and the fact they need to inspected 
quickly; 

• the backlog of medium risk premises that require an intervention. 
 

An action plan was developed and agreed with the Food Standards Agency to 

mitigate the issues raised however with the current level of resources allocated to this 

service the Food Safety Team is not able to carry out 100% of interventions in all the 

premises as laid out in the statutory Food Law Code of Practice. This is reflected in 

the Food Safety Service Plan. This may result in further Food Standards Agency 

inspections as resources have reduced further since that inspection. 

4.5 The new Food Hygiene Rating Scheme has been a huge success, with over 600 

premises scoring 4 or 5. (5 being the highest score). It has helped drive up standards 

and has meant there has been a recent reduction in the number of high risk premises, 

which has helped mitigate some of the loss in resources. However, the team cannot 

remedy the continued resource gap to enable them to inspect all C rated premises, as 

previously identified.  

4.6 The Food Standard Agency’s ‘Official Food Control’ National Review has been 

brought to any early close. One option that was being considered was the 

centralisation of the food hygiene inspection work. They have concluded that the 

enforcement of food hygiene in premises should remain with the Local Authority, 

though this will be with greater scrutiny.  

 Policy on the Protection of Children in relation to Tobacco Sales and Other Age 

Restricted Goods 

4.7 Torbay Council is required by Section 5 of the Children and Young Persons 

(Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991 to consider, at least once a year, the extent to 

which it is appropriate to carry out a programme of enforcement action in relation to 

tobacco and tobacco products. This report fulfils the requirements of this annual 

review, but also extends its remit to other age restricted goods.  Through the control of 

age restricted products, Torbay Council has actively contributed to the reduction of 

anti-social behaviour and reduced the risks to children and other vulnerable groups. 

 

4.8 Cabinet last considered Torbay Council’s Policy regarding enforcement of legislation 

prohibiting the supply of tobacco and tobacco products to children and young people, 

in December 2011.  This report updates that Policy and renews our commitment to 

Page 21



test purchasing, along with other early interventions to ensure that children and young 

people across Torbay are protected. See Appendix C of Appendix One. 

 

4.9 This Policy contributes directly to delivering Torbay Council’s corporate priorities and 

delivers our statutory responsibilities. It also links with the Council’s children’s and 

young peoples safeguarding and safety responsibilities.  

 
4.10 The Policy also relates to the Community Plan, in particular to the theme of 

‘Community Safety’.  There are strong links between drug and alcohol problems and 

crime.  The Policy is aimed at protecting children and young people from the harmful 

effects of cigarettes and alcohol. It also encompasses the sale of fourteen other age 

restricted products, including knives and solvents. 

 

4.11 The Policy is linked to Torbay Council’s responsibilities as a Licensing Authority, 

under the Licensing Act 2003. Trading Standards are statutory consultees under the 

Licensing Act 2003, in relation to ‘The Protection of Children from Harm’. The Policy 

also contributes to Torbay Council’s agenda for safeguarding children under the 

Children Act 2004 and the responsibilities of the Every Child Matters agenda.  

4.12 During the past 12 months only one Test Purchasing Operation has been undertaken. 

There has been and continues to be difficulties in getting willing volunteers to 

undertake these test purchases. This resulted in a different approach whereby a 

young looking 19 was used. Although this means that no offences are committed if a 

sale takes place it does test the policy of the premises in question. Eight premises 

were visited and three sold tobacco and alcohol and six didn’t ask for identification. 

Those premises have been written to and advice has been given to ensure their own 

policies are followed. 

5. Possibilities and Options 

 

5.1 The Council has approved a Food Safety Plan and an Under Age Sales Policy 

annually.  The tabled Service Plan ensures that the resources allocated to the teams 

through the budget process will be deployed to best affect and deal with the areas of 

highest risk.  In supporting the recommendations the council would be providing the 

baseline against which any future Food Standards Agency audits will be undertaken .If 

Members are not minded to approve the plans, then further negotiation will need to be 

undertaken with the Executive Head Community Safety and Executive Lead. 

 

6. Equal Opportunities 

 

6.1 The recommendations in this report will ensure that the resources allocated to the 

team are targeted at areas of highest risk.   

 

7. Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 

 
7.1 This report is not recommending any direct commissioning of services and therefore 

does not have a direct impact with Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012.  The 

Page 22



report seeks the endorsement of the statutory work already undertaken directly by the 
Council. 

 
 

 

8. Consultation 

 

8.1 No external consultation has specifically been undertaken on the Commercial Team 

Service Plan although the budget allocated to the team was subject to public 

consultation through the Councils overall budget processes during 2012/13. Though 

Consultation does takes place on key pieces of work, such as Policy reviews and on 

many applications made under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005. 

 

9. Risks 

 

9.1 Torbay Council is required to produce an annual Food Safety Service Plan, so 

providing that is agreed then there is no immediate risk. There is however a risk 

associated with the declining resources and the resilience within the Commercial 

Team which may have an impact on the delivery of the services it provides including 

food hygiene inspections. 

 

9.2 Torbay Council is required by Section 5 of the Children and Young Persons 

(Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991 to consider the Policy on the Protection of 

Children in relation to Tobacco Sales, at least once in every period of 12 months, the 

extent to which it is appropriate to carry out in the area a programme of enforcement 

action in relation to tobacco and tobacco products.  This is a statutory requirement 

with limited impact, as the work is already ongoing. 

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix One  Commercial Team Service Plan 

 

Additional Information 

 

 

Page 23



Commercial Team Service Plan DRAFT (27
th

 June 2013) 

 - 1 - 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Community Safety 
 

Commercial Team Service Plan 
 

2013/14 
 

 

DRAFT

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1

Page 24



Commercial Team Service Plan DRAFT (27
th

 June 2013) 

 - 2 - 

Contents 

 

Introduction to Commercial Team  

Scope of the Commercial Teams responsibilities………………………………………  3 

 

What has been achieved in 2012-13? 

Food Safety……………………………………………………………………………………………….  3 

Trading Standards……………………………………………………………………………………..  5 

Licensing……………………………………………………………………………………………………  6 

External Health and Safety Enforcement…………………………………………………..  8 

Internal Health and Safety and Emergency Planning…………………………………  9 

 

Resource reduction, the impact and workplan for 2013-14 

Resource reduction and impact…………………………………………………………………  10 

Audit inspections 2012-13…………………………………………………………………………  11 

Workplan for 2013-14……………………………………………………………………………….  12 

Health and Safety Service Plan………………………………………………………………….. 12 

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix A  Food Safety Service Plan 2013-14 

Appendix B  No Cold Calling Homes survey 2012 

Appendix C  Trading Standards Underage Sales Policy 

Appendix D  Licensing Act 2003 application trends 

Appendix E  Internal Health and Safety and Emergency Planning Annual Report 

Appendix F  Gas Safety Report 

Appendix G  Commercial Team workplan 2013-14 

Appendix H  Health and Safety Executive Intervention Plan 

Appendix I    Devon Chief Environmental Health Officer’s Sub Group workplan for 

H&S 

Page 25



Commercial Team Service Plan DRAFT (27
th

 June 2013) 

 - 3 - 

Introduction to the Commercial Team 

 

Scope of the Commercial Teams responsibilities 

 

The Commercial Team within Community Safety Business unit is responsible for a 

range of functions whose officers primarily work with businesses to support and help 

them deliver their business aims.  

 

These visits are broadly welcomed because officers advise and support business 

interpreting what they need to do to ensure they provide their business safely and to 

comply with the law. This saves businesses significant time and money in researching 

the law, seeking advice or employing expensive consultants.  

 

The functions broadly fall into five areas 

 

Food safety & Infectious disease control 

Trading Standards 

Licensing 

Health & Safety 

Internal Health & Safety & Emergency Planning  

 

What has been achieved in 2012-13? 

 

Not withstanding the great pressures on the Commercial Team and the department, 

a huge amount of great work continues to be done to help businesses, to maintain 

the health of the population, address complaints, support and protect the old and 

vulnerable and when necessary enforce against the excesses of a few. 

 

Food Safety 

 

Case study 1 

 

 

National Food Hygiene Rating Scheme  

 

In November 2011 the national Food Hygiene scheme was 

launched in Torbay with a view to driving up food safety 

standards in the Bay and to provide consumers with an 

informed choice on where they should eat. To date 800 food 

premises have been rated in the Bay with over 600 scoring 

either a 4 or 5. However about 80 premises are still below 

the level of basic food hygiene compliance, therefore these 

premises need a considerable amount of time and effort to 

get them up to a compliant level. The majority of these are 

due to inadequate or no paperwork. 

 

There is evidence to say that the food hygiene scheme is 

working  as the number of A and B risk premises, the highest 

risk premises in the Bay fallen by half from 130 to 55. 

 

Page 26



Commercial Team Service Plan DRAFT (27
th

 June 2013) 

 - 4 - 

A survey undertaken revealed that  

 

• 90% of the respondents were positive or very 

positive about the usefulness of the information 

given 

• 91% were positive or very positive about the report 

left at the time of the inspection  

• 69% felt that the scheme is having a positive or very 

positive scheme in Torbay 

 

More information on the scheme and survey results is 

available in Appendix A, The Food Safety Service Plan. 

 

Case study 2 

 

 

E Coli 0157  investigation   

 

In 2012/13 the Food Safety Team were involved in the 

investigation of an outbreak of E Coli 0157, a serious 

infections disease which can be fatal.  There were 4 cases of 

E Coli 0157 two of which were children under 5 who were 

hospitalised. As a result of a swift response and initial 

investigation the outbreak was contained and did not spread 

any further around the Bay. 

 

 Case Study 3 

 

 
 

Exporting of  fish to China and America 

 

A number of the approved fishery establishments in Brixham 

and Paignton rely heavily on their export trade to countries 

such as China and America. The Food Safety team play a 

significant role in the fishing industry of Torbay as they 

regularly inspect the Fish Market at Brixham, give support 

and guidance to  the fishery establishments who need to be 

approved. The fishery establishments cannot trade without 

being given an export certificate for every batch from the 

Food Safety Team. 

 

The Food Safety Team also take water and flesh samples 

from the mussel bed off Brixham to ensure the mussels do 

not cause a public health problem. 

 

 

A full summary of the work of the Food Safety Team is included within the Food 

Safety Service Plan, which is a statutory requirement and is attached, see Appendix 

A. 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



Commercial Team Service Plan DRAFT (27
th

 June 2013) 

 - 5 - 

Trading Standards 

 

Case study 1 

 

 

Complaints about Fair trading, Consumer Protection, 

Counterfeiters 

 

For several years civil matters such as whether a product 

works or a service meets an expected quality have been 

dealt with by Consumer Direct and now Citizen’s Advice 

Bureau. However the way products are sold, their safety, 

door step crime and fraud are criminal matters and 

investigated by Trading Standards. This included many 

complaints originating from residents on Park Homes sites. 

 

In 2012/13 the team received with 3648 complaints, 

although many are civil matters and not investigated further. 

Those that were criminal resulted in advice being given, 

written warnings been issued and two formal cautions & two 

prosecutions.  

 

Case study 2 

 

 

Doorstep Crime and No Cold Calling Homes 

 

In 2012/13 the Trading Standards Team further extend the 

number of properties now displaying No Cold Calling Homes 

stickers in over 2000 properties, as well as continuing to 

raise awareness of the scheme. The scheme has now been 

extend to the whole of Devon and Cornwall Constabulary 

area with much of the partnership scheme being based upon 

the original Torbay scheme. A survey was undertaken in 

Torbay that identified some truly great benefits.  

 

• 97% of these residents stated that they were using 

the sticker provided to them. 

• 98% of residents agreed that the information 

provided within the pack was easy to understand and 

79% had recommended the scheme to friends or 

family members. 

• 93% of scheme members feel more confident about 

avoiding and dealing with doorstep sellers and bogus 

callers since receiving their pack and displaying their 

sticker. 

• SINCE displaying the sticker 89% of residents 

reported a reduction in the number of doorstep 

sellers calling at their door and 96% believe that it 

helps to deter doorstep sellers and bogus callers.   

 

A copy of the survey is attached in Appendix B. 

 

Page 28



Commercial Team Service Plan DRAFT (27
th

 June 2013) 

 - 6 - 

 Case Study 3 

 

 

Policy on the Protection of Children in relation to Tobacco 

Sales and Other Age Restricted Goods  

 

Torbay Council Trading Standards Officers undertake 

investigations of underage sales based upon intelligence and 

complaints. It Policy on the Protection of Children in relation 

to Tobacco Sales and Other Age Restricted Goods for 2013-

14 is attached in Appendix C for agreement.  

 

In 2012-13 one underage sales operation was undertaken. 

Due to significant problems recruiting children to this role an 

operation was undertaken using a 19 year old. In June 2013 

8 premises were visited for alcohol and tobacco. Since all will 

operate a Challenge 21 policy it was disappointing to have 

three sales. These premises committed no offences, 

however advice and a warning was given about future 

targeted work.  

 

 

Licensing 

 

Case study 1 

 

 

Licensing Applications 

 

The majority of applications are either Licensing Act 

applications for the sale of alcohol and/or to provide 

entertainment, or for Hackney Carriages, Private Hire 

Vehicles & their drivers. In addition however there are 

applications for Pet Shops, Animal Boarding, Dangerous Wild 

Animals, Gambling, Lotteries, Street Collection, Street 

Trading, Tattooing, Fireworks to name some. 

 

In total 2127 (draft figure - still to include some additional 

data) applications were received. Of those 714 have 

statutory deadlines and in virtually all cases these were met.  

 

There was one review of a Licensing Act Premises Licence 

and two appeals of Licensing Committee decisions, one 

under the Licensing Act 2003 and one for a revocation of taxi 

driver’s licence, during this period.  

 

Appendix D highlights the trends over the last 5 years for 

major applications. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



Commercial Team Service Plan DRAFT (27
th

 June 2013) 

 - 7 - 

Case study 2 

 

 

New Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Policy 

 

In 2012/13 the Licensing Team wrote, consulted upon and 

had agreed by Licensing Committee a new up to date policy 

bringing in a number of new measures.  

 

The new measures included introducing a driving standard 

assessment from new drivers and those who obtain 7 

penalty points; new licensing objectives to aid decision 

making; a more robust conviction policy; extending the 

working life of Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles to 10 years in 

an attempt to increase the percentage of the fleet that is 

wheelchair accessible and some changes in vehicles 

specifications for the modern era. This also incorporated 

recent changes in the legislation.  

 

 Case Study 3 

 

 

New Gambling Policy 

 

In 2012/13 the Licensing Team as part of their statutory 

responsibly, updated, consulted upon and had agreed by Full 

Council a new Gambling Statement of Principles. This lays 

out the principles by which Torbay Council will exercise their 

functions under the Gambling Act 2005.  

 

The document includes the procedures and criteria by which 

a bidding process could commence for the Small Casino 

Licence. 

 

 

 Case Study 4 

 

 
 

Renewal of Purple Flag 

 

In 2012/13, in partnership with the Business Improvement 

District, The Police and our colleagues in the Neighbourhood 

Team, the Licensing team helped make an application to 

renew the Purple Flag, which was successfully granted the 

previous year.  

 

This application was successful and built upon the already 

great work undertaken by all partners on Torquay 

harbourside, and in addition to those mentioned above 

thanks should also go to many of the licensees and the 

Street Pastors for their continuing hard work.   

 

 

Page 30



Commercial Team Service Plan DRAFT (27
th

 June 2013) 

 - 8 - 

External Health & Safety Enforcement 

 

Case study 1 

 

 

Gas Safety 
 

There is national data to show that gas safety is often 

disregarded by commercial food businesses and can lead to 

serious consequences if not managed properly. As such in 

2012/13 officers from the Commercial Team undertook a 

piece of work in relation to gas safety in food businesses in 

Torbay. They carried out 248 gas safety inspections of which 

121 were found to be non compliant. As a result of their 

findings a number of different actions were taken to secure 

compliance, there included the service of formal 

improvements notices and the issue of a formal caution. In 

the case of one unregistered gas fitter reported to the HSE 

during this work he was prosecuted as a result. 

 

Case study 2 

 

 

Park Home (Mobile Home) Site Safety & Licensing 

 

In 2012/13 officers from the Licensing and Public Protection 

Team were involved in a considerable amount work 

protecting the health and safety and general civil rights of 

elderly and vulnerable residents in some of Torbay’s Park 

Home sites.  

 

Some of the issues that have been dealt with include 

unstable banking, electrical safety, contractual rights, the 

selling of homes without intimidation and more general 

health and safety issues such as the safety of walkways, 

maintenance of sewage pumping stations to name a few. 

 

Case study 3  

 

 
 

Safer Workplace Better Business Pack 

 

This pack developed by the Devon Health and Safety Sub 

Group has been used now for a couple of years to help small 

and medium sized businesses comply with health and safety. 

In 2013/14 it is hoped that this pack will be further 

developed into a national health and safety management on 

line tool. Devon is working with a private sector company to 

realise this potential. This will enable small and medium 

businesses across the UK sign up to using this pack.  

 

 

Page 31



Commercial Team Service Plan DRAFT (27
th

 June 2013) 

 - 9 - 

No Health and safety Service Plan has been written this year as the emphasis has 

changed on the number and frequency of inspections, see Workplan for 2013-14 for 

more information below. 

 

Internal Health and safety and Emergency Planning 

 

Case study 1 

 

 
 

Accidents in the workplace 

 

There has been a 21% decrease in reported accidents in the 

workplace, resulting in a 7% decrease in Notifiable Accidents 

made to the Health and Safety Executive. 

 

Case study 2 

 

 

Training of Council and School staff 

 

To help fulfil Torbay Council’s statutory obligations under 

the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, 407 employees 

attended training courses and another 2400 completed on 

line training through the new i-learn portal.  

 

This will help Torbay Council protect itself from financial 

claims arising out of negligence or ignorance and help to 

prevent unnecessary inspections by the Health and Safety 

Executive. 

 

Case study 3 

 

 
 

Emergency incidents 

 

There were numerous and very varied emergency incidents 

during the last year, including 2 ships, one which sunk; a 

number of fires and discovered ordnance; and the very wet 

weather. The latter resulted in some significant landslips and 

several emergencies, with properties having to be vacated, 

residents re-homed and significant work picked up by 

Community Safety to make the homes and locations safe.  

 

 

The Annual Internal Health and Safety and Emergency Planning report is attached in 

Appendix E. This includes the strategy for future work. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 32



Commercial Team Service Plan DRAFT (27
th

 June 2013) 

 - 10 - 

 

Resource Reduction, the impact and workplan for 2013-14 

 

Resource reduction & impact 

 

Over the past 3 years (2011-14) the resources have reduced from 29.4 full time 

equivalents (FTE) to 23.4 FTE which has resulted in all but the most critical work 

being undertaken. The following work has therefore ceased 

 

• No discretionary work is now undertaken. 

• No low risk inspections are undertaken. 

• No medium risk inspections are undertaken, except in Food premises, where 

it remains a statutory requirement of the Food Standards Agency or if the 

intelligence identifies a need. 

• Complaints are not investigated unless there is deemed to be a serious risk of 

injury, serious health implications, or where there is serious consumer 

detriment or significant nuisance particularly to the old and vulnerable. 

• Accidents are not investigated unless there has been a serious injury or a 

fatality. 

• Civil complaints are not longer investigated or advice given  

 

The impact of these resource reductions is that the team no longer can meet all of its 

statutory functions, which could result in intervention by particularly the Food 

Standards Agency. A second significant consequence is that there no longer is any 

resilience left within the team. The impact is if there is any long term sickness or 

maternity leave, this places significant pressure on the team and as a consequence 

the remaining statutory functions can not be delivered against targets.  

 

This is shown as a diagrammatical representation below, where it compares the 

team’s resources against statutory function for the current year 2013-14.  

 

All staff have an input into a varying number of the pieces of work and the 

management team move staff around both the Commercial Team and the 

Department as a whole; to try and remain as close to the statutory minimum as 

possible but as can be seen below the statutory minimum can no longer be achieved 

in all areas. This presents an increased risk to the population of Torbay and to the 

Authority.  

 

In almost every case advice and support is being given to businesses, so the fewer 

visits that are made then the less advice and support that can be given to those 

businesses. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



Commercial Team Service Plan DRAFT (27
th

 June 2013) 

 - 11 - 

 

In the table Green = No risk; yellow = low/medium risk; pink = medium/high risk & 

red = very high risk 

 

Statutory Delivery 

 

 

Statutory Activity 

Above 

Statutory 

Minimum  

At 

Statutory 

Minimum 

Below 

Statutory 

Minimum  

Risk to the 

authority 

Food Safety Inspections/ Food Hygiene 

Rating Scheme/Food Standards 

Inspections 

    

Infectious disease control/ emergency 

incidents 

 

  

 

  

Trading Standards - consumer 

detriment (fair trading, consumer 

protection, counterfeit goods etc.) 

  

 

  

Trading Standards - Protecting the 

Vulnerable/No Cold Calling 

Homes/Test Purchasing 

  

 

 

  

Administering Licensing 

Applications/Committee 

hearings/Policy development 

  

 

 

  

Licensing enforcement/ partnership 

working with Police and NTE 

 

  

 

 

  

Health and Safety 

Inspections/Interventions/ accidents 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Complaints (Noise from licensed 

premises, Food Safety & H&S) 

  

 

 

  

Park Homes inspections/ complaints/ 

administration 

 

    

Public safety at events, football 

ground etc 

 

  

 

 

  

Emergency Planning & Internal H&S  

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

Audit Inspection 2012-13 

 

Devon Audit Partnerships undertook an audit of Emergency Planning in 2011-12 with 

a report being completed in July 2012. The key findings were that the ability to 

respond to an Emergency was at a ‘good standard’, though the emergency plans 

needed a review to update them. There was however concerns about how Torbay 

Council would deliver Business Continuity in the case of an emergency. Work is 

planned in this area. 

Page 34



Commercial Team Service Plan DRAFT (27
th

 June 2013) 

 - 12 - 

 

Devon Audit Partnerships undertook an audit of the majority of the Commercial 

team during 2012-13, though a final report has not been completed yet. This 

included Food Safety, Trading Standards, Licensing and Health and Safety functions. 

Interim feedback, suggests the functions are working to a good standard, though this 

could be subject to change. The final report will however identify some areas of risk 

and consideration to how these maybe addressed.  

 

Work plan for 2013-14  

 

The workplan for Commercial Team is simply to deliver its statutory duty to the best 

of its ability and to respond to emergencies. Its efforts are focused primarily on the 

premises and incidents of highest risk and to protect the most vulnerable in Torbay. 

To administer the licensing applications and undertake enforcement work in 

partnership with the Police and other agencies to ensure the night time economy, 

events and the football ground remain safe. 

 

This will include continuing with the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme inspections, the 

Gas Safety inspections (See Appendix F), to extend the No Cold Calling Homes 

scheme, and to assess the evidence for making an Early Morning Restriction Order 

application for part or all of the night time economy. 

 

Internal Health and Safety and Emergency Planning have joined the Commercial 

Team, bringing an additional 4 staff into the team. During 2013-14 opportunities will 

be reviewed to further improve the already good working relationship.  

 

It should be noted, however, with the reduction in staffing levels and resources that 

it will not be able to deliver as much work as in 2012-13. Workplan is attached in 

Appendix G. 

 

Health and Safety Service Plan 

 

There has been a significant drop both nationally and locally in the resources put into 

health and safety enforcement. It has been decided that no Health and Safety 

Service Plan is currently needed. The Team work very closely with both the Health 

and Safety Executive and other Devon and Cornwall authorities and agree a 

workplan across the region. I attach the two plans; one is the Health and Safety 

Executive intervention plan, where Torbay will be involved in only the Gas Safety 

work, partly due to it having completed the work in the other areas in recent years,  

and the other is the Devon Chief Environmental Health Officer Sub Group workplan. 

See Appendices H & I 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



 

2013-2014 

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 2

Page 36



 
 

 2 

 

Food Safety- why does it matter to Torbay? 
 

 

Access to safe, healthy food is a fundamental basic right of 
the community of Torbay. 
 
By ensuring that the food produced and sold in Torbay is safe 
to eat the Food and Safety team plays an important role in 
improving the health of the public in Torbay. 

  

 

The National Food Hygiene scheme was launched in Torbay 
in November 2011 and over 800 food premises are now rated. 
Because of the scheme many premises have gone from a 0 or 
1 to a 5 and we have reduced our number of high risk 
premises by half. 
 
We do not however currently meet the full range of statutory 
requirements set down on us by the Food Standards Agency 
due to the lack of staffing resources. Therefore not all food 
premises get inspected and hence are not rated under the 
scheme. 
 

  

     E Coli 0157 

The food safety team deal with a number of infectious disease 
outbreaks in Torbay. In 2012/13 the team dealt with an E Coli 
0157 outbreak where a number of cases were hospitalised in 
intensive care. Without the teams interventions outbreaks 
such as this may spread further and cause increased illness 
and infection in the community. 

  

 

Fishery establishments in Torbay cannot export their product 
without the support that is given to them by the Food and 
Safety team. In addition the team signs every Health 
Certificate that is needed before they can export to countries 
such as China and America. This help and support has 
resulted in a number of fishery premises expanding their 
export trade over the last couple of years. 
 

  

 

Recent research carried out by the Food Standards  Agency 
has shown that small to medium sized businesses particularly 
value the advice and support that local authority food safety 
teams give to them. 
 
This is also backed up by a recent survey of small businesses 
in Torbay which identified that the Food and Safety team are 
their main source and support and advice. 
 

  

Page 37



 
 

 3 

 

 

 

TORBAY COUNCIL 

FOOD SAFETY SERVICE PLAN 2013/14 

 
CONTENTS         Page No 
 
1.0 Service Aims and Objectives       

1.2 Aims and Objectives      4 
 1.3 Links to Corporate Objectives and Plans    4 
 
2.0 Background          

2.1 Authority Profile       5 
2.2 Organisational Structure      5 
2.3 Scope of the Food Service      5 
2.4 Demands on the Food Service     6 
2.5 Enforcement Policy       7 

 
3.0 Service Delivery 

3.1 Food Premises Inspections     8 
3.2 Food Complaints       9 
3.3 Primary Authority Principle      9 
3.4 Advice to Business       9 
3.5 Food Inspection and Sampling     9 
3.6 Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related   

Infectious Disease       10 
3.7 Food Safety Incidents      10 
3.8 Liaison with Other Organisations     11 
3.9 Food Safety Promotion      11 

 
4.0 Resources          

4.1 Staffing Allocation       12 
4.2 Staff Development Plan      13 

 
5.0 Quality Assessment 

5.1 Quality Assessment       13 
 
6.0 Review Process 

6.1 Review against Service Plan     14 
6.2 Identification of any achievements and Variation from the  

Service Plan        14 
6.3 Targets and Areas of Improvement for 2013/14   16   
 
Appendix A 
Organisational chart for the Service      

 

Appendix B 
Food Hygiene Rating Scheme – how are we doing? 

Page 38



 
 

 4 

 TORBAY COUNCIL 
FOOD SAFETY SERVICE PLAN 

 
1.0 Service Aims and Objectives 

 

1.1 Aims and 
Objectives 

 This Food Safety Service Plan is required under the 
Framework Agreement by the Food Standards Agency. The 
plan is concerned with food safety enforcement work for 
which Torbay Council is responsible for. This plan is a Key 
Policy document and as such requires member approved to 
ensure there is transparency and accountability and once 
approved the plan is published on the Councils website. 

    
   The Food Safety Service has the following vision:  

 

• To improve public health and safety through 
partnership, education and enforcement 

    
   Torbay Council’s Food Safety Service Aims and 

Objectives are: 
 
Aim 1: To promote, through education and enforcement, the 
sale and/or production of food which is fit and without risk to 
health. 

    

   Objective 1.1: To undertake a risk-based programme of 
inspections and interventions in food premises in accordance 
with the Food Standards Agency Food Law Code of Practice 

    

   Objective 1.2: To register food businesses in accordance 
with EC852/2004 and the Food Hygiene (England) 
Regulations 2006. 

    

   Aim 2: To prevent and control the spread of food borne 
illness through education and enforcement. 

    

   Objective 2.1: To provide a risk-based response to all 
notifications of food related illness or suspected illness in 
order to minimise effects on the community. 

    

   Objective 2.2: To carry out pro-active sampling in 
accordance with nationally and locally set programmes. 

    

   Objective 2.3: To provide information, advice and education 
on food safety and public health issues to the business and 
residential community. 

    

   Objective 2.4:  To respond to high risk complaints 
concerning food and food safety. 

    

   Aim3: To take action on a consistent, transparent and 
proportionate basis. 

    

1.2 Links to Corporate 
Objectives and 
Plans 

 The Council’s Corporate priorities fed from the Community 
Plan sets out a number of corporate goals.  One of these 
goals has direct links to the Food Safety Service: 

Page 39



 
 

 5 

 

• Working for a healthy, prosperous and happy Bay 
 
 

• Public Health. With the introduction of the Public 
Health function now sitting within the Local Authority 
the Food and Safety Team have an important role to 
play in some of the aims and objectives of the Torbay 
Public Health Strategy based on the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment. 

    

  
2.0 Background   
 

2.1 Authority Profile  Torbay Council is a Unitary Authority which comprises of the 
three main towns of Torquay, Paignton and Brixham, on the 
south coast of England. Tourism is the dominant industry with 
the majority of employees working in the service industry. 
There is also a fishing industry predominantly based in the 
port of Brixham where there is a large fish market. 
 
More details on the profile of the Authority can be found on 
the website www.torbay.gov.uk 

    
2.2 Organisational 

Structure 

 The chart attached at Appendix A shows the structure of the 
Food and Safety Team. 
 
The Food and Safety Team sits within the Commercial Team 
of the Community Safety Business Unit and comprises both 
Trading Standards Officers and Environmental Health 
Officers.  

    
   Additional support services:- 
    
   Additionally appointed specialist services are provided by the 

Food Examiner at the NAMAS accredited Health Protection 
Agency Laboratory in Porton Down and a Public Analyst from 
PASS Laboratory Services based in Wolverhampton. 
 
Advice and support is also provided by Public Health 
England. 

    
2.3 Scope of the Food 

Service 

 The Food Safety service comprises a range of key functions: 
 

• Programmed food hygiene and food standards 
inspections of food premises within the Bay. 

• Implementing and Promoting the National Food Hygiene 
Rating Scheme across Torbay 

• Programmed High risk health and safety inspections and 
accident investigations 

• Responding to food alerts and incidents of food fraud. 

• Investigating food and food related complaints and other 
service requests on a risk based approach. 

• Implementing an annual food sampling programme 

• Registering food premises and mobile vehicles 

• Assessing imported food and its origin. 

Page 40



 
 

 6 

• Support and advice to food businesses. 

• Investigating cases of food related illness and other 
infectious diseases. 

• Issuing of health certificates for the export of food 
products. 

• Specific duties with regard to regulating Brixham Fish 
Market and the mussel harvesting beds at Fishcombe. 
 

The Food and Safety Team has the main responsibility for 
food standards enforcement work, this work is carried out by 
both qualified Environmental Health Officers and Trading 
Standards Officers within this team. 
 
The Food Safety service operates from Commerce House 
between 9.00am and 5.00pm, Monday to Friday. Early 
morning and late night visits are also undertaken as required. 
 
Emergency food safety issues are currently directed initially 
to a 24 hour central control team and then onto authorised 
food officers as required. Community Safety does not have a 
formal Out of Hours Service. 

    
2.4 Demands on the 

Food Service 
 

 On 1st April 2013 the Council had 1928 registered food 
businesses. The risk profile of these premises shown in Table 
1 has been determined in accordance with the FSA’s Food 
Law Code of Practice. 
 

Table 1 

    Priority Premises 
Category 

Frequency 
of 

Inspection/ 
Intervention 

Total number of 
premises in 

category 
( April 2013) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  A 
B 
C 
D 
E 
U 

        
 

Total 

High 
High 
High 
Other 
Other 

- 
 
 

   6 months 
 12 months 
 18 months 
 24 months 
 36 months 

Awaiting 
inspection 

 

4 
55 
783 
352 
609 
124 
 
 

1928 

 

    

   The range of premises is as follows:- Primary producers 9, 
Manufacturers and packers 31, Importers and exporters 2, 
Distributers 8, Retailers 419 and Restaurants and 
caterers1446. 
 
Torbay also has 17 Approved fishery establishments which 
can take up a lot of time and staffing resource particularly in 
the area of exporting their products outside of the EU. 

    

Page 41



 
 

 7 

   Brixham Fish Quay is also a significant cost driver to the work 
of the Food and Safety Team with its daily auction and 
regular exports to the EU and other nations and involves at 
least fortnightly food hygiene inspections by officers. There is 
also a mussel bed off Brixham which requires monthly 
sampling and has Category B status which means the 
mussels are required to be purified before sale.  

    

 
 
 
 

  The Torbay area has already been described primarily as a 
tourist area and there are a large number of hotels and other 
tourist attractions which are only open during the tourist 
season between Easter and October. There is also a high 
turnover of food businesses in Torbay putting an additional 
pressure on the Food and safety Team, in 2012/13 the 
turnover of food businesses was 14%. 

    

   Additional demands for 2013/14 include: 
 
At the end of the 2012/13 due to budget pressures the 
Commercial Team lost one food qualified Senior EHO who 
moved across to the Neighbourhoods Team – the knock on 
effect of this means that the remaining food officers will be 
allocated  more health and safety work  
 
In 2013/14 the Food Team will be carrying out a gas safety 
intervention which will involve them auditing food premises in 
relation to gas safety issues at the same time as carrying out 
food safety inspections. This work has already shown very 
effective outcomes so will be continued. 
 
As Torbay is a Unitary Authority, Public Health now sits as a 
function within the authority. Whilst this is still in the early 
stages of development the food and safety team will have an 
important role to play in some of the work that comes out of 
the Torbay Public Health Strategy. 

    

2.5 Enforcement Policy  The Community Safety Enforcement Policy sets out what 
food businesses and others being regulated can expect from 
the service. The Policy is based on the principles contained 
within the Regulators Compliance Code.  
 
All formal enforcement actions such as prosecutions are 
taken before the departments Enforcement Panel made up of 
officers from Community Safety and the Councils Legal team. 
 
The service is committed to ensuring the active 
implementation and monitoring of the Council’s Corporate 
Equality and Diversity Policy, which states that services will 
be provided in a fair and equitable way to all groups and 
individuals in the community.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



 
 

 8 

3.0 Service Delivery  

 
3.1 Food Premises 

Inspections 
 Torbay Council has a number of internal performance 

indicators relating to food safety.  For 2013/14 these are as 
follows:- 
 
● Number of high risk food premises (food hygiene) 
inspected (Target 100 %) 
 
● Number of high risk food standards premises inspected 
(Target 100%) 
  
The inspection programme is based on the inspection rating 
scheme and the intervention Strategy contained in the FSA 
Food Law Code of Practice.  This Code of Practice is due to 
be amended in June 2013 which may alter how the Food 
Team carries out its inspections. 
 
New potentially low risk businesses are contacted by a 
business support unit to ensure that they have basic 
information for compliance and to identity any that might be 
of higher risk which will then be inspected.  

    
  

 
 

 As there is a considerable turnover of premises in Torbay it is 
currently not possible to inspect them within 28 days however 
they are all assessed following receipt of the food registration 
form and those of a high risk nature are given priority. 

    
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 All premises where a statutory notice has been served or 
which are found to require significant work to be carried out 
will be subject to a secondary visit within an agreed 
timescale.  It is estimated that at least 103 re-visits will be 
carried out in addition to the programmed inspections and 
alternative intervention initiatives. There may also be a 
number of businesses formally requesting to be revisited for 
the purposes of rescoring under the Food Hygiene Rating 
Scheme. In 2012/13 the number of requests for rescoring 
was 57. 

    
   Environmental Health currently has an estimated FTE of 5.8 

officers (See Table 4), working on food safety issues.  This is 
a reduction of 0.7 FTE from last year. 
 
The primary objectives when carrying out interventions are in 
accordance with the Food Standards Agency Food Law 
Code of Practice, however, a special emphasis is placed on 
the level of compliance with the requirements for 
documented control systems. Specific consideration is also 
given to whether samples need to be taken during routine 
food hygiene inspection work. 

    

Page 43



 
 

 9 

3.2 Food Complaints 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 The Environmental Health Service responds to all complaints 
about food or food premises made to the Council however 
deciding whether or not they require investigation will be 
done by using a risk based approach to ensure that 
resources are used effectively. 
There were 31 complaints about defective food received up 
to the end of March 2013. There were also 623 other service 
requests received relating to issues such as unhygienic food 
premises, requests for information and advice that were 
handled by the Food Safety team in 2012/13. 

    
3.3 Primary Authority 

Scheme 
 The previous Home Authority Scheme has now been 

replaced by the Primary Authority Scheme under the new 
Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2009. This aims 
for the first time to give companies the right to form a 
statutory partnership with a single local authority. The 
objective of this is to provide robust and reliable advice on 
compliance that other Councils must take into account of 
when carrying out inspections or dealing with non 
compliance. 

    
   The Food and Safety Team are currently in the process of 

setting up a Primary Authority partnership with a national 
company who has its Head Office in Torbay. 

    
3.4 Advice to Business  The Authority is committed to improving food safety 

standards through both education and enforcement. In order 
to use limited resources most effectively, advice is targeted 
and is as follows: 
 

• During inspections and as part of follow up 
documentation; 

• Via electronic Food Safety Newsletters  

• New Business advice  

• Through guidance information available on the Food 
Safety teams fully revised website pages 

• Distribution of relevant food safety material to food 
businesses particularly via the website. 

• Advice and information is given to businesses requesting 
guidance either by telephone or e-mail.  

    
   During 2012/13 the Food Safety Team further developed 

links into the business community by working with the Torbay 
Business Forum, The Business Improvement Districts, The 
Tourism Company and the Torbay Development Agency to 
further promote the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme across the 
Bay. 

    
3.5 
 

Food Inspection 
and Sampling 

 The Service has in place a documented and publicised 
sampling policy and a separate documented procedure and 
programme.  

    

Page 44



 
 

 10 

   The sampling programme is drawn up in consultation with the 
Devon Chief Environmental Health Officers Food Sub Group 
and the SWERCOTS Food Group, in partnership with the 
Food Examiner from Public Health England Laboratory 
covering the Torbay area and the Public Analyst at PASS 
Laboratory Services.  

    
   The programme covers authority, county, national and when 

required European sampling objectives. Each Authority is 
allocated sampling credits by Public Health England in order 
to undertake food hygiene sampling and food standards 
sampling which is resourced from an allocated budget within 
the Food Safety overall budget.  
 
During 2012/13 236 samples were taken of a range of 
products including raw and cooked meat, ready to eat deli 
foods, environmental swabbing and mussel samples. Food 
standards sampling also included bread composition, ice 
cream for composition, crushed ice drinks for added colours, 
raw and cooked potatoes for added preservatives and 
alcohol testing to check for substitution. Most of the results 
from these samples were found to be satisfactory and no 
further follow up action was required, however some of the 
samples were found to be unsatisfactory and follow up work 
was required to secure compliance. For example, in one 
sample there was a higher than legal limit of added colour 
and therefore the business was given advice on how to 
reduce its level of added colour to this prod 

    

3.6 Control and 
Investigation of 
Outbreaks and 
Food Related 
Infectious Disease 

 All formal and informal notifications are recorded on the  
Environmental Health Service Authority database.  
Subsequent investigations are based on the type of 
organism, the number of cases, and are in accordance with 
Public Health England guidance. 

    
   A documented procedure has been produced and agreed 

with Public Health England and follows the principles 
established in a countywide procedural document, prepared 
by the Devon Food Safety Sub Group.  During 2012/13 236 
infectious disease notifications were received, some of which 
were serious cases of infectious diseases where the cases 
were hospitalised and a full outbreak investigation carried 
out. 

    
3.7 Food Safety 

Incidents 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 The service has a documented procedure which deals with 
action to be taken following the receipt or initiation of a food 
alert. The FSA Food Law Code of Practice has required 
specific recording of actions taken following the receipt of a 
food alert. 
 
Food alerts are received by a direct email from the Food 
Standards Agency (FSA), by direct emails to the Principal 
Environmental Health Officer and the Food Safety email box 
which is checked every day and by text messages to officers’ 
mobile phones. 

    

Page 45



 
 

 11 

   The Food Alert warning procedure for food incidents 
recognises that such issues are required to be dealt with 
quickly in accordance with the categories for each food alert.  
The procedure identifies the mechanism for passing on the 
food alert to the appropriate officer, an outline of the action to 
be taken. Most food alert warnings received require only a 
small amount of officer resource. 
 
However on occasions it is necessary to provide more 
resources to deal with food alerts. Any actions taken on a 
food alert are documented within the Authority data recording 
system. 

    
   During 2012/13 47 Food Alerts were received by the Food 

Safety Team, a number of which required local action in food 
premises in Torbay. During the national horse meat incident 
the Food and Safety team also carried out some work to 
ensure the traceability of meat supplies in its schools and 
hospitals, this work is continuing this year in terms of meat 
sampling to check authenticity e.g. of meat in kebab shops. 

    
3.8 Liaison with other 

Organisations 
 Consistency and value for money is a key feature in all of the 

Council’s Environmental Health functions.  With regard to the 
food safety service, this is achieved by: 
 

• Priority being given to attendance and active participation 
by the Principal Environmental Health Officer at the 
Devon Chief Environmental Health Officers’ Food Sub 
Group.  This Group co-ordinates peer review and 
consistency exercises, acts as the discussion forum for 
topical issues and a means of optimising countywide 
consistency in enforcement and advice. 

 

• The Food Safety Service also liaises with the following : 
    
   o Public Health England 

o Torbay Development Agency 
o The Food Standards Agency 
o Devon and Cornwall Police 
o The Immigration Service 
o TDA Business Forum 
o Trading Standards Sub Regional Group 

    
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

The Community Safety Service have access to all 
development and building control applications and acting as 
a formal consultee on key planning and building control 
applications and a statutory consultee on all Licensing Act 
applications. 

    
3.9 Food Safety 

Promotion 
 Education and promotional activities are considered to be 

important aspects in the delivery of a comprehensive food 
safety service and it is achieved in the following ways: 
 

• Food Safety articles in the bi annual Food and Safety 
Newsletter e mailed to all food businesses in the Bay. 

    

Page 46



 
 

 12 

   • Food information available directly from the Food Safety 
section of the Council website and from the team directly. 

 

• Targeted advice/information sent to relevant groups on 
issues of county or national significance e.g. on E Coli 
0157 guidance. 

 

• Targeted seminars and training sessions are undertaken 
on various food safety subjects.  

 

4.0 Resources 
 

4.1 Staffing Allocation  The Community Safety Business Unit structure is based on a 
number of multidisciplinary teams. The Food Safety Team is 
located within the wider Commercial Team.  

    

   Table 4 shows the current full time equivalent of staff working on 
food safety enforcement, broken down by the competency 
requirements of the Food Standards Agency Food Law Code of 
Practice (England) - General qualification and experience 
requirements. 

    
   EHRB officers are Environmental Health Officers who are 

registered with the Environmental Health Officers Registration 
Board, (EHRB), after attaining the approved qualifications in 
Environmental Health.  

      
    Table 4:  Staff resources dedicated to food safety  

Environmental Health 
Officer (Food and 
Safety Team) 

EHORB FTE Other 

Principal EHO 
 

YES 0.8 No 

Senior EHO 
 

YES 0.9 Lead 
Assessor 

Senior EHO YES 0.9  Lead 
Assessor 
 

Senior EHO  YES 0.4 Lead 
Assessor 

Senior EHO YES 0.9 Lead 
Assessor 

Senior EHO 
 

YES 0.9 Lead 
Assessor 

Senior EHO 
 

YES 0.9 No 

Senior EHO 
 

Yes 0.1 No 

Trading Standards 
Officers (Food & 
Safety Team) 

Dip 
TS/DCAT 

FTE Other 

Trading Standards 
Officer x 3  ( food 
standards only) 

YES 0.3 New posts 
in team 
since April 
2010 

 

 

    

Page 47



 
 

 13 

4.2 Staff Development 
Plan 

 All food safety staff are subject to an annual appraisal and one 
progress review which tracks and identifies training and 
development needs.  Food safety training needs are prioritised 
in the context of wider Environmental Health requirements 
identified within the service wide training plan. 

    
   All food safety staff complete a training record log to further 

assist in identifying development and training needs and for 
monitoring the competency of individual officers. The officers 
undertaking specific duties, such as dealing with approved 
premises, are identified and the training requirements assessed 
accordingly. 

    
  

 
 
 
 

 Some of the specific food safety training undertaken by staff 
during 2012/13 include:- 
 

• FSA E Coli and Cross contamination training 

• FSA Vacuum Packing training 
 

 

5.0 Quality Assessment 

 
5.1 Quality 

Assessment 
 
 
 
 

 The provision of quality services is one of the Council’s three 
guiding principles and food safety is no exception.  With regard 
to food safety the quality agenda is pursued via a number of 
methods. 
 
Management Monitoring 
 
The documented quality management procedure includes 
specific monitoring arrangements that are in place for example 
checking of inspection letters and notices and joint 
consistency/quality monitoring visits undertaken by the Principal 
Environmental Health Officer. Complaints against the service 
are monitored on a Service and Corporate basis.  

    
   Food Standards Agency 

 
The service is required to submit an Annual return, detailing the 
inspections, enforcement and educational activities undertaken, 
to The Food Standards Agency who closely monitor 
performance to ensure compliance with the FSA framework 
agreement. 
 
The FSA also has the power to set standards and to monitor 
local authority food law enforcement services under the Food 
Standards Act 1999. The FSA collects information from all 
United Kingdom food authorities and submits the information to 
the European Commission. 

    
 
 
 
 
 

  As detailed in section 3.8, the Principal Environmental Health 
Officer attends meetings of the Devon Food Sub Group to 
discuss relevant issues on a regular basis.  This group 
comprises of representatives of all the District and Unitary 
councils, and Public Health England. 

    
   This forum offers the opportunity to discuss, in detail, a wide 

Page 48



 
 

 14 

range of quality and consistency issues relevant to food safety. 
    
   During 2012/13 the Food and Safety Team received an internal 

audit and are still waiting for the report of this audit. 
 

6.0 Review Process 

 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Review against the 
service plan 

 As detailed within Section 1.2, the Council has an established 
performance management board to monitor the performance of 
its services. 
 
From an operational perspective the Principal Environmental 
Health Officer reviews the key performance measures and 
service improvements contained in the plan on a quarterly basis. 
Table 5 shows some of the internal indicators covering service 
delivery and performance as well as the national indicator for 
food safety and the wider key indicators on the Community 
Safety Balanced Scorecard that the Food Safety Team feed into 
and it is those which are reported to management team and 
members through their internal SPAR performance boards. 

    
   In addition, regular one to one meetings are held with staff 

involved in the Food Safety Service. This is to ensure that on-
going projects and improvements outlined in this service plan 
are effectively monitored and managed. The notes for these 
meetings are documented, along with actions and timescales for 
relevant staff. 

 

Table 5 – Food Safety Service Performance Indicators  
 

SERVICE DELIVERY INDICATORS  2010/11 
 

2011/12 2012/13 

Number of Category A and B risk food 
hygiene premises (due every 6 months) 
inspected  

Target 
 

100% 100% 100% 

Outcome 87% 100% 100% 

Number of Category C high risk food 
hygiene premises (due every 
12months) inspected 

Target 100% 100% 100% 

 
Outcome 

  
   27% 

 
53% 

 
54% 

Number of high risk food standards 
inspections carried out   

Target 100% 100% 100% 

    

Outcome 88% 88% 100% 

 

6.2 Identification of 
achievements and 
any variation from 
the service plan 
 
 

 Table 6 below identifies the status of planned service 
improvement actions from 2012/13. Any remaining 
improvement objectives are shown in the table below along 
with the reason for the delay and a revised target, which will 
be included in the work programme for 2013/14 where 
appropriate.  

 

Page 49



 
 

 15 

Table 6 Achievements and variance from Service Plan 2012-13 
 

Action Planned Outcome/Output Achieved Or reason New 
Target 
Date 

To raise the standards of 
food hygiene within food 
premises in Torbay 

Implement the FSA’s Food 
Hygiene Rating Scheme  to 
ensure both hygiene 
standards are raised and 
that consumers have better 
access to information on 
food businesses and 
thereby making informed 
choices on where they wish 
to  

Achieved – 800 
premises now rated 
under the Food 
Hygiene Rating 
Scheme. 91 requests 
for rescoring visits 
received all but 3 have 
gone up mainly to a 4 
or 5. 
 
The number of high risk 
A and B premises have 
dropped by over half 
although there are still 
a number of low rated 
premises which need to 
improve. 
 

Ongoing 
work. 

To implement the 
recommendations of the 
new FSA E Coli guidance 
for businesses and 
enforcement officers. 

To assess butchers and 
catering premises 
compliance with the FSA’s 
E Coli Guidance 

Achieved- Food 
officers attended FSA  
E Coli course and 
guidance is addressed 
on every food safety 
inspection. 
 

Ongoing 
work 

To inspect all high risk 
food premises in the Bay 
in line with the statutory 
FSA Food Law Code of 
Practice 

To ensure they are 
compliant with food safety 
legislation 

Achieved; - 100% of A 
and B risk inspections 
achieved.  
 
Target not achieved 
for C risk statutory 
interventions 
 

Ongoing 
work 

To inspect/carry out an 
intervention in all D and E 
risk premises in line with 
the  statutory FSA Food 
Law Code of Practice 

To ensure they are 
compliant with food safety 

Target not achieved 
for medium/low risk D 
and E risk premises. 

Ongoing 
work 

To continue cross 
professional working pilot 
to make effective use of 
resources 

To ensure that intelligence 
from other teams within 
Community Safety is used 
effectively. 

Achieved – FAB’s 
project completed and 
evaluated. This project 
had some good 
outcomes for  
businesses 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



 
 

 16 

6.3 Targets and areas 
of Improvement for 
2013/14 

 Targets for 2013-14 are in Table 7 and the current planned 
improvements for 2013/14 are outlined in Table 8. 

    
   The Statutory Guidance requires 100% of C risk premises to 

be inspected. This hasn’t been achieved for a number of 
years as can be seen from Table 7 below. The target has 
therefore been set at 50% of all C’s for this year. Although 
there is been a reduction in A and B rated premises due to 
improving food hygiene ratings this is off set by the team 
having a 0.7 FTE reduction in staff overall and in addition a 
member of staff on maternity leave. In an attempt to still meet 
previous years figures for C inspections a 6 months contract 
for a part time member of staff has been awarded.  

 
Table 7 – Targets for 2013-14 
 

SERVICE DELIVERY INDICATORS  2010/11 
 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 

Number of Category A and B risk food 
hygiene premises (due every 6 months) 
inspected  

Target 
 

100% 100% 100% 100% 

Outcome 87% 100% 100%  

Number of Category C high risk food 
hygiene premises (due every 
12months) inspected 

Target 100% 100% 100% 50% 

 
Outcome 

  
   27% 

 
53% 

 
54% 

 

Number of high risk food standards 
inspections carried out   

Target 100% 100% 100% 100% 

     

Outcome 88% 88% 100%  

 

Table 8 Areas of Improvement for 2013/14 
 

Service Improvement Planned Outcome/Output Link to FSA framework 
agreement 

Target  
Date 

FABs cross professional 
working project 

Following the evaluation of 
the cross professional 
working project, determine 
whether or not there is 
merit in progressing this 
work further 

All areas of framework 
agreement 

July 
2013 

To explore the 
opportunities and any joint 
working that can be 
undertaken with the new 
Public Health team now 
within the Local Authority 
and also with other Devon 
Local Authorities to share 
resources in this field of 
work. 
 

Initially to understand each 
other’s roles and identify 
where the Food Team can 
play a part in the 
implementation of 
Torbay’s Public Health 
strategy particularly in 
relation to infection control 
issues relating to childcare 
and residential homes 
settings. 
 
To implement public 
health interventions 
agreed by the Devon Food 
Sub Group particularly in 
relation to food 

All areas of Framework 
Agreement 

March 
2014 

Page 51



 
 

 17 

businesses. 
 

To ensure that the food 
safety web pages are up 
to date, relevant and user 
friendly for businesses and 
explore the use of social 
media such as Twitter and 
Facebook 
 

To take part in the wider 
Community Safety work to 
improve the department’s 
web pages and to ensure 
we target information to 
businesses in the best and 
most appropriate ways. 

All areas of Framework 
agreement  

March 
2014 

To improve the links 
between the business 
community and the local 
authority food safety 
service. 

To continue the work with 
the Torbay Development 
Agency and the Town 
Centre Company to 
increase the marketing 
opportunities around the 
Food Hygiene Rating 
Scheme in the Bay. 
 
To run a Food and Safety 
Update day to update food 
businesses on food and 
health and safety matters. 
 

All areas of  
Framework Agreement  

March 
2014 

To undertake work  
around the traceability and 
authenticity of food to 
ensure any food fraud in 
Torbay is detected and 
dealt with 

To complete annual food 
safety and food standards 
sampling plans and also 
incorporate more work on 
the authenticity and 
traceability of food in 
Torbay. 

All areas of the 
Framework  agreement 

March 
2014 

To ensure a consistent 
approach to rating 
premises under the 
National Food Hygiene 
Rating Scheme 
 

To ensure that all 
authorised food officers 
undertake regular peer 
review exercises both 
internally and with the rest 
of Devon Local Authorities 
 

All areas of the 
Framework Agreement  

March 
2014 

To drive up standards of 
food hygiene in mobile 
food vehicles registered 
with Torbay 
 

To implement the 
Passport system being 
developed by the Devon 
Food Sub Group and 
ensure that all mobile food 
business operators are 
aware of how to comply 
with food hygiene 
requirements. 
 

All areas f the 
Framework Agreement  

March 
2014 

 
 

 

Page 52



Appendix A 
 
 
 

Appendix A - Organisational Structure Chart for Food and Safety Service 
 

 
 

Principal Environmental 
Health Officer – Lead 
Officer for Food Safety 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Senior 
EHO 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Senior 
EHO 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Senior 
EHO 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

School 
Meals 
Client 
Officer 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Senior 
EHO 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     Senior  
      EHO 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Senior 
EHO 
(0.5)   
 

 

 

 

 
Trading 
Standards 
Officers x 3 
( Standards 

only) 

 

No dedicated admin 
support for food safety.  
 
Admin support provided by 
the Business Support 
Team. 

P
age 53



 
 

 1 

Appendix B Food Hygiene Rating Scheme – how are we doing? 
 
From the evaluation of businesses  
 

• 90% of the respondents were positive or very positive about the usefulness of the information 
given 

• 91% were positive or very positive about the report left at the time of the inspection  

• 83% were positive or very positive about the score they got 

• 66% thought that the impact on the business was positive or very positive, compared with 
73% thinking that the impact on the staff was positive or very positive  

• 22% thought that the score had no impact on customers  

• 48% felt neutral about using the score to publicise their business 

• 69% felt that the scheme is having a positive or very positive scheme in Torbay  
 
Chart 1: FHRS Score (24 May 2013) 
 

 
 

• 91 rescores (12%) 

• 3 rescored premises did not improve their original score 
 
Chart 2: Spread of re-score  
 

 
 
 
 

Page 54



 
 

 2 

Chart 3: Overall factors for low score (less than 3) 
 

 
 
Chart 4: Single reasons for low score (less than 3) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



 
 

 3 

Chart 5: Percentage of satisfactory scores per premises type 
 

 
 
 
Chart 6: Percentage of score 5 per premises type 
 

 
 

Page 56



1 

 

NO COLD CALLING HOMES SCHEME – FEEDBACK QUESTIONNAIRE RESPONSES 

 

General 

 

1. How did you hear about the No Cold Calling Homes scheme? 

 

 

 

2. How did you obtain your sticker and pack? 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 3

Page 57



2 

 

3. Was the information provided with it easy to understand? 

 

4. Are you displaying the sticker at your home? 

 

 

Doorstep Sellers 

 

5. BEFORE displaying a sticker did you have many doorstep sellers cold calling? 

 

On average the feedback indicated that residents were receiving 1-2 calls from doorstep sellers 

each week. 

 

The maximum visits received from doorstep sellers each week by a resident was reported as 6. 

 

Page 58



3 

 

6. What were they offering? 

 

 

 

Of the residents reporting that doorstep callers were offering services ‘other’ than described 

the majority stated that these were charities, representatives of religions, and gold buyers. 

 

 

7. If you were not interested and declined their offer did they leave straight away? 

 

 

 

 

Page 59



4 

 

8. Were they ever aggressive in their approach? 

 
9. Did you ever buy goods or services at the door? 

 

10. If you have bought goods or services at the door, did you feel pressurised to do 

so?  

Page 60



5 

 

11. SINCE displaying the sticker have you noticed a reduction in the number of doorstep sellers 

calling at your door? 

 

 

12. Have any called despite you displaying the sticker? 

 
 

On average the feedback indicated that residents had 1-2 visits from doorstep sellers since 

displaying their sticker. 

 

13. How did you react to the doorstep caller? 

 

Page 61



6 

 

14. If you referred them to the sticker did they leave your property right away? 

 

Residents reporting callers not leaving their property right away gave the following explanations: 

• The caller stated they were not selling anything 

• The caller stated the sticker didn’t apply to them 

• The caller apologised but continued with the reason for their visit 

 

15. Did you report them to Trading Standards or the Police? 

 

16. If you reported them to Trading Standards how did you do this? 

 

Page 62



7 

 

Bogus Callers 

17. BEFORE displaying the sticker have you ever been approached in your home by someone you 

suspected to be a bogus caller? 

 

 

18. SINCE displaying the sticker have you been approached in your home by someone you 

suspected to be a bogus caller? 

 

 

19. Did you report them to Trading Standards or the Police? 

 

Page 63



8 

 

 

 

20. If you reported them to Trading Standards how did you do this? 

 

No reports were made to Trading Standards. 

 

 

Your Opinion of the Scheme 

 

21. Do you think displaying the sticker has deterred doorstep sellers and bogus callers? 

 

 
 

22. Do you feel more confident about avoiding and dealing with doorstep sellers and bogus callers 

now that you have the sticker and reporting procedure? 

 

 

 

 

Page 64



9 

 

23. Have you recommended the scheme to friends or family? 

 

 

 

24. Is there any other advice or information you think should be included in the NCCH pack? 

 

 

 Some suggestions of advice/information to include in the pack in future are: 

• Add something to help deter religious groups 

• Add something to help deter charities  

• Add something to include charity bags being delivered 

• Offer the option of a sticker for inside window 

• Advertise the scheme in the media more  

• Include a flyer to hand to neighbours  

 

Some really positive feedback 

“Best deterrent we ever had, thank you.” 

“The scheme has also deterred other callers such as religious groups.” 

Page 65



10 

 

“Brilliant service. Thank you.” 

“This is a very good scheme and I think it will make a difference. Thank you.” 

“The sticker has made a huge difference. Thank you to all who set up this scheme.” 

“The sticker gives a certain peace of mind.” 

“Thank you for an excellent scheme.” 

“Wonderful idea – I feel much safer now – thank you.” 

“An effective and simple solution to a very annoying problem. I have recommended this to several 

friends.” 

“I have nothing but praise for the whole idea of having a legitimate sticker. These people had 

become quite a menace.” 

“I love my sticker, thank you so much.” 

 

Some not so positive feedback: 

“They are persistent and annoying and don’t give up.” 

“Lots of callers from charities asking for regular donations.” 

“Pity we can’t deter religious callers.” 

“Should come down hard on these callers, government should step in and stop it.” 

“Charitable organisations seem to think they are exempt.  One actually said the council agreed for 

them to call.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 66



11 

 

Recommendations for improvement of scheme 

1. Develop further promotional materials. 

2. Investigate possibility of providing internal stickers as an alternative. 

3. Consider adding suggestion that residents receiving a pack recommend the scheme to 

neighbours, possibly providing them with business cards to do so. 

4. Advertise the scheme more widely. 

5. Encourage members of the scheme to report cold callers ignoring the sticker. 

6. Educate traders in relation to offences committed when ignoring the sticker. 

 

Improvements made to date or to be made 

1. Develop further promotional materials: 

• Posters designed, ordered, and received 

• Pull up banner designed, ordered and received 

• Posters aimed at traders – ‘Mind the Sign?’ 

2. Investigate possibility of providing internal stickers as an alternative: 

• Quote to be obtained 

3. Consider adding suggestion that residents receiving a pack recommend the scheme to 

neighbours, possibly providing them with business cards to do so: 

• Recommend a friend slip in short term with business cards 

• In long term amend information sheet 

4. Advertise the scheme more widely: 

• NHW Network Event attended on 25/09/12 

• Operate a NCCH Castle Circus market stall  

• Display posters at various locations such as community halls, doctor’s surgeries etc. Liaise 

with Street Wardens who may be able to assist. 

• Agreed to attend Pensioner’s Event at Paignton Library on 23/10/12 

• Suggestion that we could trial displaying the pull up banner in popular locations such as 

supermarkets. If this proves successful it may be appropriate to order some more for 

display purposes. 

• Undertake targeted door knocking  offering packs during National Consumer Week (12-16 

November) 

• Establish greater media coverage as this appears to be the most influential method of 

attracting consumers to the scheme. 

5. Encourage members of the scheme to report cold callers ignoring the sticker: 

• Achieve this in association with the increased media coverage? 

6. Educate traders in relation to offences committed when ignoring the sticker: 

• Design a poster targeted at traders for display in likely locations? 

• Achieve this in association with the increased media coverage? 

• Standard letter to local church organisations advising them of the offences involved when 

cold calling on NCCH? 

Page 67



  

Supply of Age Restricted Products – Enforcement Statement 
 
Torbay Council is committed to achieving compliance in a fair, consistent, 
proportionate, transparent and targeted manner.  The emphasis will be on advice 
and education but other means of enforcement will also be used, if necessary.  In 
so far as the supply of age restricted products is concerned, priority will be given 
to the legislation in Schedule A below which the Council has a duty to enforce; 
enforcement action in respect of legislation in Schedule B below will principally 
be in response to any complaints which may be received. 
 
1. Premises selling these products will be included in the routine inspection 

programme. During these inspections Traders will be reminded of their 
responsibilities and checks will be made on the display of required notices, 
labelling of products, provision of underage sales policies for alcohol, the later 
which is a new requirement under the Licensing Act 2003. 

 
2. All complaints will be investigated and appropriate action taken.  
 
3. Legal proceedings will be taken where appropriate in accordance with the 

agreed Enforcement and Prosecution Policy and Torbay Council’s 
responsibilities under the Licensing Act 2003.  

 
4. Schools will be advised of the Council’s commitment to enforce the law.  

Teachers and Children’s Services staff having information about under-age 
sales from specific shops will be asked to contact the Trading Standards Service 
(part of the Community Safety Business Unit).  

 
5. Each year the Community Safety Business Unit will carry out at least two 

surveys using volunteer under-age purchasers. The national LGA guidelines will 
be observed in carrying out the surveys.  

 
6. Trading Standards will work with partner agencies to identify the source of illegal 

and counterfeit products which may present an increased risk to health.  
 
7. To help businesses by writing procedural guidance in the form of any easy to 

use document for underage sales.   
 
Schedule A – Statutory Duty to Enforce 
 
Children and Young Persons Act 1933 
Protection of Children (Tobacco) Act 1986 
The Cigarette Lighter Refill (Safety) Regulations 1999 made under Consumer 
Protection Act 1987 
Explosives (Age of Purchase) Act 1976 
Fireworks (Safety) Regulations 1997 as amended by the Fireworks (Safety) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2004  
Video Recordings Act 1984 as amended by Video Recordings Act 1993 
Licensing Act 2003 
 
Schedule B – No Duty to Enforce 
 
Children and Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991 BUT Local Authority 
must consider annually a programme of enforcement  
Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 (Sale of aerosol paint to under 16)  

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 4

Page 68



  

Criminal Justice Act 1988 as amended by Offensive Weapons Act 1996 (sale of knives)  
National Lottery Regulations 1994  
Intoxicating Substances (Supply) Act 1985 
Crossbows Act 1987  

Page 69



T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 h
a
s
 d
e
a
lt
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 f
o
ll
o
w
in
g
 a
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 A
c
t 
2
0
0
3

1
s
t 
A
p
r 
2
0
0
7
 -
 

3
0
th
 S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
7

1
s
t 
O
c
t 
2
0
0
7
 -
 

3
1
s
t 
M
a
r 
2
0
0
8

1
s
t 
A
p
r 
2
0
0
8
 -
 

3
0
th
 S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
8

1
s
t 
O
c
t 
2
0
0
8
 -
 

3
1
s
t 
M
a
r 
2
0
0
9

1
s
t 
A
p
r 
2
0
0
9
 -
 

3
0
th
 S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
9

1
s
t 
O
c
t 
2
0
0
9
 -
 

3
1
s
t 
M
a
r 
2
0
1
0

P
re
m
is
e
s
/C
lu
b
 P
re
m
is
e
s
 A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 -
 N
e
w

3
2

1
7

1
3

1
2

1
0

1
2

P
re
m
is
e
s
/C
lu
b
 P
re
m
is
e
s
 A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 -
 F
u
ll 
V
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 

2
3

2
5

2
7

1
4

6
1
5

P
re
m
is
e
s
/C
lu
b
 P
re
m
is
e
s
 A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 -
 M

in
o
r 
V
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

2
2
8

P
re
m
is
e
s
/C
lu
b
 P
re
m
is
e
s
 A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 -
 T
o
ta
l

5
5

4
2

4
0

2
6

1
8

5
5

P
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
L
ic
e
n
c
e
s

1
1
7

8
6

7
9

7
5

9
6

8
1

H
e
a
ri
n
g
s
 (
L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
/S
u
b
-C
o
m
m
it
te
e
)

2
6

1
1

2
1

1
1

7
1
0

A
p
p
e
a
ls
 (
to
 M

a
g
is
tr
a
te
s
 C
o
u
rt
)

0
1

1
4

0
2

T
e
m
p
o
ra
ry
 E
v
e
n
t 
N
o
ti
c
e
s

1
0
8

5
8

1
5
5

8
9

1
2
3

1
2
2

R
e
v
ie
w
s
 o
f 
L
ic
e
n
c
e
s
 (
L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
/S
u
b
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
)

1
0

1
0

3
3

T
ra
n
s
fe
rs
 o
f 
P
re
m
is
e
s
 L
ic
e
n
c
e
s
/C
lu
b
 P
re
m
is
e
s
 C
e
rt
if
ic
a
te
s

6
5

5
0

4
3

3
8

3
2

3
7

T
ra
n
s
fe
rs
 o
f 
D
e
s
ig
n
a
te
d
 P
re
m
is
e
s
 S
u
p
e
rv
is
o
rs

1
2
2

8
7

9
5

6
7

7
1

6
4

2
0

0

2
5

0

3
0

0

Total

P
re

m
is

e
s
/C

lu
b
 P

re
m

is
e
s
 A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

N
e
w

P
re

m
is

e
s
/C

lu
b
 P

re
m

is
e
s
 A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

F
u
ll 

V
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
re

m
is

e
s
/C

lu
b
 P

re
m

is
e
s
 A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

M
in

o
r 

V
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
re

m
is

e
s
/C

lu
b
 P

re
m

is
e
s
 A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

T
o
ta

l

P
e
rs

o
n
a
l L

ic
e
n
c
e
s

0

5
0

1
0

0

1
5

0

2
0

0

1
s
t 

A
p

r 
2

0
0

8
 -

3
0

th
 S

e
p

t 
2

0
0

8

1
s
t 

O
c
t 

2
0

0
8

 -

3
1

s
t 

M
a

r 
2

0
0

9

1
s
t 

A
p

r 
2

0
0

9
 -

3
0

th
 S

e
p

t 
2

0
0

9

1
s
t 

O
c
t 

2
0

0
9

 -

3
1

s
t 

M
a

r 
2

0
1

0

1
s
t 

A
p

r 
2

0
1

0
 -

3
0

th
 S

e
p

t 
2

0
1

0

1
s
t 

O
c
t 

2
0

1
0

 -
3

1
 

M
a

r 
2

0
1

1

1
s
t 

A
p

r 
2

0
1

1
 -

3
0

th
 S

e
p

 
2

0
1

1

1
s
t 

O
c
t 

2
0

1
1

 -

3
1

s
t 

M
a

r 
2

0
1

2

1
s
t 

A
p

r 
2

0
1

2
 -

3
0

th
 S

e
p

t 
2

0
1

2

Total

D
a
te

P
e
rs

o
n
a
l L

ic
e
n
c
e
s

H
e
a
ri
n
g
s
 (
L
ic

e
n
s
in

g
 C

o
m

m
it
te

e
/S

u
b
-C

o
m

m
it
te

e
)

A
p
p
e
a
ls

 (
to

 M
a
g
is

tr
a
te

s
 C

o
u
rt
)

T
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 E

v
e
n
t 
N

o
ti
c
e
s

R
e
v
ie

w
s
 o

f 
L
ic

e
n
c
e
s
 (
L
ic

e
n
s
in

g
 C

o
m

m
it
te

e
/S

u
b
 

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
)

T
ra

n
s
fe

rs
 o

f 
P

re
m

is
e
s
 L

ic
e
n
c
e
s
/C

lu
b
 P

re
m

is
e
s
 

C
e
rt
if
ic

a
te

s

T
ra

n
s
fe

rs
 o

f 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
te

d
 P

re
m

is
e
s
 S

u
p
e
rv

is
o
rs

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 5

Page 70



1
s
t 
A
p
r 
2
0
1
0
 -
 

3
0
th
 S
e
p
t 
2
0
1
0

1
s
t 
O
c
t 
2
0
1
0
 -
 

3
1
 M
a
r 
2
0
1
1

1
s
t 
A
p
r 
2
0
1
1
 -
 

3
0
th
 S
e
p
 2
0
1
1

1
s
t 
O
c
t 
2
0
1
1
 -
 

3
1
s
t 
M
a
r 
2
0
1
2

1
s
t 
A
p
r 
2
0
1
2
 -
 

3
0
th
 S
e
p
t 
2
0
1
2

2
2

1
7

1
3

9
7

9
1
2

7
7

1
3

1
8

2
2

1
4

1
9

5

4
9

5
1

3
4

3
5

2
5

8
4

5
1

9
0

5
6

6
7

1
0

7
1
4

6
5

0
0

0
2

0

1
6
7

1
1
1

2
3
9

1
3
0

1
8
0

3
0

5
0

1

4
8

3
5

3
8

4
4

3
9

6
8

6
7

6
5

6
6

6
0

Page 71



T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 h
a
s
 d
e
a
lt
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 f
o
ll
o
w
in
g
 a
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 A
c
t 
2
0
0
3

1
s
t 
A
p
r 
2
0
0
7
 -
 

3
0
th
 S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
7

1
s
t 
O
c
t 
2
0
0
7
 -
 

3
1
s
t 
M
a
r 
2
0
0
8

1
s
t 
A
p
r 
2
0
0
8
 -
 

3
0
th
 S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
8

1
s
t 
O
c
t 
2
0
0
8
 -
 

3
1
s
t 
M
a
r 
2
0
0
9

1
s
t 
A
p
r 
2
0
0
9
 -
 

3
0
th
 S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
9

1
s
t 
O
c
t 
2
0
0
9
 -
 

3
1
s
t 
M
a
r 
2
0
1
0

1
s
t 
A
p
r 
2
0
1
0
 -
 

3
0
th
 S
e
p
t 
2
0
1
0

1
s
t 
O
c
t 
2
0
1
0
 -
 

3
1
 M
a
r 
2
0
1
1

P
re
m
is
e
s
/C
lu
b
 P
re
m
is
e
s
 A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 -
 N
e
w

3
2

1
7

1
3

1
2

1
0

1
2

2
2

1
7

P
re
m
is
e
s
/C
lu
b
 P
re
m
is
e
s
 A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 -
 F
u
ll 
V
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 

2
3

2
5

2
7

1
4

6
1
5

9
1
2

P
re
m
is
e
s
/C
lu
b
 P
re
m
is
e
s
 A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 -
 M
in
o
r 
V
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

2
2
8

1
8

2
2

P
re
m
is
e
s
/C
lu
b
 P
re
m
is
e
s
 A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 -
 T
o
ta
l

5
5

4
2

4
0

2
6

1
8

5
5

4
9

5
1

H
e
a
ri
n
g
s
 (
L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
/S
u
b
-C
o
m
m
it
te
e
)

2
6

1
1

2
1

1
1

7
1
0

1
0

7

A
p
p
e
a
ls
 (
to
 M
a
g
is
tr
a
te
s
 C
o
u
rt
)

0
1

1
4

0
2

0
0

R
e
v
ie
w
s
 o
f 
L
ic
e
n
c
e
s
 (
L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
/S
u
b
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
)

1
0

1
0

3
3

3
0

3
0

4
0

5
0

6
0

Total

P
re

m
is

e
s

 A
p

p
li

c
a

ti
o

n
s

P
re

m
is

e
s
/C

lu
b
 P

re
m

is
e
s
 A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

N
e
w

P
re

m
is

e
s
/C

lu
b
 P

re
m

is
e
s
 A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

F
u
ll 

V
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
re

m
is

e
s
/C

lu
b
 P

re
m

is
e
s
 A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

M
in

o
r 
V

a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
re

m
is

e
s
/C

lu
b
 P

re
m

is
e
s
 A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

T
o
ta

l

0

1
0

2
0

3
0

1
s
t 
A

p
r 

2
0

0
7

 -
3

0
th

 S
e

p
t 

2
0

0
7

1
s
t 
O

c
t 

2
0

0
7

 -
3

1
s
t 
M

a
r 

2
0

0
8

1
s
t 
A

p
r 

2
0

0
8

 -
3

0
th

 S
e

p
t 

2
0

0
8

1
s
t 
O

c
t 

2
0

0
8

 -
3

1
s
t 
M

a
r 

2
0

0
9

1
s
t 
A

p
r 

2
0

0
9

 -
3

0
th

 S
e

p
t 

2
0

0
9

1
s
t 
O

c
t 

2
0

0
9

 -
3

1
s
t 
M

a
r 

2
0

1
0

1
s
t 
A

p
r 

2
0

1
0

 -
3

0
th

 S
e

p
t 

2
0

1
0

1
s
t 
O

c
t 

2
0

1
0

 -
3

1
 

M
a

r 
2

0
1
1

1
s
t 
O

c
t 

2
0

1
1

 -
3

1
s
t 
M

a
r 

2
0

1
2

1
s
t 
A

p
r 

2
0

1
2

 -
3

0
th

 S
e

p
t 

2
0

1
2

Total

D
a
te

P
re

m
is

e
s
/C

lu
b
 P

re
m

is
e
s
 A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

M
in

o
r 
V

a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
re

m
is

e
s
/C

lu
b
 P

re
m

is
e
s
 A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

T
o
ta

l

H
e
a
ri
n
g
s
 (
L
ic

e
n
s
in

g
 C

o
m

m
it
te

e
/S

u
b
-C

o
m

m
it
te

e
)

A
p
p
e
a
ls

 (
to

 M
a
g
is

tr
a
te

s
 C

o
u
rt
)

R
e
v
ie

w
s
 o

f 
L
ic

e
n
c
e
s
 (
L
ic

e
n
s
in

g
 C

o
m

m
it
te

e
/S

u
b
 

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
)

Page 72



1
s
t 
O
c
t 
2
0
1
1
 -
 

3
1
s
t 
M
a
r 
2
0
1
2

1
s
t 
A
p
r 
2
0
1
2
 -
 

3
0
th
 S
e
p
t 
2
0
1
2

9
7

7
1
3

1
9

5

3
5

2
5

6
5

2
0

0
1

Page 73



Corporate Health, Safety & Emergency Planning 

2012/2013 

Annual Report 
The Corporate Health and Safety and Emergency Planning teams work closely 
together providing each other with support and complimentary competencies.   

Working in cooperation with external agencies they are an internal cross cutting 
resource which aspires to the prevention and protection of the Council’s staff, other 
assets and the wider community and environment through the provision of a 
framework of strategic and operational plans, guidance and training which meet 
national standards.   

This Annual Report provides statistical information on accidents and emergency 
events and summarises some of the activities during the past year to achieve these 
aims.  Additionally it establishes a number of objectives for 2013/2014. 

Accidents 

The total accidents reported have seen a 21% decrease on last year’s reports as can 
be seen in the attached appendix 1.  This marked improvement of results should be 
balanced against an approximately 8% fall in FTE employees across the Council. 

Within the total reported, there has been a 15% decrease of accidents to employees, 
a 21% decrease to pupils and students, and a further 27% decrease to members of 
the public with a 12% decrease of accidents required to be reported to the Health 
and Safety Executive. 

This is in part attributable to the work of the department with additional support from 
the Staff & Management at My Place, Parkfield and the Road Safety Team. 

Audits 

The Health and Safety Executive carried out a follow up audit on our waste 
management operation and the contract monitoring arrangements undertaken with 
TOR2 in March.  The audit was also an inspection of the plant, recycling operation 
and safe working practices on the rounds.   

The results of the audit were again generally positive however there are some 
additional improvements to be developed and implemented which are currently being 
investigated by Tor2 management with input from us.   

 See HSE letter appendix 3. 

Training 

The Health and Safety team delivered 26 corporate training events with 186 
delegates attending from within the Council and our schools.   
The team also delivered a further 13 bespoke awareness briefings to schools with 
221 delegates attending.  
 
Cabinet Member Champions were also in attendance at the Annual Health and 
Safety Forum and Elected Member Response Training. 

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 6

Page 74



 
The I-learn system is being continually improved with 5 mandatory Health and Safety 
courses available and further ones being added in the forthcoming year. To date 
over 2400 on line health and safety courses have been completed.  
 
The Health and Safety team were granted a licence to run the First Aid at Work 
course by the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health; the first course will be run 
later this year. 
 
Changes and reductions of the admin support within the Health and Safety team will 
potentially affect the number of face to face courses available in the forthcoming year 
with only essential courses being available, it is expected that any gaps will be 
backfilled with an increase in the number of I-Learn modules being developed. 

Stress   

There were 42 incidents of stress related illness reported in the last year which is a 
7% increase on the previous year. Given the structural changes undertaken and 
uncertainty on the future it is not unexpected.  It should be noted that school reports 
are included in this figure and not all of the incidents will be considered as work 
related.  Where referrals are made action is taken to ensure the necessary support 
and assistance is provided.  
 

Policy 

The Corporate Health and Safety policy is due for revision in August 2013; this will 
be undertaken when the new Executive Director for Operations and Finance is 
appointed. 
 
The Accident & Incident Investigation & Reporting policy and Guidance documents 
have been revised and published. 
 

Radon 

Following on from the Radon reduction works carried out last year on the lower 
ground floor of the town hall, further reassurance testing has been carried out to 
ensure the measures adopted were successful.  The results published by the Health 
Protection Agency show a reduction of Radon gas below the action levels. The 
results are available to be viewed at http://insight/130424radonresults.pdf  
 

Continued Professional Development 

 
The Health and Safety team undertakes professional development training to ensure 
that their knowledge and understanding of the legal and scientific requirements of 
health are maintained at current standards. 

Both members of the team have been listed within the Occupational Safety and 
Health Consultants Register (OSHCR). 

Page 75



 
 

Emergency Planning 

Training 

The Emergency Planning team carried out Emergency Response training with SLT 
with further briefings to individual Senior Managers. Council staff also attended a 
Civil Contingencies Seminar and Strategic Managers attended additional briefings on 
Gold and Silver Command Operations with a further strategic workshop on the 
integration of Public Health being planned in the New Year. 
 
Emergency Plans 
 
Multi Agency Emergency Flood plans covering Torquay, Paignton and Brixham have 
been written in consultation with Council service areas and other emergency 
responders. The plans currently reside with the Local Resilience Forum and form 
part of the Councils strategy for mitigating the impact of major flood events. 
 
Notable Events 
 
There were a number of notable events during the past year where the Emergency 
Planning team has had a role in assessing and coordinating the Council’s response 
to the incident.  
 
These included: 

• Fire in Fore Street, Brixham May 2012 

• Unexploded ordnance Goodrington July 2012  

• Unexploded ordinance Preston Sands August 2012 

• Fire aboard Ms Flaminias August 2nd September 26 2012 

• Severe Weather Events throughout the year 

• Landslide Warren Road November 2012 

• Co-ordinated business continuity for Christmas shut down December 2012 

• Landslide Vane Hill December 2012 

• Endangered Tug Christos 22 and Sinking of MV Emstrom January  2013 

• Arrests in Lymington Road under the Terrorism Act, January 2012 

• Explosion and evacuation Steartfield Road March 2013 
 
Future strategy 
 
During the forthcoming year the health and safety and emergency planning teams 
will: 

• Undertake a review of the corporate training requirements with a view to 
achieving a balance between face to face and on line training to minimise cost 
and increase effectiveness of health and safety training across the Councils 
area of responsibility. 

• As a priority ensure the Council’s online accident reporting system is 
completed and implemented  to all departments and schools within the 
councils area of responsibility with the provision of necessary training. 

Page 76



• Review the emergency response plans to enable a seamless response from 
operational to strategic management of emergency events within the council’s 
area of responsibility. 

• Review the Council’s training and exercise programme to take into account 
organisational changes and the Council’s new Public Health responsibilities. 

• Co-ordinate a review of Council’s corporate critical functions with the aim of 
developing and implementing effective business continuity plans which 
mitigate the impact of loosing resources (e.g buildings, staff, IT) over a period 
of up to two weeks. 

• Develop, consult and publish policies and guidance on managing driving at 
work and managing working in partnership. 

 
 

Page 77



Appendix 1 

 Total Accidents 2004 to 2012 

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

Q1 527 489 278 282    268   336 272 280 330 

Q2 454 436 203 204    224  286 235 241 241 

Q3 586 389 238 332    290   339 267 347 286 

Q4 512 200 306 340    284  386 323 435 172 

Total 2079 1514 1025 1158  1075 1347 1100 1303 1029� 
 Accidents by Person Specification  

Employees 592 560 565 537     415 457  385 387 328 

Contractors 28 14 4 1         5 4      4   0 0 

Pupils 618 450 387 538     565 546  495 610 479 

MOP 812 480 64 57      85 160  203 294 215 

Property 29 10 5 25      5 180  13  12 7 

Total 2079 1514 1025 1158 1075 1347 1100 1303 1029� 
 Accidents reported to the Health and Safety Executive  

Employees 10 34 23 24 17 20 10 8 15 

Contractors 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Pupils 5 25 18 1 7 35 12 9 3 0 

MOP 1 0 0 1 3 2 3 6 0 

Property 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 

Total 16 62 41 42 56 34 25 17 15� 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 78



Appendix 3 

 

I - Learn 
 

Business Unit Details of courses completed 

Adult Services & 

Resources 

 Asbestos Back Safety Fire Safety First Aid Stress Awareness 

Adult Services 2 2 2 2 1 

Commercial Services 12 12 13 13 11 

Communications 5 5 5 5 5 

Supporting People 3 5 7 7 7 

Information Services 47 48 41 46 44 

Governance 12 12 11 11 10 

Children’s 

Services 

 

Commissioning 89 89 78 99 85 

Locality Services 24 29 22 28 18 

Safeguarding & Wellbeing 29 33 24 30 23 

School Improvement 4 4 4 4 2 

Place & 

Resources 

 

TDA 9 9 5 9 6 

Business Services 32 30 25 28 25 

Finance 40 33 29 32 26 

Harbour Authority 2 2 1 2 2 

Residents & Visitors 120 123 118 116 112 

Spatial Planning 9 11 9 8 10 

Public Health 
Community Safety 66 69 60 73 59 

Public Health 2 2 2 2 2 

 

Total health and safety courses 

 

507 518 456 515 448 

P
age 79



Appendix 3 

Page 80



Appendix 3 

Page 81



Appendix 3 

 

Page 82



Torbay Gas Safety in Catering Establishments Project 2012-13 

 

Background 

 

This report is based on data collected as a result of Interventions through the “Gas Safety In 

Catering Establishments” project currently run as part of the Devon Chief Officer Health and 

Safety Sub Group 2012/13 work plan. Data was collected through a standardised pro forma 

and covered the 2012/13 financial year. Gas Interventions were to be undertaken at all 

primary Food Safety Inspections. The project was commenced in June of 2012 due to the 

need to undertake officer training prior to initiating the project 

 

Results 

 

Between 1
st

 June 2012 and the 31
st

 March 2013 248 Gas Safety Interventions were 

undertaken. Of these there were 121 instances of “lack of maintenance” where the 

equipment at the business was in poor condition and the business was unable to 

demonstrate that the equipment and installation were being inspected by a competent 

person in accordance with current standards. These were primarily dealt with by 

carbonated inspection report, but required the service of an Improvement Notice in one 

instance. 

 

A further 23 instances were recorded where the engineer who had certified and/or installed 

the system had done so “out of scope”. In the majority of cases this involved engineers 

qualified for domestic work, undertaking maintenance/installation work on commercial 

systems. 

 

More seriously 4 instances were recorded where the engineer had undertaken work without 

any recognised qualifications. Given that this could result in serious personal injury, and that 

peripatetic work is enforced by the Health and Safety Executive, these matters were 

referred immediately to the relevant authorities. The affected businesses were then faced 

with commissioning a qualified engineer to certify their gas systems. See Figure one. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 7

Page 83



 

Fig 1. Gas Safety Intervention Outcomes 

 

 

 

Conclusions 

 

Given that the data covers only a single 10 month period, it is apparent that serious issues 

with regard to Gas Safety in catering establishments exist. Of particular concerns are the 

lack of maintenance of gas systems by businesses, and their apparent failure to adequately 

examine the qualifications of those contractors working on their gas equipment. This clearly 

indicates a need for continued intervention in this field to improve Gas Safety awareness 

within the business community and to identify those engineers operating illegally and out of 

scope. 

Page 84



Commercial Team workplan for 2013-14 

 

The Commercial Team is responsible for a wide range of functions which are covered 

briefly within the Service Plan. These are complaint driven work; inspections of 

higher risk premises, based upon their risk rating, government guidance and 

intelligence; protection of vulnerable groups; administering applications under 

varying pieces of legislation; protection of the wider public from the impacts of 

emergencies and disease outbreaks; protection of the employees of Torbay Council 

and the safe running of public attended events. 

 

The key pieces of work being undertaken to help deliver this wide ranging agenda 

are  

 

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme – this is the third year of this programme of work, 

which has been very positively received and has reduced the overall risks associated 

with food premises across Torbay.   

 

Gas Safety in Commercial kitchens – these inspections are undertaken when 

premises are inspection under the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme above. A clear need 

has been established to continue this work. (See report in Appendix F)  

 

No Cold Calling Homes – This piece of work is in its third year and has been very well 

received (see report in Appendix B). In addition to giving those within the scheme 

more confidence and reducing cold calling significantly, it may also help deter 

travellers who may enter Torbay looking for door step work.  

 

Second Hand Car Sales –Second hand car sales is one of the most complained areas 

in the consumer world. This project builds of work from previous years to target 

these businesses/individuals who sale unroadworthy cars. In previous years the 

outcomes are that some businesses have shut and others they have improved. In 

recent years we have undertaken a number of successful prosecutions and issued 

several cautions. 

 

Early Morning Restriction Orders (EMRO) – to administer the process of applying for 

an EMRO should a body be able to provide evidence for the need to consider one. 

 

Gambling Premises – An inspection will be undertake of a range of gambling 

premises, including some test purchasing to ascertain the level of compliance within 

the industry. Evidence suggests that the conditions applied nationally to some of 

these premises are not being adhered to. 

 

Better Business Compliance Code Information pack – Written by trading standards 

for advice on things such as door step selling, underage sales. This builds on the 

support for businesses of Safer Workplace Better Business pack and extends this into 

a new area.  

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 8

Page 85



S
e
c
to

r,
 

p
re

m
is

e
s
 t

y
p
e
 o

r 
s
p
e
c
if
ic

 c
ro

s
s
 s

e
c
to

r 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
  

(W
h
e
re
 d
o
 y
o
u
 p
la
n
 t
o
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
e
?
) 

E
v
id

e
n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
id

e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
h
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

 
a
n
d
 s

e
t 
it
s
 p

ri
o
ri
ty

  
(e
.g
. 
s
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
, 
R
ID
D
O
R
 r
e
p
o
rt
s
, 
lo
c
a
l 
in
te
lli
g
e
n
c
e
 

 W
h
y 
is
 i
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 a
t 
th
is
 t
im
e
?
  

C
a
n
 y
o
u
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 p
o
o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
e
rs
?
) 

P
la

n
n
e
d
 i
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 t

y
p
e
  

(t
ic

k
 a

ll 
th

a
t 

a
p
p
ly

) 
 

 (W
h
ic
h
 m
e
th
o
d
s
 a
re
 y
o
u
 g
o
in
g
 t
o
 d
e
p
lo
y
?
) 

R
a
ti
o
n
a
le

 f
o
r 

in
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
  

 (W
h
y 
a
re
 y
o
u
 u
s
in
g
 t
h
is
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
?
 H
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 u
s
in
g
 o
th
e
r 

in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
?
  

D
o
e
s
 i
t 
fi
t 
in
 w
it
h
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 a
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
h
is
 i
s
s
u
e
?
  

D
o
e
s
 i
t 
b
u
n
d
le
 w
it
h
 o
th
e
r 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
?
  

A
re
 y
o
u
r 
o
u
tp
u
ts
 m
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
?
) 

P
la

n
n

e
d

 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 o

r 
re

s
o
u

rc
e
  

 (T
im
in
g
 a
n
d
 p
e
rs
o
n
 d
a
y
s
 o
r 
n
o
. 
c
o
n
ta
c
ts
) 

LP
G

 P
ip

e
w

o
rk

 

 

D
ir

e
ct

e
d

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 H
S
E

 

n
a

ti
o

n
a

ll
y
. 

 

⌧
 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
  

 
M
o
ti
v
a
ti
n
g
 S
e
n
io
r 
M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
  

 
S
u
p
p
ly
 C
h
a
in
  

  
  
D
e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 S
u
p
p
ly
  

⌧
 
S
e
c
to
r 
a
n
d
 I
n
d
u
s
tr
y
-w
id
e
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
  

⌧
 
W
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 T
h
o
s
e
 A
t 
R
is
k
  

⌧
 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 A
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
  

 
In
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 (
C
a
t 
A
) 
 

 
In
te
rm
e
d
ia
ri
e
s
  

⌧
 
B
e
s
t 
P
ra
c
ti
c
e
  

 
R
e
c
o
g
n
is
in
g
 G
o
o
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
  

 
In
c
id
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 I
ll 
H
e
a
lt
h
 I
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
  

⌧
 
D
e
a
lin
g
 w
it
h
 I
s
s
u
e
s
 o
f 
C
o
n
c
e
rn
  

 
C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
  

 
O
th
e
r 
in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
  

 
In

sp
e

ct
io

n
 o

f 
p

re
m

is
e

s 
a

s 

d
ir

e
ct

e
d

 b
y
 H

S
E

, 
p

o
ss

ib
il
it

y
 o

f 

u
si

n
g

 e
xp

e
rt

is
e

 p
o

o
l 
to

 a
ss

is
t 

a
cr

o
ss

 D
e

v
o

n
 

Le
g

io
n

e
ll
a

 p
ro

je
ct

 

 

D
ir

e
ct

e
d

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 H
S
E

 

n
a

ti
o

n
a

ll
y
. 

 

⌧
 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
  

 
M
o
ti
v
a
ti
n
g
 S
e
n
io
r 
M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
  

 
S
u
p
p
ly
 C
h
a
in
  

  
  
D
e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 S
u
p
p
ly
  

⌧
 
S
e
c
to
r 
a
n
d
 I
n
d
u
s
tr
y
-w
id
e
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
  

⌧
 
W
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 T
h
o
s
e
 A
t 
R
is
k
  

⌧
 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 A
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
  

 
In
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 (
C
a
t 
A
) 
 

 
In
te
rm
e
d
ia
ri
e
s
  

⌧
 
B
e
s
t 
P
ra
c
ti
c
e
  

 
R
e
c
o
g
n
is
in
g
 G
o
o
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
  

 
In
c
id
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 I
ll 
H
e
a
lt
h
 I
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
  

⌧
 
D
e
a
lin
g
 w
it
h
 I
s
s
u
e
s
 o
f 
C
o
n
c
e
rn
  

 
C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
  

 
O
th
e
r 
in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
  

 
In

sp
e

ct
io

n
 o

f 
p

re
m

is
e

s 
a

s 

d
ir

e
ct

e
d

 b
y
 H

S
E

, 
p

o
ss

ib
il
it

y
 o

f 

u
si

n
g

 e
xp

e
rt

is
e

 p
o

o
l 
to

 a
ss

is
t 

a
cr

o
ss

 D
e

v
o

n
 

G
a

s 
sa

fe
ty

 i
n

 c
a

te
ri

n
g

 e
st

a
b

li
sh

m
e

n
ts

 

 

D
ir

e
ct

e
d

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 H
S
E

 

n
a

ti
o

n
a

ll
y
, 

a
n

d
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 

th
ro

u
g

h
 e

a
rl

ie
r 

w
o

rk
 b

y
 S

u
b

 

G
ro

u
p

 m
e

m
b

e
rs

 s
h

o
w

in
g

 a
n

 

%
 f

a
il
u

re
 i
n

 p
ro

p
e

r 
g

a
s 

a
p

p
li
a

n
ce

 m
a

in
te

n
a

n
ce

 a
n

d
 

se
rv

ic
in

g
 r

e
g

im
e

s 
in

 l
o

ca
l 

p
re

m
is

e
s.

 

 

⌧
 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
  

 
M
o
ti
v
a
ti
n
g
 S
e
n
io
r 
M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
  

 
S
u
p
p
ly
 C
h
a
in
  

  
  
D
e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 S
u
p
p
ly
  

⌧
 
S
e
c
to
r 
a
n
d
 I
n
d
u
s
tr
y
-w
id
e
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
  

⌧
 
W
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 T
h
o
s
e
 A
t 
R
is
k
  

⌧
 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 A
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
  

 
In
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 (
C
a
t 
A
) 
 

 
In
te
rm
e
d
ia
ri
e
s
  

 
B
e
s
t 
P
ra
c
ti
c
e
  

 
R
e
c
o
g
n
is
in
g
 G
o
o
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
  

 
In
c
id
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 I
ll 
H
e
a
lt
h
 I
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
  

⌧
 
D
e
a
lin
g
 w
it
h
 I
s
s
u
e
s
 o
f 
C
o
n
c
e
rn
  

 
C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
  

 
O
th
e
r 
in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 

 
U

se
 o

f 
S
M

E
 a

p
p

ro
a

ch
 –

 

ta
rg

e
te

d
 i
n

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
s 

d
u

ri
n

g
 

ro
u

ti
n

e
 i
n

sp
e

ct
io

n
s 

b
a

se
d

 o
n

 

lo
ca

l 
in

te
ll
ig

e
n

ce
 f

o
r 

g
a

s 
sa

fe
ty

 

(l
ia

is
o

n
 w

it
h

 l
o

ca
l 
G

a
s 

S
a

fe
 

in
sp

e
ct

o
rs

).
 U

se
 o

f 
E

-n
e

w
sl

e
tt

e
r 

w
it

h
 t

a
rg

e
te

d
 i
n

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
s 

fo
r 

o
th

e
r 

to
p

ic
s.

 

R
e

p
o

rt
 t

o
 C

h
ie

fs
 o

n
 a

ct
io

n
 

ta
k
e

n
 s

o
 f

a
r.

  

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 9

Page 86



 

E
st

a
te

s 
E

xc
e

ll
e

n
ce

 p
ro

je
ct

 
In

it
ia

l 
w

o
rk

 i
n

 p
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 

w
it

h
 H

S
E

 t
a

rg
e

te
d

 a
t 

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 w
it

h
 a

ss
is

ta
n

ce
 

fr
o

m
 o

th
e

r 
a

u
th

o
ri

ti
e

s.
 

In
te

rv
e

n
ti

o
n

 t
a

rg
e

te
d

 o
n

 h
ig

h
 

ri
sk

 a
re

a
s,

 w
o

rk
in

g
 i
n

 

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 w
it

h
 o

th
e

r 

e
n

fo
rc

e
m

e
n

t 
a

g
e

n
ci

e
s 

a
n

d
 

o
th

e
r 

o
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n
 t

o
 g

u
id

e
 

a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 s

m
a

ll
 b

u
si

n
e

ss
e

s 

a
n

d
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

 t
h

e
ir

 a
b

il
it

y
 t

o
 

m
a

n
a

g
e

 h
e

a
lt

h
 a

n
d

 s
a

fe
ty

. 

⌧
 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
  

⌧
 
M
o
ti
v
a
ti
n
g
 S
e
n
io
r 
M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
  

 
S
u
p
p
ly
 C
h
a
in
  

  
  
D
e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 S
u
p
p
ly
  

⌧
 
S
e
c
to
r 
a
n
d
 I
n
d
u
s
tr
y
-w
id
e
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
  

⌧
 
W
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 T
h
o
s
e
 A
t 
R
is
k
  

⌧
 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 A
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
  

 
In
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 (
C
a
t 
A
) 
 

 
In
te
rm
e
d
ia
ri
e
s
  

⌧
 
B
e
s
t 
P
ra
c
ti
c
e
  

⌧
 
R
e
c
o
g
n
is
in
g
 G
o
o
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
  

 
In
c
id
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 I
ll 
H
e
a
lt
h
 I
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
  

 
D
e
a
li
n
g
 w
it
h
 I
s
s
u
e
s
 o
f 
C
o
n
c
e
rn
  

 
C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
  

 
O
th
e
r 
in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
  

F
o

ll
o

w
in

g
 e

v
a

lu
a

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

is
 

p
ie

ce
 o

f 
w

o
rk

, 
co

n
si

d
e

ra
ti

o
n

 

o
f 

ro
ll
in

g
 o

u
t 

to
 o

th
e

r 

e
st

a
te

s 
th

ro
u

g
h

o
u

t 
C

o
u

n
ty

. 
  
  

 

F
o

cu
se

d
 i
n

sp
e

ct
io

n
s 

o
f 

in
d

u
st

ri
a

l 
e

st
a

te
s.

 I
n

it
ia

l 

a
d

v
e

rt
is

e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
e

v
e

n
t 

le
a

d
in

g
 

to
 b

u
si

n
e

ss
e

s 
v
o

lu
n

te
e

ri
n

g
 t

o
 

u
n

d
e

rg
o

 a
n

 a
u

d
it

 o
f 

th
e

ir
 h

e
a

lt
h

 

a
n

d
 s

a
fe

ty
 m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t,
 a

n
d

 

p
ro

v
id

in
g

 s
p

e
ci

fi
c 

tr
a

in
in

g
 t

o
 

ra
is

e
 c

o
m

p
e

te
n

cy
 i
n

 w
e

a
k
 

a
re

a
s.

 

H
S
E

 P
ro

je
ct

 w
il
l 
b

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 i
n

 

F
e

b
, 

a
n

a
ly

si
s 

a
n

d
 e

v
a

lu
a

ti
o

n
 o

f 

o
u

tc
o

m
e

 t
o

 c
o

n
si

d
e

r 
o

p
ti

o
n

s 

a
v
a

il
a

b
le

 t
o

 d
e

si
g

n
 o

u
r 

o
w

n
 

D
e

v
o

n
 E

st
a

te
s 

In
te

rv
e

n
ti

o
n

 t
o

 

b
e

 r
o

ll
e

d
 o

u
t 

o
v
e

r 
D

e
v
o

n
 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 a
 l
o

ca
l 
p

il
o

t 
p

ro
je

ct
. 

 

S
w

im
m

in
g

 a
n

d
 S

p
a

 p
o

o
l 
sa

fe
ty

 a
n

d
 w

a
te

r 

q
u

a
li
ty

 

 

W
h

e
re

 r
e

g
u

la
r 

p
o

o
l 
w

a
te

r 

sa
m

p
le

s 
a

re
 t

a
k
e

n
, 

th
e

re
 i
s 

a
n

 

a
v
e

ra
g

e
 2

5
%

 f
a

il
u

re
 r

a
te

. 

F
o

ll
o

w
in

g
 a

 f
a

ta
li
ty

 T
o

rb
a

y
 

fo
u

n
d

 o
v
e

r 
5

0
%

 o
f 

th
e

ir
 p

o
o

ls
 

d
id

 n
o

t 
co

m
p

ly
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 

m
a

n
a

g
in

g
 p

o
o

l 
sa

fe
ty

 

g
u

id
a

n
ce

. 

⌧
 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
  

⌧
 
M
o
ti
v
a
ti
n
g
 S
e
n
io
r 
M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
  

 
S
u
p
p
ly
 C
h
a
in
  

  
  
D
e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 S
u
p
p
ly
  

⌧
 
S
e
c
to
r 
a
n
d
 I
n
d
u
s
tr
y
-w
id
e
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
  

⌧
 
W
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 T
h
o
s
e
 A
t 
R
is
k
  

⌧
 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 A
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
  

 
In
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 (
C
a
t 
A
) 
 

 
In
te
rm
e
d
ia
ri
e
s
  

⌧
 
B
e
s
t 
P
ra
c
ti
c
e
  

 
R
e
c
o
g
n
is
in
g
 G
o
o
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
  

 
In
c
id
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 I
ll 
H
e
a
lt
h
 I
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
  

⌧
 
D
e
a
lin
g
 w
it
h
 I
s
s
u
e
s
 o
f 
C
o
n
c
e
rn
  

 
C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
  

 
O
th
e
r 
in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 

 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

 o
f 

in
sp

e
ct

io
n

s 
a

n
d

 

p
ro

v
is

io
n

 o
f 

p
o

o
l 
p

la
n

t 

o
p

e
ra

to
rs

 t
ra

in
in

g
 i
f 

re
q

u
ir

e
d

. 

C
o

n
ti

n
u

e
 o

v
e

r 
th

e
 n

e
xt

 y
e

a
r 

a
n

d
 g

a
u

g
e

 i
n

te
re

st
 i
n

 p
o

o
l 
p

la
n

t 

o
p

e
ra

to
r 

tr
a

in
in

g
. 

P
ro

v
id

e
 a

n
 

in
te

ri
m

 r
e

p
o

rt
 t

o
 C

h
ie

fs
  

U
lt

ra
 V

io
le

t 
T

a
n

n
in

g
 i
ss

u
e

s 
Id

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 b
y
 P

u
b

li
c 

H
e

a
lt

h
 

F
o

cu
s 

G
ro

u
p

, 
a

n
d

 w
o

rk
 d

o
n

e
 

b
y
 P

ly
m

o
u

th
 a

n
d

 E
xe

te
r 

C
it

y
 

C
o

u
n

ci
ls

 h
ig

h
li
g

h
ti

n
g

 i
ss

u
e

s 

w
it

h
 u

n
m

a
n

n
e

d
 t

a
n

n
in

g
 

fa
ci

li
ti

e
s.

  

⌧
 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
  

 
M
o
ti
v
a
ti
n
g
 S
e
n
io
r 
M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
  

 
S
u
p
p
ly
 C
h
a
in
  

  
  
D
e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 S
u
p
p
ly
  

⌧
 
S
e
c
to
r 
a
n
d
 I
n
d
u
s
tr
y
-w
id
e
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
  

⌧
 
W
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 T
h
o
s
e
 A
t 
R
is
k
  

⌧
 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 A
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
  

 
In
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 (
C
a
t 
A
) 
 

 
In
te
rm
e
d
ia
ri
e
s
  

⌧
 
B
e
s
t 
P
ra
c
ti
c
e
  

 
R
e
c
o
g
n
is
in
g
 G
o
o
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
  

 
In
c
id
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 I
ll 
H
e
a
lt
h
 I
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
  

⌧
 
D
e
a
lin
g
 w
it
h
 I
s
s
u
e
s
 o
f 
C
o
n
c
e
rn
  

 
C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
  

 
O
th
e
r 
in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 

S
k
in

 c
a

n
ce

r 
re

d
u

ct
io

n
 

F
o

cu
se

d
 v

is
it

s 
o

n
 u

n
-m

a
n

n
e

d
 

ta
n

n
in

g
 f

a
ci

li
ti

e
s.

 P
o

ss
ib

le
 j
o

in
t 

w
o

rk
 w

it
h

 D
C

C
 T

ra
d

in
g

 

S
ta

n
d

a
rd

s 
to

 c
o

n
si

d
e

r 
u

n
d

e
r 

a
g

e
 p

u
rc

h
a

si
n

g
 v

is
it

s.
  

Page 87



 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
tr

a
in

in
g

 
R

D
N

A
 a

n
d

 i
n

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
 

in
it

ia
ti

v
e

 r
e

q
u

ir
e

m
e

n
ts

 

  

⌧
 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
  

 
M
o
ti
v
a
ti
n
g
 S
e
n
io
r 
M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
  

 
S
u
p
p
ly
 C
h
a
in
  

  
  
D
e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 S
u
p
p
ly
  

 
S
e
c
to
r 
a
n
d
 I
n
d
u
s
tr
y
-w
id
e
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
  

 
W
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 T
h
o
s
e
 A
t 
R
is
k
  

⌧
 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 A
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
  

 
In
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 (
C
a
t 
A
) 
 

 
In
te
rm
e
d
ia
ri
e
s
  

⌧
 
B
e
s
t 
P
ra
c
ti
c
e
  

 
R
e
c
o
g
n
is
in
g
 G
o
o
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
  

 
In
c
id
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 I
ll 
H
e
a
lt
h
 I
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
  

 
D
e
a
li
n
g
 w
it
h
 I
s
s
u
e
s
 o
f 
C
o
n
c
e
rn
  

 
C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
  

 
O
th
e
r 
in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 

 
In

te
n

ti
o

n
 t

o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 C

P
D

 

tr
a

in
in

g
 f

o
r 

o
ff

ic
e

rs
 i
n

 

fo
ll
o

w
in

g
 s

u
b

je
ct

s:
- 

E
n

fo
rc

e
m

e
n

t 
tr

a
in

in
g
 

A
cc

id
e

n
t 

in
v
e

st
ig

a
ti

o
n

 

C
o

re
 i
n

v
e

st
ig

a
ti

o
n

 s
k
il
ls

 

In
te

rv
ie

w
in

g
 s

k
il
l 

U
p

d
a

te
 d

a
y
 t

o
 r

e
v
ie

w
 r

e
ce

n
t 

d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
ts

 
 

Page 88



 
D
E
V
O
N
 C
H
IE
F
 E
N
V
IR
O
N
M
E
N
T
A
L
 H
E
A
L
T
H
 O
F
F
IC
E
R
S
 

H
E
A
L
T
H
 A
N
D
 S
A
F
E
T
Y
 (
E
N
F
O
R
C
M
E
N
T
) 
S
U
B
-G
R
O
U
P
 

W
O
R
K
 P
L
A
N
 2
0
1
3
/1
4
 

 
T

h
e
 w

o
rk

 p
la

n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 p

re
p
a
re

d
 f
o
r 

th
e
 D

e
v
o
n
 C

h
ie

f 
E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
H

e
a
lt
h
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

G
ro

u
p
 t
o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

th
e
 h

e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 s

a
fe

ty
 m

a
tt

e
rs

 t
o
 b

e
 

lo
o
k
e
d
 a

t 
in

 t
h
e
 c

o
m

in
g
 y

e
a
r 

a
n
d
 b

e
y
o
n
d
. 

 
T

h
e
 p

la
n
 i
s
 n

o
t 
a
 r

ig
id

, 
d
e
fi
n
it
iv

e
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 i
s
 o

p
e
n
 t
o
 r

e
g
u
la

r 
re

v
ie

w
. 

U
rg

e
n
t 

m
a
tt

e
rs

 m
a
y
 a

ri
s
e
 w

h
ic

h
 t

h
e
 S

u
b
-G

ro
u
p
 m

a
y
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 y

e
a
r.

 
 

P
u
rp
o
s
e
 

 
P
ro
m
o
te
 t
h
e
 a
tt
a
in
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
to
ry
 o
r 
b
e
tt
e
r 
le
v
e
ls
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
a
fe
ty
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 e
n
fo
rc
e
d
 s
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
D
e
v
o
n
. 

 O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 

D
e
ta
il
 

E
x
p
e
c
te
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 

W
h
o
?
 

D
a
te
 

 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 d
e
ta

ile
d
 

In
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
  

•
 

T
a
rg

e
ti
n
g
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 r
is

k
s
 o

r 
fo

c
u
s
in

g
 o

n
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 
o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
. 

•
 

U
s
e
 t

h
e
 f

u
ll 

ra
n
g
e
 o

f 
re

g
u
la

to
ry

 i
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 

a
v
a
ila

b
le

 t
o
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 

b
e
h
a
v
io

u
rs

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

ri
s
k
  

•
 

E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 a

n
d
 

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
a
te

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

ri
s
k
 

•
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
, 

p
ro

te
c
ti
n
g
 o

u
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 

a
n
d
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
n
g
 t

o
 t
h
e
 w

id
e
r 

p
u
b
lic

 h
e
a
lt
h
 a

g
e
n
d
a
 i
n
 l
in

e
 

w
it
h
 t

h
e
 N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

 E
n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 
C

o
d
e
. 

 

•
 

A
n
 I

n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 f

o
r 

2
0
1
3
/1

4
 d

ra
ft

e
d
 s

e
n
t 
to

 
c
h
ie

fs
 f
o
r 

s
ig

n
 o

ff
 

•
 

P
ro

a
c
ti
v
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
a
c
ti
v
e
 i
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 

in
te

lli
g
e
n
c
e
-l
e
d
, 
b
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 b

e
s
t-

a
v
a
ila

b
le

 e
v
id

e
n
c
e
 

a
n
d
 f
o
c
u
s
e
d
 o

n
 r

is
k
 

•
 

J
o
in

t 
ta

rg
e
ti
n
g
 o

f 
ri
s
k
 t
o
 e

n
a
b
le

 t
h
e
 m

o
s
t 
e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e
 

a
n
d
 e

ff
ic

ie
n
t 

u
s
e
 o

f 
re

s
o
u
rc

e
 

•
 

U
s
in

g
 l
o
c
a
l,
 r

e
g
io

n
a
l 
a
n
d
 n

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
in

te
lli

g
e
n
c
e
 t

o
 

s
e
le

c
t 

ta
rg

e
ts

 f
o
r 

in
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
. 

•
 

E
n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 

in
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 t
a
ilo

re
d
 t
o
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 

ri
s
k
 w

ill
 

in
c
lu

d
e
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 f
o
r 

d
e
a
lin

g
 w

it
h
 b

o
th

 e
n
d
s
 o

f 
ri
s
k
 /

 c
o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 s

p
e
c
tr

u
m

 

•
 

P
ro

v
id

e
 T

ra
in

in
g
 f
o
r 

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
 a

n
d
 S

H
A

D
’s

 
 

S
u
b
 

G
ro

u
p
 

M
a
rc

h
 

2
0
1
3
 

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 10

Page 89



•
 

T
h
is

 m
ig

h
t 

in
c
lu

d
e
 i
n
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

C
a
te

g
o
ry

 A
 p

re
m

is
e
s
, 

in
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 a

s
 p

e
r 

th
e
 

in
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 f
o
r 

o
th

e
r 

p
re

m
is

e
s
, 

w
o
rk

 w
it
h
 p

o
o
r 

p
e
rf

o
rm

e
rs

, 
a
c
c
id

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

c
o
m

p
la

in
t 

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
s
 a

s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
, 

a
d
v
ic

e
 i
n
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 

a
n
d
 s

e
lf
-a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e
s
 f

o
r 

m
o
re

 
c
o
m

p
lia

n
t 
p
re

m
is

e
s
 

 

T
ra

in
in

g
 f
o
r 

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
 

a
n
d
 S

H
A

D
’s

 
L
o
s
s
 o

f 
fu

n
d
in

g
 f

o
r 

S
H

A
D

S
. 

A
 

re
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 S

H
A

D
 w

o
rk

 a
n
d
 

th
e
 j
u
s
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 n

e
e
d
e
d
 f

o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in

g
 t

h
a
t 
w

o
rk

 a
n
d
 

w
h
e
th

e
r 

th
e
 e

v
o
lu

ti
o
n
 i
s
 t

o
 

S
W

B
B

 a
b
o
v
e
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 

tr
a
in

in
g
 f

o
r 

th
a
t.
 

 

•
 

P
ro

d
u
c
e
 a

 r
e
p
o
rt

 –
 h

a
s
 S

W
B

B
 s

u
p
e
rs

e
d
e
d
 t
h
e
 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
 o

f 
S

H
A

D
s
 o

r 
is

 t
h
e
re

 i
s
 s

ti
ll 

ro
o
m

 f
o
r 

th
is

 
a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 a

s
 w

e
ll.

 

•
 

D
e
liv

e
r 

th
e
 r

e
p
o
rt

 t
o
 t
h
e
 C

h
ie

fs
 

 

D
a
v
e
 

W
a
lk

e
r 

to
 

c
ir
c
u
la

te
 

M
a
rc

h
 

2
0
1
3
 

S
a
fe

r 
w

o
rk

p
la

c
e
 B

e
tt
e
r 

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 P

a
c
k
 (

S
W

B
B

) 
O

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 t
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 b

e
tt

e
r 

a
n
d
 d

if
fe

re
n
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t

o
 

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
. 

L
in

k
s
 t

o
 c

h
a
n
g
in

g
 

th
e
 w

a
y
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
 a

d
v
ic

e
 i
s
 

d
e
liv

e
re

d
. 

L
in

k
s
 w

it
h
 R

IA
M

S
 a

n
d
 

a
 n

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
d
e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 

th
e
 p

a
c
k
 

o
n
 l
in

e
. 

 

•
 

K
e
e
p
 C

h
ie

f 
O

ff
ic

e
rs

 i
n
fo

rm
e
d
 o

f 
p
ro

g
re

s
s
 w

it
h
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 

to
 t
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

S
W

B
B

; 
o

 
re

g
a
rd

in
g
 t

h
e
 p

a
c
k
 b

e
c
o
m

in
g
 t

h
e
 k

e
y
 

in
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 t
o
o
l 
fo

r 
in

s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 a

u
d
it
s
 o

f 
n
e
w

 M
ic

ro
, 

S
m

a
ll 

a
n
d
 M

e
d
iu

m
 E

n
te

rp
ri
s
e
s
 

a
n
d
 s

im
ila

r 
b
u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
 w

it
h
o
u
t 

e
x
is

ti
n
g
 

s
y
s
te

m
s
. 

o
 

P
ilo

t 
½

 d
a
y
 t

ra
in

in
g
 s

e
s
s
io

n
s
 f

o
r 

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
 

in
 u

s
e
 o

f 
S

W
B

B
 

D
a
v
e
 

W
a
lk

e
r 

P
a
u
l 

N
ic

h
o
ls

 
A

lli
s
o
n
 

F
e
rr

e
ro

 

 

J
o
in

t 
w

a
rr

a
n
ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 

jo
in

t 
w

o
rk

 
T

h
e
 E

s
ta

te
s
 E

x
c
e
lle

n
c
e
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 m

ig
h
t 

o
ff
e
r 

d
if
fe

re
n
t 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 o

f 
jo

in
t 

w
o
rk

in
g
 o

r 
w

a
rr

a
n
ti
n
g
 t

h
a
n
 t

h
e
 D

o
rs

e
t 

m
o
d
e
l.
  
 

 

•
 

P
ro

d
u
c
e
 a

 r
e
p
o
rt

 s
u
m

m
a
ri
s
in

g
 t

h
e
 s

u
c
c
e
s
s
e
s
 a

n
d
 

le
a
rn

in
g
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 E

s
ta

te
s
 E

x
c
e
lle

n
c
e
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 i
n
 P

ly
m

o
u
th

. 

•
 

D
e
liv

e
r 

th
e
 r

e
p
o
rt

 t
o
 t
h
e
 C

h
ie

fs
 

J
o
y
 

J
o
n
e
s
 

M
a
rc

h
 

2
0
1
3
 

R
e
d
u
c
in

g
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 f

o
r 

T
h
is

 c
o
u
ld

 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 r

e
d
u
c
e
 

•
 

P
ro

d
u
c
e
 a

 r
e
p
o
rt

 o
n
 t
h
e
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
im

p
a
c
t 
o
f 

th
e
 L

A
 

S
u
b
 

O
n
 

Page 90



H
&

S
 a

n
d
 s

ta
ff

 
c
o
m

p
e
te

n
c
ie

s
 

e
n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 t

h
e
re

fo
re

 a
 

lo
s
s
 o

f 
e
n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 

s
k
ill

s
. 

R
e
d
u
c
e
d
 a

c
c
id

e
n
t 
n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
th

e
 H

S
E

 a
c
c
id

e
n
t 

fi
lt
e
r 

re
s
u
lt
s
 i
n
 f
e
w

e
r 

in
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 w

h
ic

h
 c

o
u
ld

 r
e
d
u
c
e
 

L
A

 o
ff

ic
e
r’
s
 a

b
ili

ty
 t

o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 a
n
d
 

ta
rg

e
t 

ri
s
k
 a

n
d
 l
e
a
d
s
 t

o
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
in

te
lli

g
e
n
c
e
. 
 

 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
C

o
d
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
  

•
 

R
e
v
ie

w
 t

h
e
 i
n
c
id

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 c

o
m

p
la

in
ts

 f
ilt

e
rs

 t
o
 b

e
tt

e
r 

ta
rg

e
t 

re
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 

•
 

C
o
m

m
it
 t

o
 p

ro
v
id

in
g
 t

ra
in

in
g
 m

a
te

ri
a
ls

, 
g
u
id

a
n
c
e
 

a
n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
o
 m

a
in

ta
in

 o
ff

ic
e
r 

c
o
m

p
e
te

n
c
y
 

•
 

D
e
liv

e
r 

th
e
 r

e
p
o
rt

 t
o
 t
h
e
 C

h
ie

fs
 

 

G
ro

u
p
 

p
u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

th
e
 n

e
w

  
c
o
d
e
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
L
o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 
E

n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 

C
o
d
e
 

A
s
s
is

t 
L
o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 t

o
 

p
ro

m
o
te

 u
n
if
o
rm

, 
c
o
n
s
is

te
n
t 

h
e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 s

a
fe

ty
 e

n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 

D
e
v
o
n
 b

y
 a

d
o
p
ti
o
n
 o

f 
u
n
if
o
rm

 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
s
 a

n
d
 p

ro
c
e
d
u
re

s
 w

h
e
re

 
p
ra

c
ti
c
a
l,
 t
a
k
in

g
 a

c
c
o
u
n
t 

o
f 

g
u
id

a
n
c
e
 f

ro
m

; 
th

e
 H

S
E

; 
B

R
D

O
; 

c
o
s
t;

 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
; 

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y
; 

in
d
ic

a
to

rs
 o

f 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
; 

th
e
 

E
n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

M
o
d
e
l 
(E

M
M

);
 R

e
g
u
la

to
rs

 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

N
e
e
d
s
 A

n
a
ly

s
is

 
(R

D
N

A
) 

to
o
l 
a
n
d
 b

e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

in
g
 

e
x
e
rc

is
e
s
 w

h
e
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

. 

•
 

P
ro

v
is

io
n
 o

f 
tr

a
in

in
g
 i
n
 h

e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 s

a
fe

ty
 f

o
r 

L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

 s
ta

ff
 a

n
d
 o

th
e
rs

 w
h
e
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

. 
  
 

•
 

T
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 t

ra
in

in
g
 w

h
ic

h
 m

e
e
ts

 l
o
c
a
l 
n
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

•
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy

 t
ra

in
in

g
 n

e
e
d
s
 f
o
r 

L
o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 u

s
in

g
 

th
e
 R

D
N

A
 t
o
o
l.
  

•
 

P
ro

v
id

e
 a

n
d
 f
a
c
ili

ta
te

 s
u
it
a
b
le

 t
ra

in
in

g
, 

in
 

c
o
n
ju

n
c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 H

S
E

 a
n
d
 o

th
e
r 

s
u
b
-g

ro
u
p
s
. 

  
T

h
is

 w
ill

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
: 

- 
 •
 

P
e
e
r 

re
v
ie

w
 p

ra
c
ti
c
a
l 
e
x
e
rc

is
e
s
 

•
 

R
e
g
io

n
a
l 
re

fr
e
s
h
e
r 

tr
a
in

in
g
 a

s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 

th
e
 N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
L
o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 E
n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 

C
o
d
e
 

tr
a
in

in
g
 f

o
r 

c
o
m

p
e
te

n
c
y
 f

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 a
n
d
 R

D
N

A
 t

o
o
l 

•
 

T
o
 a

c
ti
v
e
ly

 c
o
n
tr

ib
u
te

 t
o
 C

IE
H

 B
ra

n
c
h
 t

ra
in

in
g
 d

a
y
s
 

w
h
e
n
 r

e
q
u
e
s
te

d
 

•
 

T
h
ro

u
g
h
 i
n
te

r-
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 p
e
e
r 

re
v
ie

w
, 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
w

o
rk

in
g
 a

n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

, 
c
re

a
ti
n
g
 c

o
n
s
is

te
n
c
y
 a

c
ro

s
s
 

th
e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 
    •
 

O
rg

a
n
is

in
g
 t

h
e
 S

u
b
 G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 t
a
s
k
 s

m
a
ll 

w
o
rk

in
g
 

S
u
b
 

G
ro

u
p
 

 

Page 91



g
ro

u
p
s
 t

o
 c

o
n
c
e
n
tr

a
te

 o
n
 a

n
d
 c

o
-o

rd
in

a
te

 a
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 
w

o
rk

 s
tr

e
a
m

 o
r 

p
ro

je
c
t,
 o

rg
a
n
is

e
 e

v
e
n
ts

 a
s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

u
s
in

g
 c

o
m

b
in

e
d
 L

A
 /

 H
S

E
 i
n
te

lli
g
e
n
c
e
 t

o
 f
e
e
d
 

in
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
, 
a
n
d
 m

o
n
it
o
r 

th
e
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o

f 
th

e
s
e
 t

a
s
k
s
 b

y
 r

e
g
u
la

r 
in

te
ri
m

 r
e
p
o
rt

s
 d

u
ri
n
g
 

p
ro

je
c
ts

 a
n
d
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 r

e
p
o
rt

s
 a

t 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
p
ro

je
c
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 t
h
e
 C

h
ie

fs
 G

ro
u
p
. 
  

 

A
s
s
is

t 
b
u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
 i
n
 

m
a
n
a
g
in

g
 t

h
e
ir
 h

e
a
lt
h
 

a
n
d
 s

a
fe

ty
 

P
ro

m
o
te

 l
e
a
d
e
rs

h
ip

, 
a
n
d
 

im
p
ro

v
in

g
 w

o
rk

e
r 

in
v
o
lv

e
m

e
n
t.
 

•
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t

h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

th
e
 S

W
B

B
 a

s
 t
h
e
 

in
it
ia

l 
in

te
rv

e
n
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 n

e
w

 s
m

a
ll 

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
 

•
 

F
u
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
 i
n
te

ra
c
ti
v
e
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
 o

n
-l
in

e
 f
o
r 

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
 t

o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 t

h
e
ir
 c

o
n
fi
d
e
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 a

b
ili

ty
 

to
 m

a
n
a
g
e
 t

h
e
ir
 r

is
k
s
 m

o
re

 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly

. 

•
 

In
c
lu

d
e
 i
n
 p

ro
je

c
ts

 a
n
d
 i
n
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 o

u
tl
in

e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

In
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 

 

S
u
b
 

G
ro

u
p
 

 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
w

o
rk

in
g

 
E

n
s
u
re

 b
e
tt
e
r 

e
n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

w
it
h
 

o
th

e
r 

re
g
u
la

to
rs

 a
s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 

w
e
llb

e
in

g
 a

g
e
n
d
a
 b

y
 e

n
g
a
g
in

g
 

re
le

v
a
n
t 

lo
c
a
l 
re

g
u
la

to
rs

 (
C

Q
C

, 
E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

A
g
e
n
c
y
, 
H

e
a
lt
h
 

a
n
d
 W

e
llb

e
in

g
 P

C
T

s
, 
D

e
v
o
n
 F

ir
e
 

a
n
d
 R

e
s
c
u
e
 e

tc
) 

w
it
h
 r

e
le

v
a
n
t 

w
o
rk

 s
tr

e
a
m

s
. 

•
 

In
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te

, 
in

it
ia

te
 a

n
d
 t

a
k
e
 p

a
rt

 i
n
 c

a
m

p
a
ig

n
s
 

jo
in

tl
y
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 H

S
E

 a
n
d
 o

th
e
r 

lo
c
a
l 
s
ta

k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

 i
n
 

a
re

a
s
 o

f 
c
o
m

m
o
n
 i
n
te

re
s
t 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
in

g
 a

n
d
 e

ff
ic

ie
n
c
y
 i
n
 w

o
rk

in
g
 

w
it
h
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 o
n
 S

a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 a

n
d
 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e
s
 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

w
o
rk

in
g
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
s
, 

c
o
n
ta

c
t 
p
o
in

ts
 

a
n
d
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 t

ra
in

in
g
 o

f 
o
ff

ic
e
rs

 

•
 

A
c
ti
v
e
ly

 p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
te

 i
n
 a

n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
w

o
rk

in
g
 o

n
 a

 l
o
c
a
l 
a
n
d
 r

e
g
io

n
a
l 
b
a
s
is

. 

•
 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 f
o
r 

im
p
ro

v
in

g
 

e
x
p
e
rt

is
e
 i
n
 a

 s
p
e
c
ia

lis
e
d
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
a
re

a
 i
n
 e

a
c
h
 

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

 t
h
a
t 

c
a
n
 b

e
 s

h
a
re

d
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 G

ro
u
p
 

w
h
e
n
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

    

S
u
b
 

G
ro

u
p
 

 

H
e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 S

a
fe

ty
 

A
p
p
ra

is
e
 t

h
e
 D

e
v
o
n
 C

h
ie

f 
•
 

P
ro

d
u
c
e
 a

 b
ri
e
fi
n
g
 n

o
te

 f
o
r 

th
e
 C

h
ie

f 
o
ff
ic

e
rs

 
S

u
b
 

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 

Page 92



le
g
is

la
ti
o
n
 o

r 
g
u
id

a
n
c
e
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
H

e
a
lt
h
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

G
ro

u
p
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

 a
n
d
 

re
s
o
u
rc

e
 i
m

p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

th
e
 N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
L
o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 
E

n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 

C
o
d
e
, 
n
e
w

 o
r 

e
x
is

ti
n
g
 l
e
g

is
la

ti
o
n
, 

g
u
id

a
n
c
e
 o

r 
n
o
v
e
l 
s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

•
 

A
tt

e
n
d
 C

h
ie

f 
o
ff

ic
e
r 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
  

•
 

C
o
n
s
id

e
r 

re
le

v
a
n
t 

is
s
u
e
s
 a

n
d
 a

re
a
s
 o

f 
c
o
n
c
e
rn

 
w

h
ic

h
 a

ri
s
e
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 y

e
a
r,

 o
r 

a
s
 r

e
q
u
e
s
te

d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 

D
e
v
o
n
 C

h
ie

f 
E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
H

e
a
lt
h
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

. 

G
ro

u
p
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s
 

 
•
 

C
o
m

m
e
n
t 

o
n
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 w
h
e
re

 
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 

•
 

In
v
o
lv

e
 t

h
e
 s

ta
ff
 a

n
d
 C

h
ie

f 
o
ff
ic

e
rs

 
 

S
u
b
 

G
ro

u
p
 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

T
a
s
k
 a

n
d
 I

n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 

P
la

n
 P

ro
g
re

s
s
 r

e
v
ie

w
 

 
•
 

U
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 t

a
s
k
s
 o

f 
th

e
 g

ro
u
p
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 o

f 
th

e
 i
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
. 

•
 

P
ro

d
u
c
e
 a

 s
h
o
rt

 r
e
p
o
rt

 s
u
m

m
a
ri
s
in

g
 e

a
c
h
 p

ro
je

c
t.
 

•
 

E
n
s
u
re

 t
h
e
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

tr
a
in

in
g
 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 a

n
d
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
. 

•
 

P
ro

v
id

e
 a

n
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
re

p
o
rt

 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
o
n
 C

h
ie

f 
E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
H

e
a
lt
h
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

G
ro

u
p
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 C

IE
H

 
b
ra

n
c
h
 A

G
M

. 
 

S
u
b
 

G
ro

u
p
 

E
v
e
ry

 
q
u
a
rt

e
r 

P
e
e
r 

re
v
ie

w
s
 

P
ro

v
id

e
 a

 p
e
e
r 

re
v
ie

w
 b

e
fo

re
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 t

o
 b

e
 c

ir
c
u
la

te
d
 a

n
d
 

d
is

c
u
s
s
e
d
 i
n
 t

e
a
m

s
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 

re
s
u
lt
s
 b

ro
u
g
h
t 
b
a
c
k
 t

o
 t

h
e
 S

u
b
 

G
ro

u
p
 

•
 

E
v
a
lu

a
te

 a
c
tu

a
l 
c
a
s
e
s
 

•
 

P
ro

d
u
c
e
 i
n
 a

 f
o
rm

a
t 

w
h
ic

h
 u

s
e
d
 f
o
r 

in
-h

o
u
s
e
 

tr
a
in

in
g
 e

x
e
rc

is
e
s
 b

y
 L

o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 

•
 

C
o
lla

te
 t
h
e
 a

n
s
w

e
rs

 a
n
d
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 f

e
e
d
 i
n
to

 
th

e
 o

ff
ic

e
r 

c
o
n
s
is

te
n
c
y
/c

o
m

p
e
te

n
c
y
 t

ra
in

in
g
 

 

S
u
b
 

G
ro

u
p
 

E
v
e
ry

 
L
ia

is
o
n
 

G
ro

u
p
 

P
u
b
lic

 H
e
a
lt
h
 a

g
e
n
d
a
  

T
h
e
 D

e
v
o
n
 H

e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 

W
e
llb

e
in

g
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 2

0
1
3
-1

6
 

fo
c
u
s
 o

f 
a
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

k
e
y
 a

re
a
s
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 h

e
a
lt
h
 i
n
e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
, 

 

•
 

W
o
rk

 w
it
h
 t

h
e
 n

e
w

 P
u
b
lic

 H
e
a
lt
h
 s

u
b
 g

ro
u
p
  

•
 

A
lig

n
 o

u
r 

w
o
rk

 w
it
h
 n

e
w

 D
e

v
o
n
 H

e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 

W
e
llb

e
in

g
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 2

0
1
3
-1

6
 a

n
d
 P

u
b
lic

 H
e
a
lt
h
 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 

•
 

R
e
p
o
rt

 b
a
c
k
 t
o
 C

h
ie

fs
 o

n
 a

n
y
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
/w

o
rk

 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 

s
u
b
 g

ro
u
p
 c

o
u
ld

 u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 t
o
 h

e
lp

 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
t 
th

is
 

s
tr

a
te

g
y
. 

 

S
u
b
 

G
ro

u
p
 

 

O
ff

ic
e
r 

 
•
 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

w
o
rk

in
g
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
s
, 

c
o
n
ta

c
t 
p
o
in

ts
 

 
 

Page 93



c
o
n
s
is

te
n
c
y
/c

o
m

p
e
te

n
c
y
 

tr
a
in

in
g
 

a
n
d
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 t

ra
in

in
g
 o

f 
o
ff

ic
e
rs

 

•
 

P
ro

v
is

io
n
 o

f 
tr

a
in

in
g
 i
n
 h

e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 s

a
fe

ty
 f

o
r 

L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

 s
ta

ff
 a

n
d
 o

th
e
rs

 w
h
e
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 b
a
s
e
d
 

o
n
 t
h
e
  

re
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
L
o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 
E

n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 

C
o
d
e
 

•
 

A
n
a
ly

s
e
 t

h
e
 R

D
N

A
 f

o
r 

a
ll 

H
&

S
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 a
n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 

tr
a
in

in
g
 t

o
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
ir
 s

k
ill

/A
b
ili

ty
/K

n
o
w

le
d
g
e
 G

a
p
s
 

   

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

...
. 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 D

at
e
d
: 
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
 

 (
C

h
ai

rp
e
rs

on
) 
 

Page 94


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Home to School Transport Policy
	Appendix 1

	6 Community Safety Service Plan (Commercial Team)
	Commercial team Service Plan DRAFT
	Appendix A - Food Safety Service Plan 2013-14 (Draft)
	Appendix B - NCCH Survey Results
	Appendix C - Supply of Age Restricted Products
	Appendix D - Licensing Act Applications
	Appendix E - Annual Report on Internal H&S and Emergency Planning
	Appendix F - Gas Safety In Catering 2012-13
	Appendix G - Commercial Team workplan for 2013-14
	Appendix H - H&S HSE Intervention Plan 2013-14
	Appendix I - H&S Devon Work Plan 2013-14


